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Wolford Group Key Data

Earnings Data 2016/17 2015/16* Chg. in %

Revenues in € mill. 154.28 162.40 -5

EBIT in € mill. -15.72 -2.92 > 100

Earnings before tax in € mill. -16.57 -3.85 > 100

Earnings after tax in € mill. -17.88 -10.66 +68

Capital expenditure in € mill. 6.72 7.30 -8

Free cash flow in € mill. -9.45 -2.98 > 100

Employees (on average) FTE 1,544 1,571 -2

Balance Sheet Data  30.04.2017 30.04.2016* Chg. in %

Equity in € mill. 44.88 63.81 -30

Net debt in € mill. 31.27 20.86 +50

Working capital in € mill. 45.73 43.15 +6

Balance sheet total in € mill. 138.39 137.47 +1

Equity ratio in % 32 46 -

Gearing in % 70 33 -

Stock Exchange Data  2016/17 2015/16* Chg. in %

Earnings per share in € -3.64 -2.17 +68

Share price high in € 26.01 25.48 +2

Share price low in € 19.10 21.35 -11

Share price at end of period in € 19.28 24.67 -22

Shares outstanding (weighted) in 1,000 4,912 4,912 -

Market capitalization (ultimo) in € mill. 96.38 123.35 -22

1 Boutiques 46%
2 Concession Shop-in-Shops 7% 
3 Online Business 8%
4 Factory Outlets 9%
5 Department Stores 12%
6 Multi-brand Retailers 16%
7 Private Label 2%

REVENUES BY DISTRIBUTION

1 North America 20%
2 Germany 15% 
3 Austria 10%
4 France 10%
5 Rest of Europe 40%
6 Asia/Oceania 5%

REVENUES BY MARKET

1 Legwear 53%
2 Ready-to-wear 29% 
3 Lingerie 15%
4 Accessories 2%
5 Trading goods 1%

REVENUES BY PRODUCT GROUP
R E V E N U E S B Y M A R K E T
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1 North America 20%

2 Germany 15%
3 Austria 10%
4 France 10%

5 Rest of Europe 40%
6 Asia/Oceania 5%

R E V E N U E S B Y P R O D U C T G R O U P
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1 Legwear 53%

2 Ready-to-wear 29%

3 Lingerie 15%

4 Accessories 2%

5 Trading goods 1%

R E V E N U E S B Y D I S T R I B U T I O N
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1 Boutiques 46%

2 Concession-Shop-in-Shops 7%
3 Online-Business 8%
4 Factory-Outlets 9%

5 Department Stores 12%
6 Multi-brand Retailers 16%
7 Private Label 2%

*Adjusted (see Section II of the Notes). 



A statement 
with facts and 

figures.



Wolford has for decades been renowned for the quality, comfort and 
durability of its products. Made in Europe – that creates trust. Wolford’s 
production processes meet the highest global sustainability standards 

in the textile industry. Since 2015, we’ve been securing and enhancing 
these processes in our partnership with bluesign technologies ag.  

You can find out more on page 16.

U N B E ATA B L E  Q U A L I T Y  –  A N D 
S U S TA I N A B LY  P R O D U C E D 

267 monobrand
locations worldwide

•

More than 3,000
retail partners

•

16 online stores

•

44 travel retail
points of sale

G L O B A L  P R E S E N C E

STRENGTHS



470 ,000

90

registered customers worldwide 
regularly buy Wolford products. Two 

thirds of these products are Essentials – 
timeless classics not affected by trends.

percent of the 1,000 customers 
surveyed in the core German 

and U.S. markets stated that they 
would “certainly buy Wolford 

tights again”.
Source: customer survey conducted by böttcher marktforschung, 2013

L O YA L  C U S T O M E R S



Changing marketing 
strategies

•

Slow to tell  
our story

•

Need to expand  
social media  

presence

H E S I TA N T  M A R K E T 
C O M M U N I C AT I O N S



Our IT infrastructure has become ever more complex over the decades. 
The numerous standalone IT systems and databases  

from the various departments – from procurement to production 
planning to sales – are limited in terms of their compatibility.  
The necessary data synchronization and general IT support  

take time and staff effort, while the system as a whole is error prone. 
Standardizing the company’s IT landscape by implementing  

ERP standard software will take time.

C O M P L E X  P R O C E S S E S

WEAKNESSES

67
years: Over this time our structures have  

become staff-intensive and very costly. Wolford 
needs to increase its sales by around 25%  

to operate profitably.

H I G H  C O S T S



3.1
percent fewer visitors  

to German and Italian retail 
stores since June 2016.
Source: data analysis by ShopperTrak (June 2016 to July 2017)

C H A N G I N G  S H O P P I N G 
H A B I T S



A challenging trend: Today’s consumers are 
constantly online and optimally informed. They expect 

personalized offers and multichannel service, and 
they refer to price check portals and social networks 
to stay up to date. “One in three customers inform 
themselves about products on their smartphones  
while in stores. One in two would like to scan  

the barcodes or QR codes at stores to find out more 
about specific products.”

Source: Ipsos, “Aktuelle Omni-Channel-Strategien”, survey of 1,500 internet users  
aged 18 to 65 in France and the U.K., 2016 

S M A R T  S H O P P E R S

S O P H I S T I C AT E D  O M N I - C H A N N E L 
D I S T R I B U T I O N

Seamlessly dovetailing online, retail, and  
wholesale distribution channels does not happen 

overnight. “One in five, or more precisely 17 percent, 
of retailers in Europe believe that they currently  

offer a seamless omni-channel shopping experience. 
Only half of consumers see their favorite  

retailers as providing a consistent, high-quality 
multichannel approach.”

Source: PwC, “Customers are calling the shots”, January 2017

THREATS



OPPORTUNITIES

Wolford is synonymous with unmatched comfort and is therefore positioned 
to be right in line with the latest trend. “Feeling good is the new looking 
good. Consumers are increasingly on the lookout for fashion that feels 
good to wear, with the boundaries of the booming lifestyle and sports 

apparel markets becoming ever more fluid. The health and lifestyle trend is 
characterized more and more by an interest in environmental awareness 
and sustainability. A holistic approach to clients who prefer good-feeling 
clothing will open up new growth opportunities for the fashion industry.“

Source: McKinsey & Business of Fashion, “The state of fashion”, 2017

S U S TA I N A B L E  P R O D U C T S

5
percent of Wolford’s revenues are invested 
in research and development. That comes 
to around € 7 million. Since 2014, the 
company has registered four patents, of 

which three have already been granted for 
Austria and two for Europe. 

G R E AT  P O W E R  O F  
I N N O VAT I O N



Wolford products are 
light, crease-resistant, 

and easy to pack

•

More than two 
thirds of our product 
range is comprised 
of classics which 

are independent of 
specific trends. Our 

customers know their 
sizes and favorite 

colors

•

Returns rate of just 
22 percent

A  N AT U R A L  F I T 
F O R  O N L I N E 

R E TA I L
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Letter from the Board

Dear Shareholders,  
Ladies and Gentlemen, 

The past year at Wolford was dif-
ficult, even turbulent at times. Due 
to substantial impairments, we are 
obliged to post a significant loss 
for the year. Additionally, earn-
ings from our operations were 
negative at € 8.5 million. As we 
have already communicated on 
several occasions, this situation 
was due not least to mistakes we 
ourselves made in the first half of 
the year. We aimed to achieve 
too much too quickly and were 
hasty in reorganizing our sales 
planning, along with the associat-
ed delivery dates and merchan-
dise management. And at precise-
ly that moment our company also 
faced the effects of a distinctly 
weak market. This led to a loss in 
revenues, and in the second half 
of the year we were only able to 
make up for part of the ground 
we had lost. 

We have since rectified these mis-
takes. This is also reflected in our 
revenues, which stabilized in the 
second half of the year and the 
first three months of the new 
2017/18 financial year. The 
market climate is nevertheless set 
to remain difficult for our compa-
ny for the foreseeable future. In 
view of this, we expect at this 
point to generate only slight 
growth from the previous year’s 
lower level of revenues. That is 
one reason for the impairment 
losses recognized on several bou-
tique locations, a factor which un-
mistakably left its mark on our 
earnings. 

We will incur further losses in 
2017/18 and only expect to re-
gain profitability in the new finan-
cial year starting in May 2018. 
The organizational structures that 

have evolved over the past 67 
years are still too complex and 
costly, not least due to complicat-
ed IT infrastructure. This is current-
ly the area where action is need-
ed most. The key objective has to 
be that of operating profitably 
based on our current level of rev-
enues. For this purpose, we are 
now focusing more closely on cut-
ting our costs by systematically 
reorganizing our structures and 
processes. You can find further 
details about this in the Manage-
ment Report on page 41.

What is equally true is that Wol-
ford is far from having lost its sta-
tus as a provider of affordable 
luxury goods. We are officially 
one of the world’s top 100 luxury 
brands. Our products are synony-
mous with quality, comfort, and 
sustainability. Having said that, 



PA G E S  1 0  –  1 1
L E T T E R  F R O M  T H E  B O A R D

our sophisticated customers ex-
pect to feel the exclusivity of the 
brand at every point of sale – 
and here we still have some way 
to go. In the past financial year, 
Wolford tried out a completely 
new store concept at its proprie-
tary boutique on Berlin’s Kurfürs-
tendamm. The result was revenue 
growth of more than 13% since 
the store was reopened in Sep-
tember 2016 – that is strong evi-
dence for the potential inherent to 
this concept. 

At present, however, we do not 
have the resources to press 
ahead with our plans to rapidly 
roll out this concept at other loca-
tions. Not only that, as with the 
entire fashion industry we have to 
find answers to the transformation 
in the market and changing pat-
terns of consumer behavior. We 

have already taken various meas-
ures to boost our online business. 
Our products – light, non-creas-
ing, and easy to pack – are per-
fectly suited for this distribution 
channel. Seamlessly linking all of 
our distribution channels and en-
suring adequate online marketing 
will nevertheless take time and 
cost money. With these factors in 
mind, the Management Board is 
supporting the company’s share-
holders at the family foundations 
in identifying parties potentially 
interested in acquiring their 
stakes. After all, the takeover of 
their majority interest should also 
give a sustainable boost to the 
company’s financial structure. 
With a stronger equity base, Wol-
ford could at last make the invest-
ments needed to take optimal ad-
vantage of its existing 
opportunities.

In the past financial year, we 
clearly put our shareholders’ pa-
tience to the test. At this point, we 
can assure you that we will take 
all steps necessary to return Wol-
ford to profitability based on its 
current revenues. At the same 
time, we will leave no stone un-
turned to exploit further potential 
for our company’s future. 

Sincerely yours, 

Axel Dreher (CEO since August 1, 2017) and Brigitte Kurz (CFO since August 1, 2017) 

Axel Dreher

Brigitte Kurz
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Wolford Profile

Founded in the Austrian city of 
Bregenz in 1950, Wolford is the 
market leader for luxury legwear 
and bodywear and has also  
established itself in the exclusive 
lingerie segment. The company 
designs and manufactures its 
products exclusively in Europe  
(in Austria and Slovenia), meets 
the highest environmental stan-
dards, and has a workforce of 
1,544 employees (FTE). The 
brand is present in around 
60 countries worldwide with 

267 monobrand points of sale 
(POS) and more than 3,000 distri-
bution partners. Wolford has 
been listed on the Prime Standard 
of the Vienna Stock Exchange 
since 1995. 

Wolford generates more than half 
its revenues with its core legwear 
product group. Closely matched 
with this product group are the 
company’s lingerie and ready-to-
wear products – decorative and 
in some cases figure-embracing 
products, such as bodies and 
shirts (bodywear) or matching 
dresses and pullovers. These prod-
ucts are supplemented with a 

Wolford headquarters in Bregenz, Austria

small selection of accessories such 
as scarves and bracelets. 

A distinction is made between 
fashionable Trend products and 
the Essential collection, which in-
cludes all of Wolford’s timeless 
classics, such as the Satin Touch 
tights offered since 1988. The  
Essential collection accounts for 
around 70% of revenues. 
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Tradition and Innovation

Starting out in 1950 as a pro-
ducer of pure silk and rayon stock- 
ings on Lake Constance, Wolford 
is now the epitome of exclusive 
legwear and bodywear for many 
women worldwide. Wolford cus-
tomers are very loyal: Of the 
1,000 customers in the core Ger-
man and U.S. markets most re-
cently surveyed in 2013, 90% 
stated that they would “certainly 
buy Wolford tights again”.

This success is based on a round- 
knitting technology specially de-
veloped and constantly refined  
by Wolford, as well as on sophis-
ticated workmanship and quality 
checks. In combination with the 
finest yarns, this creates the specif-
ic comfort and product quality as-
sociated with the Wolford brand 
and its reputation. All products 
are made in Europe. The tights 

and bodies, in particular, are  
produced in Bregenz on 380 indi-
vidually customized round-knitting 
machines operated in premises 
with optimized climatic condi-
tions. Alongside the research and 
development department, the 
company headquarters is also 
home to a knitting mill, steaming 
facility, dyeing room, and mold-
ing workshop, as well as a propri-
etary color laboratory. Manu-
facturing takes place in Murska  
Sobota, Wolford’s location in  
Slovenia, where textile manufac-
turing also has a long tradition.

For nearly 70 years now, Wolford 
has repeatedly introduced pio-
neering products, which have be-
come real bestsellers – from Miss 
Wolford (1977), the first transpar-
ent shaping tights, and the first 
seamless Body (1992) to the Pure 
50 tights (2014), whose seamless-
ness allow them to remain invisi-
ble under tight-fitting clothing. The 
innovative Comfort Cut tights 
have been on the market since 

September 2016. These tights 
have waist sizes that can be indi-
vidually adapted to every figure, 
which significantly enhances their 
comfort. 

The company’s visual presentation 
is also unmistakable. Wolford  
has set standards in this area over 
the past decades through, for  
example, its cooperation with  
the world-famous photographer 
Helmut Newton in the 1990s. He 
played a key role in creating the 
image of the strong, self-confident 
Wolford woman. Always open  
to creative ideas, Wolford has 
consistently worked with presti-
gious designers – from Armani, 
Valentino, and Karl Lagerfeld to 
Missoni, and most recently  
Marina Hoermanseder.

T H E  C O M PA N Y

Photo by Helmut Newton: Wolford models in 1997 Eve Cup Bandeau Bra, spring/summer collection 2018
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Wolford’s production processes 
meet the highest global sustain-
ability standards in the textile in-
dustry. This fact is confirmed by 
the company’s partnership, start-
ing in 2015, with bluesign tech-
nologies ag, a global network 
whose system stands for safe tex-
tiles and environmentally-friendly 
production. Here, the focus is not 
only on evaluating select end 
products, as is the case at many 
eco-labels, but also on analyzing 
each individual stage of produc-
tion and each chemical used, 
these being optimized or replaced 
if necessary. Following an equally 
extensive auditing process, Wol-
ford has now become the world’s 
first tights producer recognized as 
a bluesign® system partner. Fur-
thermore, all legwear products 
knitted and dyed by Wolford on  
a cotton and polyamide basis  
for its Essential collection have  
received “bluesign® approved” 

status. This certification has been 
confirmed once again in 2017. 

The production facility operated in 
Bregenz since 1950 borders di-
rectly on the Lake Constance wa-
ter conservation zone and there-
fore has to meet particularly high 
environmental standards. But it is 
not only because of this that effi-
cient resource use has been an 
active tradition at Wolford for de-
cades now. Key goals here are 
the consistent enhancement of en-
ergy efficiency and the optimiza-
tion of heat recovery. The mea-
sures taken to modernize the boil-
er house, steam boiler, and water 
processing at Wolford, which 
have halved the volume of emis-
sions harmful to the environment, 
have just recently received public 
acknowledgement: Since the end 
of 2016, Wolford has been proud 
to call itself a project partner of 
“klimaaktiv”, the climate protec-
tion initiative organized by the 
Austrian Federal Ministry of Agri-
culture, Forestry, Environment, 
and Water Management.

As part of the smart-textiles indus-
try network, Wolford is also 

working to develop a Cradle to 
Cradle® lingerie series. This in-
volves developing legwear and 
lingerie products made of raw 
materials that can either be  
recycled in full or that are fully 
biodegradable. Under Wolford’s 
leadership, 13 companies in the 
Vorarlberg region that produce 
suitable lingerie components are 
participating in the project. The 
first prototypes of lingerie and 
tights designed according to the 
Cradle to Cradle® concept were 
presented in Paris in February 
2017 and the first recyclable 
tights are due to be brought  
onto market in the 2018/19  
autumn/winter collection.

Sustainability as  
Key Priority

Prototype of the first cradle-to-cradle recyclable products 

SYSTEM
PARTNER
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Wolford has a dense network of 
monobrand boutiques situated  
in some of the most prestigious 
locations in the world’s fashion 
capitals – with a mix of partner 
boutiques and proprietary loca-
tions in strategically relevant cit-
ies. Of the 194 Wolford bou-
tiques in operation as of the end 
of April 2017, 109 were man-
aged by the company itself and 
85 were operated by partners. 

Wolford’s light, non-creasing 
prod ucts are especially well suited 
for easy repeat purchases from 
home over the Internet. Customers 
in a total of currently 16 countries 

can already shop around the clock 
in their “own” online Wolford 
boutique. Not only that, Wolford 
products are also sold at numer-
ous international department 
stores. At Harrods and Selfridges 
in London or Bergdorf Goodman 
in New York, for example, the 
products are offered in exclusive 
shop-in-shops that present the 
products in Wolford’s own unique 
atmosphere. 

Wolford’s creations are also avail-
able at a large number of exclu-
sive fashion and specialist retail 
stores. These are supplemented by 
the travel retail businesses at air-
ports and major railroad stations. 
Wolford currently has a presence 
with 44 POS at airports such as 
Milan and Frankfurt.

Wolford is working hard to inte-
grate its online and boutique 

A Presence in the World’s 
Top Shopping Centers

Wolford boutique on Berlin’s Kurfürstendamm 

distribution channels more closely 
with one another. Individualized 
product information provided 
through the preferred channel 
makes shopping more flexible for 
customers in terms of where and 
when they shop while also ensur-
ing the broadest possible product 
selection. The “My Wolford”  
customer loyalty program intro-
duced in 2010 now has more 
than 470,000 registered regular 
customers. 

T H E  C O M PA N Y
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“Wolford Room“ at the Helmut Newton Retrospective 

Highlights of the 2016/17 
Financial Year 

PRINCIPAL SPONSOR  
FOR HELMUT NEWTON 
RETROSPECTIVE 
Wolford acted as principal spon-
sor to the major Helmut Newton 
retrospective held at the Foam  
museum in Amsterdam from June 
to September 2016 – the perfect 
way to honor the link between  
the company’s history and this 
icon of fashion photography. 
With his photographs of models 
sporting Wolford products, Helmut 
Newton played a key role in 
shaping the brand in the 1990s. 
The retrospective attracted more 
than 88,000 visitors.

NEW PRODUCT 
DEVELOPMENTS
 –  New product line: Since April 
2017, the new beachwear  
collection, comprising around 
20 products from bikinis to 
pareos, has been available at 
select Wolford locations. Their 
fast-drying fabrics and clear 
cuts make the products in this 
new line multifunctional – they 
can be worn as lingerie, swim-
wear, or beachwear. 

 –  New technology: By working 
with 3D printing, Wolford is 
putting to use for the first time in 
the textile sector a technology 
so far mostly deployed in the 
metal industry. This involves 
spraying silicon lines onto fab-
rics. In bras, for example, these 
lines then assume the function 
previously performed by elastic 
rubber sewn into the edges and 
strap. That makes it possible to 
spread the supportive function 
evenly across the product, 
avoiding nicks or pressure spots 
on the body.

 –  New design applications: The 
innovative foil application in  
the Night Glow Tights stores 
light and then actively illumi-
nates the henna-style filigree 
pattern when in the dark.  
The points glued onto the Re-
flector tights act as reflectors 
and are also clearly visible in 
the dark.

CRADLE-TO-CRADLE® 
PROTOTYPES PRESENTED 
IN PARIS
Wolford presented the first  
recyclable lingerie and tights,  
part of the line of clothing de-
signed according to the Cradle- 
to-Cradle® approach, in Paris in 
February 2017. These products 
are made of materials that can 
either be recycled in full or are 
fully biodegradable.
The first Cradle-to-Cradle® tights 
are due to be launched onto  
the market in the 2018/19 au-
tumn/winter collection.
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Models for the „Wolford by Marina Hoermanseder“ collection 

Beachwear: Top and panty with 3D print 

WOLFORD BY MARINA 
HOERMANSEDER 
At her autumn/winter collection 
show at the Berlin Fashion  
Week in January 2017, Marina 
Hoermanseder presented the  
exclusive “Wolford by Marina  
Hoermanseder” capsule collec-
tion. This cooperation with the  
renowned Austrian designer has 
given rise to two sets of tights,  
a body, and a dress. These all 
contain the iconic buckle of the 
Marina Hoermanseder label, 
eye-catchingly woven into the  
fabric in black and nude colors. 
The four designs were given a 
very enthusiastic reception by 
both specialists and guests at the 
show and are available at select 
stores from autumn 2017. 

VIPS AT WOLFORD
 –  Singer Taylor Swift wears the 
Opaque Transparent Nature 
String Body in the video  
presenting her own “NOW” 
streaming channel.

 –  Supermodel Karlie Kloss ap-
pears in the Colorado Body 
during the 2017 New York 
Fashion Week. Her model  
colleague Gigi Hadid and  
singer Selena Gomez also don 
the Body – in New York and  
Los Angeles.

 –  Actress Kate Hudson and top 
models Bella Hadid and  
Kendall Jenner sport the  
Twenties Tights in New York.

 –  Actress Kristen Stewart hosts  
the American comedy show 
“Saturday Night Live” in the 
Cotton Contour Control Panty. 

 –  Actress Teresa Palmer wears  
the Wool Lace Top at the 
Chanel Dinner.

 –  Supermodel Alessandra  
Ambrosio sports the Mat 
Opaque 80 Tights and the  
Buenos Aires String Body.

 –  Kim Kardashian and her family 
enjoy appearing in Wolford 
bodies and the Fatal Dress.

BOUTIQUES AND  
SHOP-IN-SHOPS NEWLY 
OPENED WORLDWIDE
 –  May 2016: Hasselt, Belgium 
(Wolford-operated boutique)

 –  June 2016: Mall of America, 
Midrand, South Africa  
(Wolford partner boutique)

 –  July 2016: HR Square One,  
Toronto Suburb, Canada 
(shop-in-shop)

 –  July 2016: Europa Mall,  
Vilnius, Lithuania (Wolford  
partner boutique)

 –  August 2016: Sogo Causeway 
Bay, Hong Kong (shop-in-shop)

 –  September 2016: Plaza 66, 
Shanghai, China (Wolford- 
operated boutique)

 –  September 2016: The Parisians,  
Macao (Wolford-operated 
boutique)

 –  September 2016: Monaco 
(Wolford partner boutique)

 –  October 2016: Yorkdale,  
Canada (Wolford partner 
boutique)

H I G H L I G H T S  O F  T H E  F I N A N C I A L  Y E A R
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Wolford Shares

Wolford AG ATX Prime

W O L F O R D  S H A R E  P R I C E  D E V E L O P M E N T  I N  %  ( I N D E X E D )

May
2016 June July Aug. Sept. Oct. Nov. Dec. Jan. Feb. Mar. Apr.

2017

110%

100%

90%

80%

€ 24.49 opening price € 19.28 closing price

CAPITAL MARKET 
DEVELOPMENTS
Developments on the international 
capital markets during Wolford’s 
past financial year (May 1, 2016 
to April 30, 2017) were shaped 
by political events, such as the 
British vote to exit the EU and the 
election of Donald Trump. The 
government crisis in Italy also led 
to temporary market uncertainty. 
Factors with a significantly posi-
tive impact on markets included 
the recovery in the oil price, the 
upturn in stock markets in emerg-
ing economies, and the raising of 
U.S. interest rates accompanied 
by hopes of further increases. The 
ECB is upholding its loose mone-
tary policy and extended its bond 
purchase program through to the 
end of 2017, a factor which lent 
further momentum to the stock 
markets. 

Against this backdrop, Germany’s 
DAX index gained almost 23% in 
the period referred to above, 
surging above 12,000 points 
once again in February 2017. 
The pan-European EURO STOXX 
50 index rose by more than 17%. 
The key U.S. index, the Dow 
Jones Industrial, also gained 17%. 

The MSCI World Textiles, Apparel 
& Luxury Goods Index, the most 
important index for the textile in-
dustry, increased by 15% over the 
same period.

WOLFORD’S SHARE 
PERFORMANCE
Wolford’s shares began the new 
financial year on May 2, 2016, 
at € 24.49 and slightly outper-
formed the ATX Prime in the first 
months of the 2016/17 financial 
year. From September 2016  
onward, however, the shares 
were unable to match the strong 
growth in the ATX Prime (27.3% 
in total). 

Overall, Wolford’s share price fell 
by 21.3% in the past financial 
year, posting a consistently nega-
tive performance from the presen-
tation of the first-quarter results 
(September 9, 2016) and the pre-
ceding correction in the forecast 
for the 2016/17 financial year 
(August 31). Through to mid-
March, the share price managed 
to hold its ground above € 20. 
Following publication of the nine-
month results on March 17, how-
ever, it fell below this mark and 
was listed at € 19.28 at the end 

of the financial year (April 28, 
2017). The Wolford share price 
recorded its lowest value during 
the period under report at 
€ 19.10 (April 18, 2017), while 
its annual high came at € 26.01 
on August 31, 2016.

Trading volumes with Wolford 
shares totaled 377,072 in the 
year under report (double-count). 
The average daily turnover on  
the Vienna Stock Exchange there-
fore came to 1,895 shares, 
based on the 199 trading days  
in the period under report. The  
highest trading volume (25,646 
shares) was reported on January 
23, 2017, while the lowest  
volume (4 shares) was seen on 
January 2, 2017.

SHAREHOLDER 
STRUCTURE
Based on the published notifica-
tions of its holdings, the WMP  
private family foundation held 
more than 25% of the shares at 
the balance sheet date (directly 
and indirectly). More than 15%  
of the shares are owned by  
the Sesam private foundation.  
The private foundations and their  
subsidiary M. Erthal & Co.  
Be teiligungsgesellschaft m.b.H. 
are legal entities which act in  
con cert and exercise their voting 
rights by consensus. 

Ralph Bartel, a private investor, 
holds more than 25% of the bearer 
shares. Wolford AG continues to 
hold almost 2% of the shares as 
treasury stock. Erste Asset Man-
agement GmbH has held more 
than 4% of the shares since Sep-
tember 6, 2016. The remaining 
shares are held in free float by  
institutional and retail investors.
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Key data on Wolford shares 2016/17 2015/16* 

Earnings per share in € -3.64 -2.17

Dividend per share in € 0.20 0.20

Equity per share in € 9.14 12.99

Share price high in € 26.01 25.48

Share price low in € 19.10 21.35

Share price at end of period in € 19.28 24.67

Shares outstanding (weighted) in pcs. 4,911,860 4,911,860

Market capitalization (end of period) in € 96,375,000 123,350,000

Volume of shares traded (daily average) in pcs. 1,895 1,823

W O L F O R D  S H A R E S

On June 9, 2017, the private 
foundations, M. Erthal & Co. 
Beteiligungsgesellschaft m.b.H., 
and closely related natural per-
sons announced their intention to 
sell their majority interest in Wol-
ford AG. To this end, the share-
holders have initiated an investor 
selection process that is being ac-
companied by Deloitte Financial 
Advisor GmbH and supported by 
the management of Wolford AG. 
The expected acquisition of the 
equity package by a future core 
shareholder is to be linked to an 
equity measure that will sustain-
ably boost the company’s 
liquidity.

INVESTOR RELATIONS 
As a listed company, Wolford 
gives high priority to communicat-
ing professionally and reliably 
with the financial markets. In or-
ganizational terms, this function 
reports directly to the Chief Finan-
cial Officer.  

Wolford maintained a close dia-
logue with retail and institutional 
investors once again in the past 
financial year. Here, the company 
adheres to the principles of conti-
nuity, equal treatment of all share-
holders, and transparency and 
consistency of information. A 
wide range of communication 

measures provides detailed infor-
mation on the company to exist-
ing shareholders and also targets 
potential new investors. Wolford 
presents the company’s develop-
ment in one-to-one meetings with 
financial journalists, analysts,  
and investors in European mar-
kets. The company also makes  
all relevant information available 
to the financial community in the 
“Investor Relations” section of its 
website at company.wolford.com.

Wolford shares are regularly cov-
ered by an analyst at Raiffeisen 
Centrobank. The latest reports are 
available on Wolford’s website.

Information 
on Wolford shares

ISIN code: 
AT0000834007

Stock exchanges: 
Vienna (Prime Market)
Frankfurt (OTC Segment)
New York (ADR Level 1)

Indeces: 
ATX Prime
ATX Global Players

Ticker symbols:
Wien: WOL
Reuters: WLFD.VI
Bloomberg: WOL:AV,
WLFDY:US, WOF:GR

IPO date:  
February 14, 1995

Stock type:  
Bearer shares (zero par value)

Number of shares:
5,000,000, of which 
4,900,000 with dividend 
entitlement

Investor relations:
Maresa Hoffmann 
+43 5574 690 1258
investor@wolford.com
company.wolford.com

* Adjusted (see section II of the Notes).

WOLFORD’S SHAREHOLDER 
STRUCTURE

1 WMP Private Family Foundation > 25%
2 Sesam Private Foundation > 15% 
3 Ralph Bartel > 25%
4 Erste Asset Management GmbH > 4%
5 Treasury Stock ~ 2%
6 Free Float ~ 29%

W O L F O R D ‘ S S H A R E H O L D E R  
S T R U C T U R E

1

2

3

4
5

6

1 WMP Private Family Foundation >25%

2 Sesam Private Foundation >15%
3 Ralph Bartel >25%
4 Erste Asset Management GmbH >4%

5 Treasury Stock ~2%
6 Freefloat ~29%
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Corporate Governance at Wolford

COMMITMENT TO  
THE CORPORATE  
GOVERNANCE CODE
Wolford is convinced that careful-
ly implemented and actively prac-
ticed corporate governance can 
significantly enhance the trust 
placed in the company by the 
capital markets. In September 
2002, the Austrian Working 
Group for Corporate Governance 
issued a framework for responsi-
ble corporate management and 
control that is designed to support 
the sustainable creation of value. 
The goal of this guideline is to 
protect the interests of all stake-
holders whose welfare is linked to 
the success of the company. 

The Austrian Corporate Gover-
nance Code ensures a high de-
gree of transparency for all of the 
company’s stakeholders. Wolford 
has been committed to the princi-
ples of the code since the 2002/ 
03 financial year. The Austrian 
Working Group for Corporate 
Governance is responsible for 
publishing the Corporate Gover-
nance Code. The current version 
is available at www.corporate- 
governance.at and at Wolford’s 
website. The latest revision to the 
code, which took effect as of  
January 1, 2015, implements a 
recommendation made by the  
European Commission on April 9, 

2014 concerning the quality of 
reporting on corporate manage-
ment (“comply or explain”). It  
also reflects the latest AFRAC 
opinion on the preparation and 
external evaluation of a corporate 
governance report as required  
by § 243b of the Austrian Com-
mercial Code. 

The code is based on the require-
ments of Austrian stock corpora-
tion, stock exchange and capital 
market law; the recommendations 
of the European Commission on 
the duties of the Supervisory 
Board and the compensation of 
Management Board members; 
and the corporate governance 
guidelines issued by the OECD. 
The code provides a framework 
for corporate management and 
control. 

Boosting confidence
The guiding principles of the code 
are intended to enhance the trust 
placed by investors in the compa-
ny – and in Austria as a place to 
do business. They include equal 
treatment of all shareholders, 
transparency, the independence 
of the Supervisory Board, open 
communication between the Man-
agement Board and Supervisory 
Board, the avoidance of conflicts 
of interest on the part of directors 
and officers, and efficient control 

by the Supervisory Board and au-
ditor. Compliance with the code, 
which goes beyond legal require-
ments, is voluntary, and takes the 
form of a self-imposed obligation 
on the part of the company. Ob-
servance of the code also means 
that any failure to meet C-Rules 
must be explained and disclosed 
(“comply or explain”). The Corpo-
rate Governance Report of Wol-
ford AG forms part of this annual 
report (pages 24 to 33) and is 
also available under “Investor Re-
lations” on Wolford’s website.

To prevent insider trading, Wol-
ford has issued a compliance 
guideline that implements the re-
quirements of the Market Abuse 
Regulation issued by the Europe-
an Union and of the Issuer Com-
pliance Code published by the 
Austrian Financial Market Authori-
ty (FMA). Adherence to this guide-
line is monitored by the compli-
ance officer. 

Wolford’s objective is to meet the 
expectations of capital market 
participants with respect to trans-
parency and to provide share-
holders with a true and fair view 
of the company. The Issuer Com-
pliance Code of the FMA requires 
the simultaneous and identical 
communication of information. 
Wolford consistently meets this re-
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quirement by distributing the  
latest company news, including 
information with the potential to 
influence its share price, simulta-
neously to analysts, investors and 
the media. This information is  
simultaneously published on the 
company website to provide  
private shareholders with equal 
access to the information.

One share – one vote 
The company has issued 
5,000,000 zero par value com-
mon shares. There are no pre-
ferred shares or restrictions on the 
common shares. The principle of 
“One share – one vote” is there-
fore met in full. The Austrian Take-
over Act ensures that every share-
holder would receive the same 
price for his or her Wolford 
shares in the event of a takeover 
(mandatory tender). The share-
holder structure is shown on page 
23 of this annual report. 

To ensure the continuous optimiza-
tion of risk management, Wolford 
has established an internal audit 
function in the form of a staff unit 
reporting directly to the Chief Fi-
nancial Officer. This function also 
has a direct reporting line to the 
Chairwoman of the Supervisory 
Board Audit Committee. Based on 
an internal audit plan approved 
by the Management Board and 

the Audit Committee, as well as a 
group-wide risk assessment of all 
corporate activities, the Manage-
ment Board and the internal audit 
function regularly review operat-
ing processes to identify potential 
risks and opportunities for their 
improvement. Adherence to legal 
requirements, internal guidelines 
and processes is also monitored. 
To support the early identification 
and monitoring of risks, the inter-
nal control system is reviewed on 
a regular basis, improvements are 
implemented, and the results are 
reviewed. The internal audit func-
tion reports to the Management 
Board and the Audit Committee 
on the audit plan for the following 
year and on its audit findings.

Deloitte Audit Wirtschaftsprüfungs 
GmbH, Renngasse 1/Freyung, 
1010 Vienna, was elected by the 
29th Annual General Meeting 
(AGM) to audit the annual finan-
cial statements of Wolford AG 
and the consolidated financial 
statements of the Wolford Group 
for the 2016/17 financial year. 
There are no grounds for exclu-
sion or prejudice that would be 
incompatible with a conscientious 
and objective audit by the group 
auditor, Deloitte Audit Wirtschafts-
prüfungs GmbH. The fees for the 
audit of the consolidated financial 
statements and related services 

amounted to € 0.13 million. All 
mandatory disclosures required 
by § 243a of the Austrian Com-
mercial Code (UGB) can be found 
on page 58 of the Management 
Report.

C O R P O R AT E  G O V E R N A N C E  R E P O R T
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Management Board

Ashish Sensarma, CEO

Ashish Sensarma
Ashish Sensarma (born in 1959) 
was CEO from January 7, 2015, 
and stood down from his position 
as of July 31, 2017. He is also a 
member of the Board of Directors 
of Shubh Properties Investments B.V. 

He was responsible for marketing 
and sales, as well as for coordi-
nating corporate strategy.

Ashish Sensarma has more than 
30 years of experience in the 
fashion industry. He is a retail ex-
pert for brands in the mid-priced 
and luxury segments and has a 
global understanding of customer 
needs and extensive expertise in 
integrating sales channels. Born in 

India and a Dutch citizen, Mr. 
Sensarma began his career with 
Mexx, where he developed the 
retail business for more than 20 
years and oversaw revenues of 
more than € 400 million at more 
than 300 shops. He left Mexx in 
2006, several years after the 
takeover by Liz Claiborne. Prior  
to joining Wolford, he served as 
Chief Operating Officer for the 
luxury swimwear brand Vilebre-
quin, which he developed into the 
global market leader in this seg-
ment. Mr. Sensarma is married 
and has two adult children. He 
holds a BSc in business adminis-
tration from Nichols College, Dud-
ley, Massachusetts, where he ma-
jored in Finance.
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Axel Dreher
Axel Dreher (born in 1965), has 
been a member of the Manage-
ment Board since March 1, 2013, 
and Deputy CEO from January 7, 
2015. His appointment runs until 
October 31, 2018. He does not 
hold any supervisory board or 
other similar functions outside the 
company.

He is responsible for design, 
product development, production 
and technology, supply chain 
management, quality manage-
ment, finance, internal audit, in-
vestor relations, legal affairs, IT, 
and human resources. 

Since August 1, 2017, Axel Dre-
her has been CEO of Wolford AG 
and is responsible for the compa-
ny’s strategy, marketing, and 
sales. Furthermore, he will contin-
ue to perform his existing func-
tions as COO with responsibility 
for development, production, and 
logistics.

Axel Dreher studied business ad-
ministration and also received an 
MBA from the University of 

Pittsburgh with a major in Finance. 
From 2005 to February 2013, he 
served on the Management Board 
of Triumph International AG in 
Wiener Neustadt, where he was 
responsible for all commercial and 
operating activities. During his 
time at the German Schaeffler 
Group/FAG Kugelfischer AG 
(2001 to 2005), Axel Dreher was 
responsible for finance and con-
trolling, human resources, IT, and 
procurement for FAG Austria AG, 
as well as for finance, controlling, 
and procurement for the utility ve-
hicle segment of FAG Kugelfischer 
AG. He then assumed global man-
agement responsibility for a busi-
ness unit where his core duties in-
volved sales, product engineering, 
purchasing, and production. He 
also held management and super-
visory board positions in Hungary 
and India. He gained additional 
management experience in re-
search and development, finance 
and controlling and operating 
management in the automotive 
components supply industry while 
working at ITT Automotive Europe 
(1995 to 1998) and BorgWarner 
(1998 to 2001). 

Axel Dreher, COO/CFO

Brigitte Kurz
Brigitte Kurz (born in 1974), ap-
pointed until October 31, 2018, 
has been the new Chief Financial 
Officer (CFO) since August 1, 
2017. She holds Board responsi-
bility for finance, investor rela-
tions, legal affairs, IT, and human 
resources. She has been responsi-
ble for all finance-related topics at 
the Wolford Group since Septem-
ber 2015 (then as Director of Cor-
porate Finance). From 2010 to 
2015, Brigitte Kurz acted as CFO 
of the Zurich-based machine tool 
engineering company DMG Mori 
Europe, where she was responsi-
ble for finance and controlling at 

a total of 12 sales locations 
across Europe. She previously 
worked for four years at the Car-
coustics Group, an automotive 
supplier with global operations 
based in Leverkusen, initially as 
Commercial Director of Carcous-
tics Austria GmbH in Vorarlberg 
and from 2008 onward as Vice 
President Controlling at Carcous-
tics International. In this function, 
she was responsible for world-
wide controlling. Born in Tyrol, 
Brigitte Kurz has lived in Vorarl-
berg for around 20 years and 
holds a master’s degree in Inter-
national Corporate Management 
from Dornbirn Technical College.

Brigitte Kurz
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Since the 27th Annual General 
Meeting (AGM), the Supervisory 
Board of Wolford AG has com-
prised four members elected at 
the AGM and two representatives 
delegated by the Staff Council. 
The Supervisory Board held six 
meetings during the 2016/17  
financial year. No Supervisory 
Board member was absent from 
more than half the meetings.

Antonella Mei-Pochtler,  
Supervisory Board 
Chairwoman
Since the 27th AGM: Chair-
woman of Presidium, Personnel 
and Nomination Committee,  
Compensation Committee; mem-
ber of Strategy and Marketing 
and Audit Committees.
Independent; born in 1958,  
appointed until the 31st AGM 
(2017/18), first elected on  
September 17, 2013
 – Senior Partner and Managing 
Director of the Boston Consult-
ing Group in Vienna and 
Munich

 – No additional functions at listed 
companies

Claudia Beermann,  
Deputy Supervisory Board 
Chairwoman
Since the 27th AGM: member  
of Presidium, Personnel and  
Nominations Committee, and 
Compensation Committee; Chair-
woman of Audit Committee. 
Independent; born in 1966,  
appointed until the 31st AGM 
(2017/18), first elected on  
September 17, 2013
 – Chief Financial Officer of 
Falkensteiner Michaeler Tourism 
Group AG

 – No additional functions at  
listed companies

Lothar Reiff, Member
Chairman of Strategy and  
Marketing Committee.  
Independent; born in 1954,  
appointed until the 31st AGM 
(2017/18), first elected on  
September 17, 2013
 – Managing Director of Lothar 
Reiff Consultancy

 – No additional functions at  
listed companies

Birgit G. Wilhelm, Member
Member of Strategy and  
Marketing Committee.
Independent; born in 1975,  
appointed until the 30th AGM 
(2016/17), first elected on  
September 12, 2006
 – Real estate manager
 – No additional functions at  
listed companies

Anton Mathis, Member
Member of Audit Committee as 
well as Strategy and Marketing 
Committee. Delegated by the Staff 
Council; born in 1960, first dele-
gated on December 16, 1999. 
 
Peter Glanzer, Member
Delegated by the Staff Council; 
born in 1954, first delegated  
on March 19, 2001. Retired  
from the Supervisory Board as  
of May 18, 2017. 

The Supervisory Board has  
established five committees:  
Presidium, Personnel and  
Nomination Committee, Com-
pensation Committee, Audit  
Committee, Strategy and  
Marketing Committee. 

The Presidium, which com- 
prises the Supervisory Board 
Chairwoman Antonella  
Mei-Pochtler and her Deputy  
Claudia Beermann, represents  

the company’s interests in all  
matters related to the Manage-
ment Board.

The Presidium held five meetings 
in the 2016/17 financial year 
and discussed current issues relat-
ing to the Management Board. 

At Wolford, the Presidium serves 
as the Personnel and Nomi-
nation Committee and is re-
sponsible for preparing all ap-
pointments to the Management 
and Supervisory Boards. Prior to 
the appointment of persons to 
these corporate bodies, the Per-
sonnel and Nomination Commit-
tee defines a requirement profile 
and prepares resolutions for the 
Supervisory Board or AGM based 
on a predefined selection process 
and succession planning. It also 
serves as the Compensation 
Committee for the Management 
Board. In this function, the com-
mittee reviews the compensation 
policy for the Management Board 
at regular intervals and ensures 
compliance with the relevant pro-
visions of the Corporate Gover-
nance Code.

The Audit Committee deals 
with the audit of the Group’s con-
solidated financial statements and 
supervises financial reporting. It 
also monitors the effectiveness of 
the internal control, internal audit 
and risk management systems,  
and reviews the independence 
and qualifications of the auditor 
based on peer reviews. Since the 
27th AGM, the Audit Committee  
has comprised Claudia Beermann 
(Chairwoman), Antonella  
Mei-Pochtler, and Anton Mathis.

Supervisory Board Members and Committees 
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The Audit Committee met twice in 
the 2016/17 financial year and 
primarily dealt with the following 
issues: 
 – The auditor’s report on the  
audit of the annual financial 
statements for the 2015/16  
financial year 

 – The preparation of a recommen-
dation to the Supervisory Board 
for the selection of the (group) 

auditor for the 2016/17  
financial year 

 – The company’s performance in 
the first half of 2016/17 

 – The report by the Management 
Board on risk management at 
the Group 

 – The report by the Management 
Board on the AFREP review

 – The report by the internal  
auditor on its audit findings.

Responsibilities and Working Methods  
of the Management and Supervisory Boards

The Management Board is respon-
sible for conducting the compa-
ny’s business in compliance with 
the relevant laws, the articles of 
association of Wolford AG, and 
the applicable rules of procedure. 
It manages the business to the 
benefit of the company, and in 
keeping with the interests of all 
shareholders, employees and the 
general public. The rules of proce-
dure for the Management Board, 
which are issued by the Super-
visory Board, regulate working 
procedures and responsibilities. 
Irrespective of the allocation of 
specific responsibilities, the Man-
agement Board bears joint re-
sponsibility for managing the com-
pany. Issues of fundamental im-
portance must be approved by 
the full Management Board. In ad-
dition, the rules of procedure for 
the Management Board include a 
catalog of measures that require 
the approval of the Supervisory 
Board. 

There is a continuous flow of infor-
mation between the members of 
the Management Board. This 
takes place formally in at least 

two monthly Management Board 
meetings. 

At regular meetings (at least once 
per quarter), the Management 
Board provides the Supervisory 
Board with timely and comprehen-
sive information on all issues that 
are relevant to the company’s eco-
nomic and strategic development, 
including the risk situation and 
risk management at the company 
and major subsidiaries. Urgent 
information is communicated to 
the Chairwoman of the Superviso-
ry Board immediately by the Man-
agement Board. Additional meet-
ings are scheduled to deal with 
important issues such as the dis-
cussion of the company’s strategy. 
The Management Board reports 
at least once a year to the Super-
visory Board on the precautionary 
measures taken to combat corrup-
tion at the company. The Supervi-
sory Board is thus furnished with 
all the information it requires to 
perform its advisory and supervi-
sory functions. Consistent with the 
Corporate Governance Code, the 
Management and Supervisory 
Boards also hold regular 

discussions on the company’s per-
formance and strategic alignment 
outside the framework of Supervi-
sory Board meetings. 

The Supervisory Board performs 
its duties in accordance with legal 
requirements, the articles of asso-
ciation, and its rules of procedure. 
The Supervisory Board is respon-
sible for decisions on issues of 
fundamental importance to the 
company and its strategic align-
ment. It establishes qualified com-
mittees in accordance with specif-
ic circumstances at the company 
and its own number of members. 
These committees are designed to 
increase the efficiency of the Su-
pervisory Board’s work and im-
prove the resolution of complex 
issues. However, issues delegated 
to individual committees may still 
be handled by the full Supervisory 
Board. Each committee chairper-
son regularly reports to the full Su-
pervisory Board on the work of 
his or her committee. 

Employee participation on the Su-
pervisory Board and its commit-
tees is a legally regulated part of 

C O R P O R AT E  G O V E R N A N C E  R E P O R T

The Strategy and Market-
ing Committee comprises the  
following members: Lothar Reiff 
(Chairman), Antonella 
Mei-Pochtler, Birgit Wilhelm, 
and Anton Mathis. This commit-
tee held one meeting in the 
2016/17 financial year and 
mainly dealt with the topics of 
marketing organization and 
marketing strategy.
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the Austrian Corporate Gover-
nance system. Consistent with the 
Austrian Labor Constitution Act, 
employees are entitled to dele-
gate one representative to the Su-
pervisory Board and its commit-
tees for every two Supervisory 
Board members (shareholder rep-
resentatives) elected by the AGM. 
Employee representatives exercise 
this function on an honorary basis 
and can be recalled by the Staff 
Council at any time.

None of the Supervisory Board 
members has business or personal 
relationships with the company or 
the Management Board that could 
provide grounds for a material 
conflict of interest that could, in 
turn, influence the behavior of the 
respective Supervisory Board 
member. The company maintains 
business relationships with individ-
ual members of the Supervisory 
Board, which are billed at ordi-
nary market rates and are not ma-
terial in total. Specifically, Lothar 

Reiff has advised the company in 
matters relating to its market com-
munications and the design of its 
collection. A customary fee of 
€ 67,500 was invoiced for these 
services in the 2016/17 financial 
year, with the amount charged be-
ing based on the work performed.

All members of the Wolford AG 
Supervisory Board are considered 
independent according to the cri-
teria defined by the Austrian Cor-
porate Governance Code. State-
ments to this effect were submitted 
by all Supervisory Board mem-
bers. In accordance with § 95 of 
the Austrian Stock Corporation 
Act, the Supervisory Board’s main 
responsibility is to supervise the 
work of the Management Board. 
The current Supervisory Board 
meets this responsibility in full. 
Wolford AG has a free-float com-
ponent of more than 20% and less 
than 50%. Since the 27th AGM, 
the Supervisory Board has includ-
ed at least three members 

(Antonella Mei-Pochtler, Claudia 
Beermann, and Lothar Reiff) who 
are neither shareholders with in-
terests of more than 10% in the 
company nor representatives of 
the interests of large shareholders. 

Wolford AG has not granted  
any loans to members of the Su-
pervisory or Management Boards. 

Wolford AG evaluates compli-
ance with the provisions of the 
code each year using a question-
naire developed by the Austrian 
Working Group for Corporate 
Governance. Based on the results 
of this evaluation, the deviations 
from the C-Rules are explained 
below. 

C-Rule 18, Question 1
The internal audit department  
is no longer established as a  
Management Board staff office.  
In the course of restructuring the 
company, the tasks performed  
by the internal audit department 
were allocated to other company 
departments. This is intended  
to enhance the integration of such 
tasks within company structures 
and thus to ensure that internal 
company processes can be contin-
ually and sustainably improved. 
Internal audit tasks thus continue 
to be performed without restric-
tion. Outsourcing these tasks to  

a standalone department would 
merely create unnecessary addi-
tional expenses. This decision  
was jointly made by the Manage-
ment and Supervisory Boards. 

C-Rule 27, Question 3
Variable compensation does  
not account for any non-financial 
key figures. From the point of 
view of the Supervisory Board, 
the key balance sheet figures on 
which variable compensation is 
based already adequately ac-
count for all aspects of company 
management. 

C-Rule 36, Question 3
The Supervisory Board once 
again forewent performing any 
self-evaluation in the past 
2016/17 financial year. This was 
due to the company’s business 
performance and the substantial 
additional time input thereby 
required.

C-Rule 39, Question 2
The Supervisory Board is only per-
mitted to make decisions with the 
votes of all its members. Thanks to 
its size, however, the Supervisory 
Board is at all times able to make 
decisions, even in urgent cases.

Deviations from C-Rules  
of the Corporate Governance Code
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C-Rule 43, Question 5
The principles underlying the com-
pensation system are presented in 
great detail in the Compensation 
Report within the Corporate Gov-
ernance Report. Additional report-
ing to the Annual General Meet-
ing would therefore be superflu-
ous. Potential questions about 
these principles at the Annual 
General Meeting are answered 
immediately. This decision was 
made by the Supervisory Board.

C-Rule 62
The company’s compliance with 
the C-Rules of the code has not 
been evaluated by any external 
institution in the past three years. 
However, an annual review is car-
ried out by the company depart-
ments entrusted with internal audit 
responsibilities. A separate review 
by an external institution would 
not produce any different results 

and would only cause avoidable 
costs. The decision in favor of ex-
clusively performing an internal 
audit of compliance with the 
C-Rules was made by the Man-
agement Board following agree-
ment with the Supervisory Board.

C-Rule 81a, Question 1
The (group) auditor was only invit-
ed to one meeting of the Audit 
Committee. Although the Audit 
Committee did not hold more than 
two meetings, only one of these 
meetings dealt with topics relevant 
to the financial statements. This 
decision was made by the Super-
visory Board.

C-Rule 83, Question 1
The audit assignment did not in-
clude an evaluation of the effec-
tiveness of the risk management 
system. The Supervisory Board 
made this decision in agreement 

with the Management Board. How-
ever, the auditor issued a manage-
ment letter that reports on select as-
pects of the internal control system 
concerning the financial reporting 
process. This letter was presented 
to the Chairwoman of the Supervi-
sory Board and discussed in detail 
at a Supervisory Board meeting. 
The Audit Committee also held two 
meetings during the past financial 
year which focused on the results 
of internal audit activities. In addi-
tion, there is a direct reporting line 
from the employees responsible for 
the internal audit to the Chairwom-
an of the Supervisory Board Audit 
Committee. Overall, the Superviso-
ry Board is thus able to form its 
own impression of the effectiveness 
of the risk management system. 

Compensation Report

The Compensation Report summa-
rizes the principles used to deter-
mine the compensation paid to 
the Management Board of Wol-
ford AG and sets out the amount 
and structure of this compensa-
tion. It also describes the underly-
ing principles and amount of Su-
pervisory Board compensation. 
The Supervisory Board has as-
signed responsibility for determin-
ing the compensation of Wolford’s 
Management Board to the Presidi-
um, which also acts as the Com-
pensation Committee. 

Consistent with the requirements 
of the Austrian Stock Corporation 
Act, members of the Management 
Board are appointed for specific 
terms in office. The employment 
contracts with members of 

Wolford’s Management Board 
have been concluded for these 
periods and also set out the level 
and structure of compensation. 
The goal of the compensation sys-
tem is to provide Management 
Board members with compensa-
tion that is in line with national 
and international practice and ad-
equately reflects the scope of their 
functions and responsibilities. 

The Management Board compen-
sation system comprises fixed and 
variable components. 

The fixed component reflects the 
respective area of responsibility of 
each Management Board member 
and, in line with standard prac-
tice in Austria, is retrospectively 
disbursed in the form of 14 

monthly installments. The variable 
component is based on the com-
pany’s performance and on that 
of the individual Management 
Board member. It is linked in par-
ticular to the achievement of quan-
titative targets and sustainable, 
long-term and strategic goals. The 
total amount of compensation is 
appropriate to the duties and re-
sponsibilities of the individual 
Management Board members, as 
well as to the position of the com-
pany and compensation custom-
ary to the sector in which it 
operates. 

The variable component of com-
pensation for Ashish Sensarma 
and Axel Dreher is based on the 
ratio of earnings before tax to rev-
enues. This compensation 

C O R P O R AT E  G O V E R N A N C E  R E P O R T
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component is capped at a maxi-
mum of 30% of annual fixed com-
pensation. Furthermore, a long-
term incentive (“LTI”) program is 
also in place for Management 
Board members for the financial 
years from 2015/16 to 
2017/18. This takes the form of 
a stock appreciation rights plan 
and is based on Wolford’s share 
price performance and the 
achievement of targets for the ra-
tio of earnings before tax to reve-
nues. As of April 30, 2015, Axel 
Dreher and Ashish Sensarma 
were allocated 133,333 and 
80,000 stock appreciation rights 
(“SARs”) respectively. The SARs 
involve stock appreciation rights 
based on Wolford’ actual share 
price. However, no actual shares 
are granted within this plan. This 
compensation component is po-
tentially payable for the first time 
upon the conclusion of the 

2017/18 financial year. The ben-
efit resulting from exercising the 
SARs is capped at maximum 
gross amounts of € 1.2 million for 
Axel Dreher and € 2.0 million for 
Ashish Sensarma. Further informa-
tion about the LTI program can be 
found in the “Investor Relations” 
section at the Wolford AG 
website.

Participation in the LTI program 
requires the individual Manage-
ment Board member to make a 
personal investment in company 
shares. This condition has been 
met by Ashish Sensarma and Axel 
Dreher, who acquired 7,116 and 
4,744 company shares respec-
tively. The Management Board 
members acquired the shares at a 
price of € 21.08 per share (corre-
sponding to the average share 
price in the period from Decem-
ber 10, 2014 to April 30, 2015). 

Upon the termination of a Man-
agement Board contract, the re-
spective member is entitled to sev-
erance pay with analogous appli-
cation of the requirements of the 
Austrian Salaried Employees Act. 

There are no pension fund agree-
ments or defined benefit commit-
ments for active Management 
Board members at Wolford AG. 
Expenses of € 0.20 million were 
recognized in the 2016/17  
financial year for former Manage- 
ment Board members (2015/16: 
€ 0.24 million). 

A member of the Management 
Board may only take on addition-
al duties outside the company 
with the approval of the Super-
visory Board. This ensures that 
neither the time involved nor the 
compensation received lead to 
any conflict of interest with the in-
dividual’s responsibilities vis-à-vis 
the company. 

The AGM determines the compen-
sation paid to elected Supervisory 
Board members and meeting al-
lowances. The 27th AGM ap-
proved a new compensation 

structure for the Supervisory 
Board that took effect from the 
2014/15 financial year and ap-
plies until further notice.

Compensation for the function as-
sumed and for preparing and at-
tending four regular Supervisory 
Board meetings each financial 
year: Chairwoman € 50,000, 
Deputy Chairwoman € 35,000, 
members € 25,000. 

Committee members receive the 
following additional compen- 
sation:

The individual Management 
Board member is required to hold 
this personal investment in the 
form of the shares acquired until 
the end of the 2017/18 financial 
year. 

Total current compensation of the 
Management Board members for 
the 2016/17 financial year 
amounted to € 1.08 million 
(2015/16: € 1.12 million). Of 
this total, 100% involved fixed 
(2015/16: 94%) and 0% vari-
able compensation (2015/16: 
6%). There is no stock option plan 
for the Group’s management. 

The compensation paid to Ashish 
Sensarma was settled via several 
group companies: Wolford AG 
(35%); Wolford Nederland B.V.: 
(25%); Wolford Deutschland 
GmbH: (20%); Wolford London 
Ltd. (20%). 

Current Management Board 
compensation in €

2016/17
Fixed

2016/17
Variable

2016/17
Total

2015/16
Total

Ashish Sensarma 600,000 0 600,000 500,000

Axel Dreher 475,000 0 475,000 400,000

Thomas Melzer (until July 31, 2015) 0 0 0 215,304

Total 1,075,000 0 1,075,000 1,115,304
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Measures to Promote Women

Unlike at many other listed com-
panies, in the 2016/17 financial 
year the Supervisory Board at 
Wolford AG already had a com-
paratively large share of female 
members, who accounted for 
three of the total of six members. 
There is nevertheless no specific 
plan for the promotion of women 
on the Management Board, 

Supervisory Board, or in other 
key functions at the company and 
its subsidiaries. The best possible 
candidates are selected for avail-
able positions irrespective of their 
gender, age, religion, or ethnic 
origin. Many of the leading posi-
tions at Wolford AG and its sub-
sidiaries are held by women. At-
tractive part-time models are 

offered to mothers returning from 
maternity leave, thus helping them 
to reconcile their family and pro-
fessional commitments. The Wol-
ford Group focuses on its own 
points of sale, and its product line 
chiefly targets female customers. 
These factors are reflected in its 
workforce, in which women make 
up more than 80% of employees. 

Audit Committee with two regular 
meetings per financial year: Chair-
woman € 5,500 and members 
€ 5,000 each; Strategy and Mar-
keting Committee with two regular 

Reference is made to the com-
ments in the Corporate Gover-
nance Report on page 30 for in-
formation about payments made 
for services over and above the 
aforementioned Supervisory 
Board duties, and especially  
consulting services. No pension 
commitments have been made to 
Supervisory Board members at 
Wolford AG. Wolford AG has 

Supervisory Board compensation in € 2016/17 2015/16 

Antonella Mei-Pochtler, Chairwoman (6 Supervisory Board meetings, 2 Audit 
Committee meetings, 5 Presidium meetings, and 1 Strategy and Marketing 
Committee meeting) 

73,500 74,500

Claudia Beermann, Deputy Chairwoman (6 Supervisory Board meetings, 2 Audit 
Committee meetings, and 5 Presidium meetings)

56,500 52,500

Lothar Reiff (6 Supervisory Board meetings and 1 Strategy and Marketing 
Committee meeting)

27,750 33,250

Birgit G. Wilhelm (6 Supervisory Board meetings and 1 Strategy and Marketing 
Committee meeting)

27,500 32,500

Total 185,250 192,750

C O R P O R AT E  G O V E R N A N C E  R E P O R T

meetings per financial year:  
Chairman € 5,500 and members 
€ 5,000 each; additional meetings 
are remunerated with € 4,000 per 
member and meeting.

The compensation for the year un-
der report thus totaled € 0.19 mil-
lion (2015/16: € 0.19 million) 
and was structured as follows:

concluded directors and officers 
(D&O) insurance with coverage of 
€ 25 million for the members of 
the Supervisory and Management 
Boards, key employees, and the 
managing directors of subsidiar-
ies. The company covers the  
cost of this insurance. Purchases 
and sales of treasury stock by 
members of the Management and 
Supervisory Boards and closely 

related individuals (“directors’ 
dealings”) are made public in ac-
cordance with Article 19 of the 
Market Abuse Regulation and are 
published in the “Investor Rela-
tions” section of the Wolford AG 
website pursuant to the Austrian 
Corporate Governance Code. 
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Report of the Supervisory Board

The Supervisory and Manage-
ment Boards held six meetings in 
the year under report, at which 
they held in-depth discussions 
about the company’s business situ-
ation and the implementation of 
its corporate strategy, as well as 
about major events and forthcom-
ing investments. At all of these 
meetings and in its regular report-
ing, the Management Board pro-
vided the Supervisory Board with 
detailed information about the 
business and financial situation of 
the Group and its investments, as 
well as about its personnel situa-
tion. Special developments were 
also reported.

The committees dealt with individ-
ual topics in greater detail and 
subsequently reported to the Su-
pervisory Board. The Supervisory 
Board Presidium received regular 
reports from the Management 
Board on the latest business devel-
opments. The Audit Committee 
met twice, while the Presidium 
held five meetings. The composi-
tion and responsibilities of the 
committees are presented in the 
Corporate Governance Report on 
page 28. The criteria governing 
performance-related compensa-
tion for the Management Board, 
the principles underlying retire-
ment benefits, and the claims aris-
ing upon termination of employ-
ment are listed in the Compensa-
tion Report from page 31 on-
ward, where the compensation of 
each Management and Superviso-
ry Board member is also 

disclosed separately. As part of a 
long-term incentive (“LTI”) pro-
gram, there is a (fictitious) stock 
option plan (stock appreciation 
rights) for the Management Board 
of the Group (further information 
can be found on page 32 or in 
the “Investor Relations” section of 
the company website). All meet-
ings of the Audit Committee and 
Presidium were attended by all of 
their respective members. The 
Marketing and Strategy Commit-
tee held one meeting which was 
also attended by all members.

In its activities in the past financial 
year, the Supervisory Board fo-
cused above all on the company 
restructuring program. In the 
2016/17 financial year Wolford 
witnessed a reduction in its reve-
nues, further exacerbated by neg-
ative exchange rate movements. 
Walk-in customer totals in import-
ant large cities fell sharply at 
times, and this factor could only 
be compensated for in part by 
other markets and online reve-
nues. Not only that, errors in re-
quirements planning and sales 
area management further intensi-
fied the situation in the retail busi-
ness in particular. The merchan-
dise delivery system was fully con-
verted from late summer 2016 on-
wards, a measure which enabled 
revenues to stabilize following a 
very weak first half. 

It was nevertheless not possible to 
adequately make up for the loss 
of revenues in the first half. In the 

2016/17 financial year,  
Wolford’s revenues fell by 5%  
to € 154.28 million (currency-ad-
justed: -4.1%). EBIT came to 
€ -15.72 million, while earnings 
after taxes amounted to € -17.88 
million as against € -10.66 mil-
lion (adjusted) in the previous 
year. As of April 30, 2017, the 
Wolford Group had liquid funds 
of € 10.31 million, and an equity 
ratio of 32%. 

Against this backdrop, the compa-
ny has adjusted its medium-term 
planning. In the current financial 
year, Wolford’s management will 
be focusing on implementing re-
structuring measures until the com-
pany regains profitability. To 
achieve this, numerous tasks have 
to be successfully accomplished. 
These have been listed in a cata-
log of measures approved by the 
Management and Supervisory 
Boards. The Supervisory Board 
has held detailed discussions with 
the Management Board concern-
ing the new business plan com-
piled on this basis. 

Numerous meetings in 
2016/17 financial year
At its meetings in the past finan-
cial year, the Presidium concen-
trated above all on the structural 
and organizational measures  
required to generate profitable 
growth. 

In addressing the annual financial 
statements for the 2015/16 finan-
cial year, the Audit Committee  
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invited the auditor to attend its 
meeting on July 13, 2016. The au-
ditor presented a management let-
ter and discussed its key findings 
with the members of the Audit 
Committee. At the subsequent Su-
pervisory Board meeting, the Su-
pervisory Board discussed and ap-
proved the annual financial state-
ments of Wolford AG, reviewed 
the consolidated financial state-
ments, the management report, 
the Management Board proposal 
for the appropriation of profit, and 
the Supervisory Board’s report to 
the Annual General Meeting. Fur-
thermore, the Supervisory Board 
agreed a proposal to the Annual 
General Meeting for the election 
of the auditor and set the agenda 
for the 2016 Annual General 
Meeting. Other major agenda 
items at the meeting included the 
Management Board’s report on 
the current financial year and on 
the “NOW” project.

Prior to the 29th Annual General 
Meeting on September 14, 2016, 
the Management Board reported 
to the Supervisory Board on the 
company’s latest business perfor-
mance. 

An unscheduled meeting was held 
on November 3, 2016, at which 
the Management Board informed 
the Supervisory Board about the 
company’s current business per-
formance. This meeting also dealt 
with personnel-related matters  
and addressed the progress made 
with the “NOW” restructuring 
project. 

At the Audit Committee meeting 
held on December 14, 2016, the 
Management Board reported on 
the first half of the financial year, 
as well as on the insights gained 
from the internal control and risk 
management system and the mea-
sures derived on this basis. Further- 
more, the Management Board 

reported on the status of the 
AFREP review then underway. At 
the subsequent 115th Supervisory 
Board meeting, the Management 
Board submitted an updated orga-
nizational structure chart and pre-
sented a new merchandise man-
agement software. 

At the unscheduled meeting held 
on February 13, 2017, the  
Management Board reported on 
the latest financing status and  
on the sales recovery plan intend-
ed to boost revenues. 

At its unscheduled meeting on 
March 15, 2017, the Supervisory 
Board was informed about the 
status of the sales recovery plan 
then underway and about the 
company’s business performance. 

The Supervisory Board met on 
July 12, 2017, to obtain informa-
tion above all about the progress 
made with the investor selection 
process (see page 23 for details) 
and with the implementation of 
the business plan. 

The annual financial statements 
and management report of Wol-
ford AG and the consolidated fi-
nancial statements prepared in 
accordance with IFRS as of April 
30, 2017, were audited by De-
loitte Audit Wirtschaftsprüfungs 
GmbH, Vienna, and granted un-
qualified audit opinions. All docu-
ments relating to the financial 
statements, the Management 
Board proposal for the appropria-
tion of profit, and the auditor’s re-
ports were discussed in detail with 
the auditor at the Audit Committee 
meeting on August 22, 2017, 
and presented to the Supervisory 
Board at its subsequent meeting 
together with the management re-
ports prepared by the Manage-
ment Board and the corporate 
governance report. The Superviso-
ry Board reviewed these 

documents as required by § 96 of 
the Austrian Stock Corporation 
Act and concurred with the audit 
findings. The Supervisory Board 
approved the annual financial 
statements, which are thus formal-
ly adopted in accordance with 
§ 96 (4) of the Austrian Stock  
Corporation Act. Furthermore, the 
Supervisory Board also prepared 
its report to the Annual General 
Meeting and its proposal for the 
election of the auditor for the 
2017/18 financial year. 

Composition of  
Management Board
Ashish Sensarma, previously CEO, 
left the company as of July 31, 
2017. He will continue to accom-
pany Wolford in an advisory ca-
pacity in the process of approach-
ing investors, which is now under-
way. The Supervisory Board would 
like to thank Ashish Sensarma for 
the impetus he provided in restruc-
turing the company, particularly in 
its international sales organization 
and in online business.

Axel Dreher, previously Deputy 
CEO, will take over as CEO as of 
August 1, 2017, and will also as-
sume responsibility for strategy, 
marketing, and sales. The Super-
visory Board of Wolford AG has 
appointed Brigitte Kurz, previous-
ly head of the finance depart-
ment, as a new member of the 
Management Board, also starting 
on August 1, 2017. She will take 
over the function of Chief Finan-
cial Officer (CFO) from Axel  
Dreher and will also assume re-
sponsibility for human resources, 
IT, legal affairs, and investor  
relations. The tasks of COO, with 
responsibility for development, 
production, and logistics, will con-
tinue to be performed by Axel 
Dreher. 

The Supervisory Board
Vienna, August 2017
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Group Information 

Wolford at a glance 
Founded in the Austrian city of Bregenz in 1950, Wolford designs, manufactures and sells 

luxury legwear and bodywear and exclusive lingerie. It designs and manufactures its products 
exclusively in Europe, at two locations in Austria and Slovenia, in accordance with the highest 
environmental standards (partner in the bluesign® system). With its 267 mono-brand points of sale 
(POS) and more than 3,000 retail partners, the brand is represented in around 60 countries 
worldwide. Overall, Wolford has a total workforce of 1,544 employees (FTE), of which 
678 employees (FTE) are based in Austria. 

Products meet the highest quality standards 
Wolford generates more than 50% of its revenues with its core Legwear product group, to 

which all other product groups are aligned. The second-largest product group is Ready-to-wear, 
which includes figure-embracing products such as bodies and shirts (bodywear), as well as dresses 
and pullovers. The Legwear and Bodywear product groups are based on a special round-knitting 
technology that was developed by Wolford and is continually being enhanced. This gives Wolford's 
products their unique comfort and quality. These two product groups are complemented by a select 
offering of decorative and, in some cases, figure-shaping lingerie. A distinction is made between 
fashionable Trend products and the Essential collection, which includes all of Wolford’s timeless 
classics, such as the Satin Touch tights offered since 1988. The Essential products account for 
around 70% of revenues.  

The collections are supplemented by a small selection of accessories, such as scarves and 
bracelets, which contribute revenues in a low single-digit million euro range. At the beginning of the 
2016/17 financial year, Wolford also introduced Beachwear as a new product category. This 
promises to generate additional revenue potential for the traditionally weak summer months. 

 

 

 

Management Report  

Focus on round-knitting 

R E V E N UE S BY PR O D UC T GR O UP
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1 Legwear 53%

2 Ready-to-wear 29%

3 Lingerie 15%

4 Accessories 2%

5 Trading goods 1%
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Covering the whole of the value chain 
The Wolford Group’s business model covers the entire value chain – from design and devel-

opment to production to global omni-channel distribution, including proprietary boutiques. The 
company is supported in various sections of the value chain by external partners and select suppli-
ers. Most activities are centralized at the company’s headquarters in Bregenz.  

When developing a new collection, the design team works hand in hand with the product de-
velopment department. Many of Wolford’s innovations result from new production methods, such as 
adhesive technology or 3D printing. Merchandise management deals above all with requirements 
planning for the retail sales areas at proprietary boutiques and for wholesale customers. This 
department determines which articles have to be produced in which quantities and colors and for 
which retail space. It also controls the flow of goods from the warehouse to retail space.  

The raw materials, yarns in particular, are procured from long-standing partners in neighbor-
ing regions in Austria, Germany, and Switzerland, as are upstream lingerie products. Some of the 
yarns are sourced from Japan. All raw materials are stored at the company’s headquarters in 
Bregenz and prepared here for subsequent production and assembly.  

Production takes place at the location in Bregenz, which serves as a textile development and 
production center, and in Murska Sobota (Slovenia), where the largely manual assembly activities are 
performed by 281 employees (FTE). The knitting mill in Bregenz processes around 430,000 kilometers 
of yarn each day. Around 20,000 pairs of tights, 5,000 pairs of stockings, and 2,000 bodies are 
manufactured each day on 380 individually modified knitting machines. The knitted hoses for bodies 
or tights are taken to Slovenia for assembly and subsequently dyed and checked in Bregenz. Products 
not involving round-knitting, such as lingerie, are produced directly in Slovenia.  

Finished products are stored in the following warehouses: at the central warehouse in Bregenz 
and at three warehouses for the online business. The warehouse in Germany supplies the EMEA 
region, while the warehouses in the U.S. and China supply the American and Asian markets 
respectively. 

 

Global sales  
Wolford products are currently sold via a network of proprietary locations and retail partners 

in around 60 countries worldwide. In the 2016/17 financial year, the company generated the 
largest share of its revenues (46%) with its international network of boutiques. At the end of April 
2017, 109 of Wolford’s 194 boutiques were under proprietary management, while 85 were 
managed by partners. Overall, the Wolford Group controls 70% of its distribution.  

 

 

 

 

Design and product development 
cooperate closely 

All goods produced in Europe 

Wolford controls 70% of its 
distribution 
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Distribution channels 
Boutiques: boutiques under Wolford man-
agement 

Department stores: exclusive shop-in-shops 
with the Wolford look and feel at numerous 
international department stores 

Partner boutiques: boutiques managed by 
retail partners 

Multi-brand retailers: exclusive fashion and 
specialist retailers offering Wolford models 

Concession shop-in-shops: sales areas 
under Wolford management within department 
stores 

Franchise: independent companies with their 
own capital which offer Wolford products in line 
with Wolford’s uniform marketing concept 

Online business: proprietary online bou-
tiques 

Private label: products manufactured for 
other brands or offered under other brand 
names at retailers 

Factory outlets: sales locations at which 
Wolford collections from previous years and cut-
price goods are sold 

Travel Retail: points of sale at airports and 
railroad stations 

Europe as most important market 
Accounting for around 75% of revenues, the European market is the most important sales mar-

ket for the Wolford Group. Specifically, Germany (15%) contributes a major share of the Group’s 
revenues, as do Austria (10%) and France (10%). The U.S., with a 20% share of revenues, is the 
single most important market. 

 

Central management  
The Management Board manages the company from its corporate headquarters in Bregenz. It 

is responsible for strategy and group management, while the Supervisory Board assists the Man-
agement Board in an advisory capacity and monitors its management of the company.  

The company’s core objective is to generate profitable growth and increase its free cash flow. 
The in-house management system supports the management in aligning company processes to this 
objective. 

R E V E N U E S B Y M A R K ET

1
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5

6

1 North America 20%

2 Germany 15%

3 Austria 10%

4 France 10%

5 Rest of Europe 40%
6 Asia/Oceania 5%
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Key aspects of this approach involve increasing revenues and operating earnings (EBITDA, 
i.e., earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization). Accordingly, the company’s key 
management figures are revenues (absolute and like-for-like, i.e., excluding revenues at sales areas 
newly opened or closed), EBITDA, and free cash flow (cash flow from operations plus cash flow from 
investments). Further key management figures are working capital and the Group’s net debt.  

Supply chain managers are responsible for managing inventories and trade receivables. They 
are also responsible for consistently implementing measures to reduce raw material holdings and 
stocks. Receivables management is based on close liaison between the finance department, which 
manages the process, and the relevant sales employees. Clear targets for DSO (days sales outstand-
ing) support the company in prioritizing and systematically reducing its receivables.  

In monthly business performance reviews, the management monitors target achievement for all 
key management figures and implementation of the relevant target achievement action plans. 

Strategic opportunities and challenges 
Wolford’s objective as a company is to generate profitable growth and thus sustainably in-

crease its value. The quality of Wolford’s products, its sustainable production activities, and its loyal 
customer base – these are undeniable assets for the company. In recent years, Wolford has made 
efforts to boost its core competencies and power of innovation and to revitalize its brand. It is not by 
chance that Wolford is one of the 100 highest-revenue global luxury brands listed in Deloitte’s 
current report “Global Power of Luxury Goods” (2017). 

Typical Wolford customers are self-confident, often have careers of their own, and speak two or 
more languages. They expect to feel the same exclusivity wherever they come into contact with the 
brand. Substantial investments, particularly in designing our own boutiques, are needed to ensure an 
optimal impression at the point of sale. In the 2016/17 financial year, Wolford developed an entirely 
new store concept and tested this at its proprietary boutique on Berlin’s Kurfürstendamm. The revenue 
growth of around 13% reported since the store was opened in September 2016 offers strong 
evidence of the potential in this new concept. At present, however, Wolford is unable to make the 
investments needed to roll out this new store concept using its own resources. 

Wolford also has to continue investing in its online business, especially in its online marketing 
activities and in linking its online business to other distribution channels. This is an area in which the 
company has already made some progress in recent years. Visitor numbers at large city locations 
are falling consistently and luxury good and fashion manufacturers face the challenge of offering a 
seamless omni-channel shopping experience to match their customers’ increasingly “smart” shopping 
patterns. 

The challenges presented by the market are accompanied by in-house challenges. Having 
evolved over 67 years, the company’s organizational structures are still overly complex and costly, a 
factor further exacerbated by the excessive complexity of the IT infrastructure. To cover costs if these 
structures were to remain as they are, group revenues would have to be around 25% higher. It is 
clear that growth on this scale is not feasible in the current market, even if Wolford further optimizes 
its market presence. 

Against this backdrop, the management is currently focusing on cutting costs by systematically 
reorganizing the company’s structures and processes. Achieving profitability based on the company’s 
current level of revenues – that is the important milestone for now. 

 

 

Revenues and EBITDA as key 
management figures 

New store concept offers 
potential 

Costly organizational structures 
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To this end, Wolford launched Project NOW at the beginning of 2016 and began implement-
ing key parts of the program in the 2016/17 financial year. One of these is the decision to focus all 
European sales activities in Bregenz. Rather than maintaining independent sales and marketing 
functions with corresponding administrative structures at nine locations across Europe, the company 
now has one platform performing these activities for the EMEA region. This supplements the existing 
sales and marketing platforms in the U.S. and Asia. In parallel, Wolford has centralized its interna-
tional customer service at its Antwerp location. 

Furthermore, Project NOW also involves the process, now largely completed, of relocating 
manual activities to Slovenia, a country with more favorable cost structures, as well as initial 
measures to restructure processes at Wolford’s headquarters. The company has streamlined its 
development structures, for example, and reduced the number of prototypes. Not only that, it is 
currently introducing a new corporate marketing structure. Alongside these measures, the company 
plans to introduce new product packaging that is less costly to produce, and also has medium-term 
plans to insource the online business logistics processes currently performed by two external 
partners. The company also intends to reorganize its market presence in China in the medium term. 
Here, Wolford plans to rely on partners in the future and to agree to a master franchise arrangement 
comparable to the solution in place in Russia. 

Building on Project NOW, at the beginning of 2017 Wolford defined further restructuring 
measures for the second phase. A single-digit number of retail locations is under review, while the 
rental agreements at 17 proprietary retail locations are to be renegotiated. Wolford is currently 
checking stocks at its proprietary boutiques and, where necessary, redistributing these in line with 
requirements, such as increasing product depth or reducing stock holdings at individual boutiques. 
Furthermore, structures and processes at the company’s headquarters are now being scrutinized on 
a systematic basis. For this, Wolford has also drawn on external advice since the end of July 2017. 

The Business Environment  
The global economy grew by 3.1% in the 2016 calendar year, a period which included the 

first eight months of Wolford’s past financial year. Global growth was thus at the same level as in the 
previous year. Following a rather weak first half, the global economy gained new momentum, 
especially in emerging economies, in the second half of the year. Economic developments were 
facilitated not least by persistently favorable financing conditions and a recovery in labor markets 
across Europe. Overall, however, global GDP (gross domestic product) growth still fell short of pre-
crisis levels. 

The euro area, where Wolford generates around 75% of its revenues, generated economic 
growth of 1.7% in 2016, as against 1.5% in the previous year. This improvement was chiefly driven by 
rising private consumer spending in countries including Germany. Overall, private consumer spending 
grew by around 2% in the euro area, a development supported not least by low interest rates.  

In Germany, Wolford’s second-largest market, GDP grew by 1.8% in 2016. In the U.K., the 
outcome of the referendum on leaving the EU created uncertainty initially, but the direct impact on 
the economy and financial markets then proved to be marginal: GDP here also rose by 1.8%. Spain 
reported GDP growth of 3.2%, while the French and Italian economies grew by 1.2% and 0.9% 
respectively. 

Despite strong development in the services sector, economic growth in the U.S. came to just 
1.5% in 2016, down from 2.4% one year earlier. Among other factors, this was due to the weak-
ness of U.S. exports in the final quarter of 2016. China’s GDP growth continued to slow down, from 
6.8% in the previous year to 6.7% in 2016. 

Reorganization of processes 

Slight upturn in the euro area 
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In the first four months of 2017, i.e., the final third of Wolford’s financial year, GDP in the euro 
area grew by 0.5% (previous year: 0.6%). Germany reported growth of 0.6%, as against 0.7% in 
the previous year. Growth in the U.S., by contrast, came to a mere 0.2%, this being due, among 
other factors, to weak private consumer spending. 

The European textile retail sector witnessed another weak year in 2016. Fashion retailers in 
France and Belgium continued to feel the aftereffects of the terrorist attacks and reported revenue 
decreases of 2.7% and 3.2% respectively. In the U.K., the approaching departure from the Europe-
an Union created uncertainty. Sector revenues here fell by 2%. Germany also reported a 2% 
reduction in textile retail revenues. This was due not least to a heatwave in the late summer and to 
Christmas revenues persisting at the previous year’s level despite substantial discounts of up to 70%. 
Italy was the only country to report rising retail fashion revenues, albeit at a weak level of 0.7%, 
achieved in spite of rising unemployment. 

The European fashion and textile retail sector continued to post weak growth in the first months 
of 2017 as well, with Italy once again the only country able to increase its three-month sector 
revenues, in this case by 1.8%. Apart from surprisingly positive developments in March (+9%), 
fashion retail revenues in Germany continued to decline in the first three months (January: -7%; 
February: -9%), while France also reported a negative trend (January – March: -1.1%). The down-
turn in the German fashion retail sector continued in April as well, with a -7% reduction in revenues. 
Not only that, the number of customers visiting stores also declined further in this key market, with 
German retailers reporting a 7.1% downturn in customer visits in the first quarter of 2017. 

Sources: IMF, European Central Bank, TextilWirtschaft-Testclub, Federal Statistical Office of Germany (Statistisches 

Bundesamt), Eurostat, Institut Français de la Mode, Handelsblatt, FashionUnited, finanzen.net  

Financial Review 
Earnings 

The Wolford Group generated revenues of € 154.28 million in the 2016/17 financial year. 
Revenues thus fell 5.0% short of the equivalent figure for the previous year (€ 162.40 million). 
Excluding exchange rate movements, the reduction in revenues came to 4.1%. The overall impact of 
movements in exchange rates, especially in the British pound and Swiss franc, amounted to 
€ 1.5 million in the past financial year.  

The decline in revenues was mainly due to the weak first half of the year. This period was af-
fected on the one hand by difficult market conditions. In the key German market, for example, 
turnover at textile retailers witnessed a double-digit fall in some cases in the late summer of 2016. 
This factor was exacerbated, on the other hand, by internal problems concerning requirements and 
sales planning. These difficulties resulted not least from overly hasty restructuring of merchandise 
management activities in the Retail business. This, along with delays in deliveries for the au-
tumn/winter collection, meant that Wolford did not have sufficient merchandise, or enough fresh 
merchandise, available at its points of sale in the period from May to October 2016. This led to a 
substantial loss of revenues, as well as to costly follow-up production and increased stock holdings. 

In the second half of the year, Wolford managed to compensate for only part of this loss in 
sales. Some of the revenues lost due to delayed deliveries were made up in the third quarter, but 
revenues in the important Christmas season failed to exceed the previous year’s level. Revenues for 
the fourth quarter rose year-on-year by 4.5% to € 35.2 million, with this growth being partly driven 
by numerous special sales campaigns in France in particular.  

Fashion retail performs weakly 
in key markets 
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Wolford’s proprietary locations (proprietary boutiques, concession shop-in-shops, and factory 
outlets) reported a € 6.01 million (-5.7%) reduction in revenues in the past financial year. On a like-
for-like basis (i.e., excluding locations newly opened or closed) the decline in revenues came 
to -3.8%. Revenues in the wholesale business decreased by € 2.5 million (-4.2%). By contrast, the 
proprietary online business showed further growth and increased its revenues year-on-year by 
€ 0.63 million (+5.1%). 

 

Regional revenues, which were influenced in some cases by exchange rate movements, devel-
oped as follows in the 2016/17 financial year: Revenues in the U.K., which were affected by the 
Brexit referendum and the depreciation in the British pound, fell by 17%. Weak revenues were also 
reported in the key markets of the U.S. (-4%), Germany (-6%), and Austria (-2%), as well as in Italy 
(-3%), Scandinavia (-9%), the Netherlands (-4%), and Belgium (-6%). Revenues rose, by contrast, in 
Spain (+1%) and above all in France (+6%), where the significant revenue growth was driven, 
among other factors, by a higher volume of sales campaigns on internet sales platforms. Revenues 
developed negatively in Asia (-14%) and in Central and Eastern Europe (-8%). 

With a 53% share of revenues, and thus unchanged on the previous year, Legwear once 
again accounted for more than half of consolidated revenues in the 2016/17 financial year. 
Revenues in this product group declined by 6% compared with the previous year. Ready-to-wear, 
where revenues fell 4% short of the previous year, remained the second-largest product group, with 
a 29% share of revenues. The Lingerie product group accounted for 15% of consolidated revenues 
(2015/16: 14%) and also reported a 4% drop in revenues. Trading good revenues (1% of reve-
nues) fell by 3% compared with the previous year, while Accessories (2% of consolidated revenues) 
reported a substantial double-digit downturn of -27%.  

* Adjusted (see Section II of the Notes). 

R E VE NUE  DE V EL OPMENT  BY QU AR TE R ( IN  € MI L L . )
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  2016/17 2015/16*

Profitability indicators in % in %

Materials cost (including changes in inventories) as a percentage of revenue 16.9 14.1

Staff costs as a percentage of revenue 48.7 45.5

Other operating expenses as a percentage of revenue 37.3 36.7

EBITDA margin -2.2 5.2

Capital expenditure to depreciation 54.5 64.6

EBIT margin -10.2 -1.8
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The internal problems with requirements and sales planning also led to higher inventories in 
the past financial year. These rose by € 1.56 million to € 49.39 million. Furthermore, the cost of 
materials rose year-on-year by € 0.25 million to € 27.63 million, a development also reflected in the 
deterioration in the materials cost ratio (including changes in inventories) by 2.8 percentage points.  

Staff costs rose by € 1.35 million to € 75.21 million (2015/16: € 73.86 million). This was 
due to provisions and to compensation payments already made in connection with the introduction 
of the centralized EMEA sales platform. The staff cost ratio showed a corresponding deterioration of 
3.2 percentage points. Initial measures intended to streamline administrative structures in Bregenz 
led to a reduction in the average number of employees (full-time equivalents) by 27 to 1,544 
(average for 2015/16: 1,571 employees). 

Depreciation and amortization of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment, which 
rose to € 12.33 million (2015/16: € 11.30 million; adjusted), clearly left their mark on the results for 
the past financial year. 

Explanation: The Wolford Group’s consolidated financial statements as of 30 April 2016 and 
its half-year financial reports as of 31 October 2015 and 31 October 2016 were selected for a 
random audit review by the Austrian Financial Reporting Enforcement Panel (AFREP) and reviewed 
pursuant to § 2 (1) No. 2 of the Austrian Accounting Inspection Act (audit without particular 
cause). In the consolidated financial statements as of 30 April 2016, the assumptions underlying 
the cash flow forecasts referred to when determining the values in use for IAS 36 impairment test 
purposes were erroneous. Furthermore, the cash flow statement for the period from May 1, 2015 
to April 30, 2016, included erroneous information in several detailed items (e.g., due to netting). 
Errors from earlier periods are adjusted retrospectively. These retrospective adjustments did not 
have any implications for the information presented in the opening balance sheet for the previous 
period (May 1, 2015). The implications of these retrospective adjustments for individual line items 
are presented in the notes to the consolidated financial statements (Section II Adjustments pursuant 
to IAS 8). 

The depreciation and amortization of € 12.33 million recognized for the 2016/17 financial 
year include impairment losses of € 1.97 million resulting from the impairment tests performed on 
several underperforming boutiques at locations in Austria, Germany, France, Italy, Spain, the U.S., 
Canada, Shanghai, and Macau. These one-off write-downs are also indirectly linked to the 
downturn in revenues in the past financial year. 

Other operating expenses include one-off items of € 3.92 million. Alongside the derecogni-
tion of a previously capitalized customs refund of € 0.82 million in the U.S., these also include 
provisions of € 0.93 million for a legal dispute with a former partner in Switzerland, and 
€ 0.90 million for a contractual penalty due to failure to meet sales target agreements with Hermes.  

The loss in revenues as well as the aforementioned one-off items are clearly reflected in the 
company’s operating earnings in the past financial year: EBITDA (earnings before interest, tax, 
depreciation and amortization) amounted to € -3.39 million, as against € 8.38 million one year 
earlier. As outlined above, the previous year’s figure (originally communicated at € 11.01 million) 
was retrospectively adjusted. 

Given the high volume of special write-downs and the one-off items outlined above, EBIT came 
to € -15.72 million, as against € -2.92 million in 2015/16 (adjusted). In the previous year, EBIT still 
benefited by € 1.12 million from the sale of rental apartments (located in Hard) not required for 
operations. 

 

Random audit review by AFREP 
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The financial result showed a marginal improvement from € -0.93 million to € -0.86 million. 
Earnings before tax therefore came to € -16.57 million, as against € -3.85 million (adjusted) in the 
previous year. Income tax amounted to € -1.31 million (2015/16: € -6.81 million). In the previous 
year, deferred taxes of € 6.53 million were reversed because there were no substantial indications 
that they would be usable. Earnings after tax totaled € -17.88 million (2015/16: € -10.66 million; 
adjusted), while earnings per share came to € -3.64 (2015/16: € -2.17; adjusted).  

* Adjusted (see Section II of the Notes). 

Assets 
At € 138.39 million, total assets at the Wolford Group as of the balance sheet date (April 30, 

2017) were slightly higher than the previous year’s figure (€ 137.47 million). On the equity and 
liabilities side of the balance sheet, by contrast, equity fell significantly due to the substantial loss 
incurred in the 2016/17 financial year. This was accompanied by a significant year-on-year 
increase in financial liabilities, as the company was obliged to make increasing use of bank credit 
lines on account of its negative results.   

Non-current assets amounted to € 61.49 million at the balance sheet date, corresponding to 
44% of total assets (2015/16: 50%*). Property, plant and equipment and other intangible assets 
fell by 9% to € 56.23 million. In the past financial year, Wolford invested € 6.72 million in property, 
plant and equipment and intangible assets (2015/16: € 7.30 million), with these investments being 
channeled into, among other areas, the new concept for the flagship stores in Berlin and Shanghai, 
the new store in Macau, and a new software for the B2C and B2B distribution channels. Further 
investments related to the showroom in Dusseldorf and the introduction of 3D/silicon technology. 
These investments were countered, as outlined above, by depreciation and amortization of 
€ 12.33 million (2015/2016: € 11.30 million*).  

Current assets accounted for 56% of total assets as of April 30, 2017 (2015/16: 50%). As a 
result of the problems variously referred to above in respect of requirements and sales planning, 
inventories rose by 3% to € 49.39 million, or 36% of total assets. Trade receivables increased by 
28% to € 11.19 million, or 8% of total assets. Cash and cash equivalents totaled € 10.31 million at 
the balance sheet date (2015/16: € 3.87 million). 

Earnings after tax of € -17.88 
million  

    

Income Statement (summary)  

in € mill. 2016/17 2015/16* Chg. in %

Revenues 154.28 162.40 -5

Other operating income 0.95 2.30 -59

Changes in inventories 1.58 4.40 -64

Other own work capitalized 0.14 0.09 +56

Operating output 156.95 169.19 -7

Cost of materials -27.63 -27.38 +1

Staff costs -75.22 -73.86 +2

Other operating expenses -57.49 -59.57 -3

Depreciation and amortization -12.33 -11.30 +9

EBIT   -15.72 -2.92 > 100

Financial result -0.86 -0.93 +8

Earnings before tax -16.57 -3.85 > 100

Income tax -1.31 -6.81 -81

Earnings after tax -17.88 -10.66 +68
    

Increase in inventories 
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Shareholders’ equity at the Wolford Group amounted to € 44.88 million at the balance sheet 
date (April 30, 2017) and thus fell € 18.94 million short of the comparative figure in the previous 
year, a development due above all to negative earnings after tax. The equity ratio amounted to 32% 
as of the balance sheet date (previous year: 46%*).  

Non-current liabilities showed a marginal reduction of 4% from € 21.92 million to 
€ 21.08 million, equivalent to 15% of total assets (2015/16: 16%*).   

* Adjusted (see Section II of the Notes). 

Current liabilities, by contrast, rose year-on-year by 40% to € 71.42 million (2015/16: 
€ 51.73 million*). This was mainly due to current financial liabilities, which grew by 
€ 17.59 million given the company’s need to draw on bank credit lines. Due above all to the 
increase in inventories, working capital (defined as the sum of inventories, trade receivables, and 
other receivables and assets, less trade payables and other current liabilities) rose to 
€ 45.73 million at the balance sheet date (2015/16: € 43.15 million). Net debt grew year-on-
year by € 10.41 million to € 31.27 million, leading to gearing (net debt/equity ratio) of 70%.   

 

D E V E L O P M E N T  O F B A L A N C E S H E E T S T R U C T U R E ( I N  € M I L L . )
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Balance sheet indicators     30.04.2017 30.04.2016*

Equity   in € mill. 44.88 63.81

Net debt   in € mill. 31.27 20.86

Working capital   in € mill. 45.73 43.15

Balance sheet total   in € mill. 138.39 137.47

Equity ratio   in % 32.4 46.4

Gearing   in % 69.7 32.7

Working capital as a percentage of revenue   in % 29.6 26.6

Net debt to EBITDA     -9.2 2.5
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* Adjusted (see Section II of the Notes). 

On account of the losses incurred, the company has breached the requirements of existing 
loan agreements and classified the relevant financial liabilities as current. 

To secure its liquidity, in July 2017 the company agreed a financing arrangement with a con-
sortium of banks. This is limited until the end of June 2018 and is subject to various terms and 
conditions, the fulfilment of which is dependent on future events. These conditions specifically include 
the initiation of an investor identification process with the objective of obtaining a significant equity 
injection by the end of June 2018. 

Furthermore, upon agreement of the financing arrangement the company was obliged to pro-
vide extensive security (global assignment of all receivables, pledging of machinery and all proper-
ties, as well as of intellectual property). 

Although the Management Board currently expects all terms and conditions to be successfully 
met, the fact that this also depends on circumstances beyond the company’s control means that 
substantial uncertainties remain. These may also involve a residual risk (especially for the period 
following expiry of the financing arrangement at the end of June 2018) in terms of the Group’s 
ability to uphold its business operations. 

Cash flow  
At € -1.70 million, the cash flow from operating activities (operating cash flow) was signifi-

cantly lower than in the previous year. This was chiefly due to the lower level of earnings before 
tax and the increase in working capital. At € 49.39 million (2015/16: € 47.84 million), the high 
volume of inventories resulted from the company’s internal difficulties with requirements and sales 
planning. A certain amount of lead time is required between materials procurement and produc-
tion. This led to a delay in the company adjusting its processes to the significantly lower sales 
figures in the financial year under report. 

The cash flow from investing activities came to € 6.51 million in the period under report and was 
thus slightly (€ 0.57 million) higher than the previous year’s figure. In the year under report, 
Wolford mainly channeled its investments into the new store concept in Berlin and Shanghai, as 
well as into new software for its B2C and B2B distribution channels. Further investments related to 
the showroom in Dusseldorf and 3D/silicon technology. 

 

 

 

 

    

Calculation of  30.04.2017 30.04.2016 Chg.

Net debt in € mill. in € mill. in %

Non-current financial liabilities 0.21 0.98 -79

Current financial liabilities 42.65 25.06 +70

- Financial assets -1.28 -1.31 -2

- Cash on hand and cash equivalents -10.31 -3.87 > 100

Net debt 31.27 20.86 +50
    

Operating cash flow significantly 
down on previous year 
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As a result, the free cash flow (cash flow from operating activities less cash flow from investing 
activities) fell from € -2.98 million to € -9.45 million. 

The cash flow from financing activities showed a substantial increase of € 14.05 million to 
€ 15.84 million in the period under report. This was due above all to the company’s earnings 
performance and its correspondingly higher level of bank credit line utilization. 

* Adjusted (see Section II of the Notes). 

Development of Business Segments 
Consistent with the requirements of IFRS 8 (Management Approach), Wolford AG reports on 

the following business segments: 

– Austria 
– Rest of Europe 
– North America 
– Asia  

Austria 
External revenues in the Austria segment (revenues less intragroup revenues) showed a mar-

ginal reduction from € 33.41 million to € 33.00 million in the period under report. This segment 
includes the production and sales activities in Austria and all other countries in which Wolford does 
not have any proprietary subsidiaries. The Austria segment contributed 21% of consolidated 
revenues (2015/16: 21%). EBIT amounted to € -13.33 million, as against € 4.36 million in the 
previous financial year. Alongside the negative earnings performance, this year-on-year variance 
was mainly due to charges incurred in connection with the restructuring program now underway. 

Rest of Europe 
External revenues at the companies in the Rest of Europe segment decreased from 

€ 89.63 million to € 83.95 million. This segment includes the European sales companies outside 
Austria and the production company in Slovenia. Rest of Europe contributed 54%, and thus the 
largest share of consolidated revenues (2015/16: 55%). EBIT came to € 1.96 million, as against 
€ -0.34 million in the previous year. This was due above all to the lower cost of materials resulting 
from the new transfer pricing policy. 

North America  
External revenues at the group companies in the North America segment declined from 

€ 31.93 million to € 30.90 million. This segment, which comprises the sales companies in the U.S. 
and Canada, contributed 20% of consolidated revenues (2015/16: 20%). The U.S. market generat-
ed the highest revenues of all sales companies within the Wolford Group in the past financial year.  

    

Cash Flow Statement  2016/17 2015/16* Chg.

(summary) in € mill. in € mill. in %

Net cash flow from operating activities -2.94 2.96 > 100

Cash flow from investing activities -6.51 -5.94 +10

Free cash flow -9.45 -2.98 > 100

Cash flow from financing activities 15.84 1.79 > 100

Change in cash and cash equivalents 6.40 -1.19 > 100

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 10.31 3.87 > 100
    

Austria segment posts 
significantly negative EBIT   

EBIT in Rest of Europe segment 
up on previous year   

EBIT in North America segment 
with adjusted previous year’s 
figures   
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EBIT amounted to € -0.67 million, as against the previous year’s figure which was originally 
communicated at € -0.51 million but has now been adjusted to € -4.98 million. The cash flow 
forecasts referred to for impairment tests in the U.S., which had assumed substantial revenue growth, 
have now been adjusted to slight revenue growth. This led to a retrospective impairment requirement 
of € 1.84 million for the 2015/16 financial year. This was accompanied by a provision, also 
recognized retrospectively for the 2015/16 financial year, for pending losses in connection with 
rental agreements in the U.S. (€ 2.63 million). Together, these items reduced the previous year’s EBIT 
by € 4.47 million.  

Asia  
At € 6.43 million, external revenues at the companies in the Asia segment fell short of the pre-

vious year’s figure of € 7.44 million. This segment, which includes the sales companies in Hong 
Kong and China, accounted for 4% of consolidated revenues (2015/16: 5%). Due above all to one-
off write-downs at several weak-performing boutiques in Shanghai and Macau, as well as to higher 
other operating expenses, EBIT in this segment fell from € -0.9 million to € -3.35 million.  

Outlook and Goals 
The first half of 2017 witnessed a revival in global trading volumes and an improvement in the 

economic outlook for the euro area and the U.S., and that despite the weak first quarter in the 
United States. China has also reported more stable growth once again. Based on a forecast issued 
in June, the OECD, for example, expects the global economy to grow by 3.5% in 2017. It has 
therefore raised its forecast slightly since the beginning of the year. 

Following a difficult year in 2016, the market for personal luxury goods has also shown initial 
signs of recovery in 2017. Strategy consultants at Bain & Company and Altagamma, the association 
of the Italian luxury goods industry, expect to see full-year growth of 2% to 4% in 2017, with this 
growth being driven not least by an improvement in consumer confidence in Europe.  

Underlying conditions, particularly for the fashion retail sector, are nevertheless set to remain 
difficult for the foreseeable future. According to the consumer research company GfK, revenues in 
the German textile and fashion market, for example, fell by 3.2% in May and then by 0.9% in June. 
Following an exceptionally weak June (-8.9%), the Paris-based Institut Français de la Mode also 
expects to see a weak performance in 2017, with French textile apparel providers reporting a 
reduction of around 1.4% in their first-half revenues. 

Furthermore, retailers across Europe have complained about declining numbers of customers 
visiting their stationary stores, a development also to be viewed in connection with consumers’ fear 
of terrorist attacks. Based on an analysis compiled by ShopperTrak, walk-in customer totals in 
Germany declined by 3.1% between July 2016 and June 2017. In the first quarter of 2017 alone, 
the number of off-the-street customers at German stores fell by 7.1%, with a similar trend being 
reported for Italy (-3.6%), the U.K. (-2.7%), and France (-1.9%). According to investment bank Credit 
Suisse, at least 8,600 retail stores in the U.S. are set to close their doors this year, one third of these 
with product ranges featuring fashion items. 

Wolford itself was able to increase its currency-adjusted revenues by around 3% in the first 
three months of its current financial year (May to July 2017). This growth is nevertheless based on 
the weak performance in the previous year’s period. Given the market conditions outlined above, 
the management expects only very slight year-on-year revenue growth for the current financial year. 
A time line of two years is envisaged for the implementation of the planned restructuring measures to 
improve the company’s earnings. The measures will also only take full effect in the 2018/19 
financial year. 
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Against this backdrop, Wolford still expects to generate negative operating earnings in the 
2017/18 financial year. Having reached a corresponding agreement with its long-standing bank 
partners, the company’s financing for the current financial year is now secure. Wolford expects to 
generate positive operating earnings once again from the 2018/19 financial year. 

The management is actively supporting the process initiated by the principal shareholders to 
identify parties interested in taking over their majority interest. The acquisition of the equity package 
by a future core shareholder should also involve an equity measure to boost the company’s liquidity 
in the medium and long term. This measure should assist the company in accelerating the expansion 
of its online marketing, as well in gradually rolling out the new store concept designed in the past 
financial year.  

Sources: TextilWirtschaft, Institut Français de la Mode, Bain & Company, German Federal Ministry for Economic Affairs and 

Energy (BMWI) 

Events After the Balance Sheet Date 
On June 9, 2017, Wolford’s principal shareholder group, comprising the WMP private family 

foundation, the Sesam private foundation, their joint subsidiary M. Erthal & Co. Beteiligungsgesell-
schaft m.b.H., and closely related natural persons announced their intention to sell their majority 
interest in Wolford AG. To this end, the shareholders have initiated an investor selection process that 
is being supported by the management of Wolford AG. The acquisition of an equity package by a 
future core shareholder should be linked to an equity measure that sustainably boosts the company’s 
liquidity.  

On July 5, 2017, Wolford announced that Ashish Sensarma, CEO of Wolford AG since Janu-
ary 2015, would be standing down from the company’s Management Board as of July 31, 2017. 
Axel Dreher, previously Deputy CEO, has been appointed as CEO as of August 1, 2017, and now 
has additional responsibility for strategy, marketing, and sales. The Supervisory Board of Wol-
ford AG has also appointed Brigitte Kurz, previously head of the finance department, to the 
Management Board, in this case also as of August 1, 2017. She will take over the function of Chief 
Financial Officer (CFO) from Axel Dreher and will also assume Board responsibility for human 
resources, IT, legal affairs, and investor relations. The tasks of COO, with Board responsibility for 
development, production, and logistics, will continue to be performed by Axel Dreher. 

On July 11, 2017, Wolford AG communicated by ad-hoc announcement that it had agreed 
with its Austrian banking partners to extend its credit lines through to June 30, 2018, as well as a 
bridge financing facility of up to € 10 million to cover peak seasonal liquidity requirements. The 
company has therefore secured its financing for the current financial year. 

Risk Management 
Wolford AG is exposed to a variety of risks in connection with its global business operations. 

For Wolford, effective risk management is a key success factor in ensuring the company’s sustainable 
success and creating shareholder value. Alongside potential negative deviations from targets, risks 
are also seen as including any failure to realize potential profits and exploit potential opportunities. 
The objective of our risk management is to identify and utilize opportunities in a systematic manner 
and to detect risks at an early stage and implement suitable measures to counter these risks and 
thereby minimize deviations from targets.  
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Meeting the above-mentioned objectives requires that opportunities and risks be identified, 
evaluated, managed, and monitored – steps that are regularly performed within our opportunity and 
risk management process. The risks assessed in prior periods are updated by Wolford’s top man-
agement at least once a year. The risks thereby identified are ranked in terms of their probability of 
occurrence and potential damage, with the largest risks being analyzed in detail. The measures 
designed on the basis of this analysis are implemented by the management, a process led by the 
relevant risk manager involving periodic follow-up measures and status reporting.  

One key instrument used by the company to limit potential risks and their consequences in-
volves taking out suitable insurance policies. Wolford AG has an extensive range of international 
insurance programs providing strong coverage. Among others, these include all-risk asset and 
business interruption insurance, various liability insurance policies, D&O insurance, travel and 
accident insurance, cyber risk and fidelity insurance, and credit insurance. These policies are 
centrally monitored and managed to ensure optimal damage coverage at all times and to make sure 
that the amount of the deductible selected is in keeping with the corporate strategy. The most 
important instruments used to monitor and manage risks are planning and controlling processes and 
group-wide guidelines, as well as ongoing reporting and forecasting. In the interests of risk avoid-
ance and management, risks are deliberately only entered into in the operating business and are 
always analyzed in relation to the potential gains. In particular, speculative activities outside the 
scope of normal business operations are prohibited. Risks beyond the scope of the company’s 
operating activities, such as financial risks, are monitored by Wolford AG and hedged as required.  

Based on its current assessment, the Wolford Group is not exposed to any individual risks with 
a significant probability of occurrence which could endanger its continued existence. The main risks 
are described in greater detail below.  

Market, production and price risks  
The business performance of companies in the fashion industry is dependent above all on con-

sumer sentiment, a factor that is closely correlated with economic developments in the respective 
countries. New concepts have been developed in order to improve the performance of the whole-
sale business, which has declined in recent years. At the same time, Wolford AG is also working to 
further optimize its own retail locations, at which the company has been consistently able to 
generate revenue growth in the past years. To reduce the risk of losses, poorly performing locations 
have been and are being closed, while new proprietary points of sale will in the future only be 
opened in strategically important cities and top locations. Any weakness in the macroeconomic 
climate and resultant decline in demand would increase the risk of idle capacities and uncovered 
fixed costs, especially considering the medium and long-term rental agreements concluded. This may 
lead to pressure on prices and make it necessary to adjust retail prices in response. In the 2016/17 
financial year, Wolford was only able to partially offset cost inflation with price increases. To 
minimize the impact of these risks on earnings, Wolford continually evaluates capacity utilization 
rates and adjusts these where necessary in line with market requirements.  

Wolford competes directly with other brands in its various product segments and is therefore 
exposed to substitution risk. The company is working to minimize price risks by positioning itself 
even more clearly as the quality leader for legwear and other figure-embracing products and by 
developing new creative and functional products.  

 

 

 

Extensive insurance programs 

Optimization of proprietary retail 
locations  



 
 

 

  

 M A N A G E M E N T  R E P OR T  

PA G E S  5 2  –  5 3  

 

One risk that is currently difficult to assess relates to the increasing number of terrorist attacks 
in European capital cities. This situation, which has considerable implications for our customers’ 
shopping patterns, is being closely monitored on an ongoing basis. 

To minimize the risk of production stoppages, the potential dangers posed by natural hazards 
(flooding, heavy rain, lightning, gales, etc.) are addressed by implementing extensive technical and 
organizational measures. A business continuity concept has been developed and is now being 
gradually implemented to address possible emergencies, with key protective measures now already 
in place. 

Financial risks 
The main financial risks faced by the company are insufficient liquidity and financing. Accord-

ingly, two key priorities for Wolford AG are to ensure the availability of sufficient liquidity and to 
maintain and safeguard a strong capital base. To this end, Wolford AG has reached an agreement 
with its financing banks which secures an adequate financing framework for the current financial 
year. To reduce default risk on trade receivables, Wolford AG has been working with two credit 
insurance companies for many years now. Liquidity risk is monitored by regular financial planning 
carried out by the treasury department at Wolford AG. 

In addition to liquidity risk, the Group is exposed to currency and interest rate risks. Wolford 
manufactures all of its products in the euro area and markets them around the world. The company’s 
main foreign currencies are the U.S. dollar, Swiss franc, British pound, Danish crown, and Hong 
Kong dollar. The goal is to hedge around 50% of the free cash flow from foreign currencies with 
foreign currency forwards in order to minimize the effects of exchange rate fluctuations on group 
equity and to improve budgeting reliability.  

Wolford’s objectives in respect of managing capital risk are on the one hand to safeguard the 
company’s continued existence and on the other hand to maintain a cost-optimized capital structure. 
The company’s articles do not stipulate any minimum capital requirements.  

Procurement risks  
To manage quality and supply risks in its procurement of materials, semi-finished and finished 

goods, Wolford AG has implemented extensive quality management procedures along the entire 
supply chain and also carries out on-site supplier inspections. The quality management department, 
for example, regularly performs supplier quality assurance (SQA) audits at all major suppliers. 
Efficient procurement management also involves systematic supplier development and regular 
supplier evaluations. For Wolford, yarns and fabrics are particularly important resources for the 
production process. The company counters the risk of supply shortages or price increases for its 
main materials by continuously monitoring the situation on the relevant markets, specifying procure-
ment prices at an early stage and concluding long-term supply contracts. Wolford AG therefore also 
selects key suppliers and development partners with which it aims to establish long-term coopera-
tions. A major share of the required quantities of key yarns has already been secured for 2017/18. 
The prices of synthetic fibers track listed crude oil prices and have fluctuated significantly in recent 
years. The company identifies and establishes relationships with substitute suppliers in good time 
should any material supplier be in any way at economic risk. This requires flexible and timely 
management in the procurement process.  

Early planning is required to manage the very long lead times for textile materials that result 
from the complex production process. Wolford counters the risks of material shortages by limiting the 
pre-order phase and by applying extensive planning and management systems to its sales and 
production operations. The avoidance of surplus production is a further key management focus in 
this respect and is an area that receives ongoing attention.  
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Legal risks 
The company has taken out insurance policies to provide protection against specific liability 

risks and damages claims. The coverage offered by these policies is regularly reviewed and aims to 
achieve an optimal balance in economic terms between maximum risk and the insurance premiums. 
Based on both internal and external consultations, the management makes decisions to effectively 
counteract the risks arising from the diverse range of tax, competition, patent, antitrust, and envi-
ronmental regulations and laws. Consistent adherence to all applicable requirements and the 
supervision and management of employees in their handling of risks are part of the basic responsi-
bilities of all group managers.  

INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM 
The Management Board is responsible for designing and implementing an internal control and 

risk management system in respect of the financial reporting process for and ensuring compliance with 
all legal requirements. From an organizational perspective, Wolford AG is responsible for the financial 
reporting of the Wolford Group. The group consolidation department (responsible for external 
reporting) and group controlling department (responsible for internal reporting) report directly to the 
Chief Financial Officer of Wolford AG.  

The processes underlying group accounting and reporting are based on an accounting manual 
that is published by Wolford AG and updated on a regular basis. This manual contains uniform key 
accounting and reporting requirements based on IFRS for the overall Group. Specifically, these 
include the accounting and reporting principles for non-current assets, trade receivables and accruals, 
financial instruments and provisions, as well as the reconciliation of deferred tax assets and liabilities.  

The regular impairment testing of goodwill and groups of assets attributed to the individual cash-
generating units (CGUs) is performed in accordance with applicable IFRS requirements. The recording, 
posting and recognition of all transactions at the Group is handled by standard software solutions. 
Only in China and Hong Kong are accounting processes outsourced to local tax advisors. The 
subsidiaries submit monthly reporting packages that contain all relevant accounting data for the income 
statement, balance sheet and cash flow statement. This data is entered into the central consolidation 
system, where it is verified at group level by the group consolidation and group controlling depart-
ments and forms the basis for the IFRS quarterly reports issued by the Wolford Group.  

Internal management reporting is based on a standard planning and reporting software solution, 
with automatic interfaces used to transfer actual data from the primary systems. A standardized 
process is used to enter the figures for forecasts. Reporting is structured by region and company. In 
addition to the reports on the company’s operating earnings performance for the preceding month, in 
the 2016/17 financial year Wolford AG also introduced a rolling full-year forecast.  

Together with the quarterly performance data, the financial information referred to above forms 
the basis for Management Board reporting to the Supervisory Board. The Supervisory Board is 
provided with information on the company’s business performance at regular meetings. This infor-
mation is based on consolidated figures, which cover segment reporting, earnings performance figures 
with budget/actual comparisons, forecasts, consolidated financial statements, data on personnel totals 
and order intake, and select key financial figures. 
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INTERNAL AUDIT 
The internal audit function1 ensures compliance with the principles of corporate governance 

and the company’s internal control system (ICS). Based on an annual internal audit plan agreed to 
by the Supervisory Board’s Audit Committee, as well as on a group-wide risk assessment of all 
company activities, the Management Board and internal audit function regularly review operating 
processes in terms of risk management, their effectiveness, and any opportunities to improve 
efficiency. Moreover, the internal audit function monitors compliance with legal requirements, and 
with internal guidelines and processes.  

1 The internal audit department is no longer established as a Management Board staff office. In the context of the 

company restructuring program, its functions have been allocated to other company departments.  

A further activity performed by the internal audit function involves ad-hoc audits focusing on cur-
rent and future risks that are carried out at the request of the management. To support the early 
detection and monitoring of risks resulting from inadequate monitoring systems or fraudulent actions, 
the internal control system implemented at the Wolford Group is regularly assessed by the company 
departments involved by way of self-assessments. Furthermore, the internal control system is revised 
and expanded on an ongoing basis by the internal audit function together with the relevant specialist 
departments. This system is based on the standards defined in the COSO (COSO – Internal Control 
and Enterprise Risk Management Frameworks of the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 
Treadway Commission), a recognized international guideline for internal control procedures. Together 
with the group-wide guidelines and standardized reporting system, it provides management with a 
comprehensive set of tools to analyze and manage the risks involved in all of the company’s business 
activities and to ensure compliance. 

The business unit managers and department heads at Wolford AG, as well as the general 
managers of the individual subsidiaries, are required to evaluate and document compliance with the 
controls defined in the ICS guidelines on the basis of self-assessments. The internal audit function 
subsequently monitors local managers’ compliance with these audit procedures. The results are 
reported to the individual managing directors and, further down the line, to the overall Management 
Board of Wolford AG. The internal audit function reports to the Supervisory Board Audit Committee 
at least once a year on the main conclusions from its risk management analysis as well as on its 
audit findings, relevant implementation activities, and improvement measures for the weaknesses 
identified in the internal control system.  

Reporting plays a key role in the monitoring and control of the economic risks associated with 
operating activities. Furthermore, the control systems in individual company departments are 
reviewed by the external auditor as part of the annual year-end audit. The results of the audit are 
presented to the Management Board and the Audit Committee and are subsequently followed up by 
the management and the internal audit function. 

Research and Development  
Innovation is at the heart of our product development – it boosts our competitiveness and forms 

the basis for our success. The product portfolio is clearly aligned to the company’s core competence 
– the creation of figure-embracing round-knit products, such as legwear and bodies offering great 
comfort and first-class quality. In its lingerie business, Wolford is increasingly relying on cooperation 
with external partners while focusing its own energy on design and quality requirements for select 
suppliers. This process is taking place alongside a systematic reduction in the depth of production 
activities.    
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Wolford has 58 employees (full-time equivalents) working in product development. In the 
2016/17 financial year, the company spent a total of € 6.9 million on development activities 
(2015/16: € 7.4 million). 

One core R&D initiative at Wolford is the development of recyclable products (Cradle to Cra-
dle®) within the smart-textiles industry network. This involves developing legwear and lingerie products 
that are consistent with the biological cycle. The products are made from biologically degradable 
elastane (ROICA™, Asahi Kosei), a modified PES fiber (Infinito®, Lauffenmühle) and Modal® (Len-
zing). Under Wolford’s leadership, a total of 13 companies and research institutes from the Vorarl-
berg region are participating in this COIN (Cooperation Innovation) project supported by the 
Austrian Research Promotion Agency (FFG). As part of this effort, they are manufacturing suitable 
product components or contributing their technical and scientific expertise. Wolford presented the first 
recyclable prototypes (lingerie and legwear) at the Avantex Fair in Paris in February 2017. The first 
Cradle-to-Cradle® tights are due to be launched onto the market with the 2018/19 autumn/winter 
collection.  

One particular focus of our R&D activities in the past financial year was the development of 
new processing technologies and materials. The new beachwear collection, for example, has been 
on the market since April 2017. The fast-drying fabrics and clear cuts in the collection make the 
products in this new line multifunctional – they can be worn as lingerie, swimwear, or beachwear. In 
some cases, these round-knit products also have a body-enhancing function. 

This product line has also made use of innovative 3D printing for the first time. Using this tech-
nology taken from the metal industry, a fine silicon line is sprayed onto the fabric. In bras, for 
example, this line then assumes the function performed by elastic rubber sewn into the edges and 
strap. This makes it possible to spread supportive functions evenly across the product, avoiding nicks 
or pressure spots on the body. Wolford is the first textile company to adopt this kind of 3D printing 
technology. Alongside the Beachwear product line, this process will also be used in the Lingerie and 
Legwear product lines in the future.  

Furthermore, the R&D department is also working to develop completely new processes to 
manufacture so-called Layer 1 textiles (next to the skin) and Layer 2 textiles (dresses, pants, skirts, 
and blazers). These should facilitate the development of a whole new generation of figure-enhancing 
products. The new processes are based on the use of innovative knitting technologies, specially 
developed yarns, and novel fibers. 

One new Wolford product is Pure 30 Complete Support – the world’s first glued tights with 
shape and control functionality. Strong supportive functions in the leg and body section create a 
push-up effect, while the elastane-free toe section makes the tights very comfortable to wear. Thanks 
to the glued seams, the tights remain invisible even under very close-fitting clothing. The Pure line is 
one of Wolford’s most innovative and successful product lines. The company’s gluing technology, 
which has received several awards, was protected by a pan-European patent in 2014.  

Overall, Wolford has registered four patents in Austria and Europe respectively since 2014, of 
which two European patents and three Austrian patents have already been granted. 

Human Resources  
Highly committed employees are crucial to any company’s success. Wolford therefore gives 

high priority to promoting the health of its employees, enhancing their motivation, and boosting their 
identification with the company. New employees are introduced to Wolford’s philosophy, products, 
and structure in a special orientation program offered at corporate headquarters in Bregenz. Wolford 
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had an average of 1,544 employees (full-time equivalents) in the 2016/17 financial year, with 
women making up around 80% of this total. Women also accounted for around 45% of the Wolford 
Group management team (Management Board and managers of relevant divisions across the 
company). An average of 624 employees worked at corporate headquarters. In Bregenz, the 
company currently offers vocational training to 30 apprentices in eight different training vocations.  

Since 1989, Wolford has consistently maintained “state-approved training company” status 
pursuant to § 30a of the Austrian Vocational Training Act (BAG). The company has also cooperated 
with the Baden-Württemberg Cooperative State University (DHBW) since 2012. Students in the Retail 
Business Administration/Textiles Management course at this university are given the opportunity to do 
the practical stages of their studies at various departments across the company. This way, they can 
directly apply the recently learned material. Since 2015, Wolford has also cooperated with the 
University of Lichtenstein. Here, a group of 5-6 master’s degree students works over a period of 
several months on a real-life business task, enabling them to apply the knowledge gained in their 
studies of the “Innovation Lab” topic on a practical project. 

In order to ensure workplace safety, Wolford has five trained occupational health and safety spe-
cialists, one of whom working on a full-time basis. In addition to that there are 23 safety officers 
available to the production employees, 60 first-aiders, and an in-house fire brigade. Internal officers 
supervise the implementation of environmental protection and energy efficiency measures. Two 
company doctors oversee all of the necessary occupational health and safety checks and health 
promotion measures. 

Wolford’s health promotion measures also include an extensive range of services aimed at help-
ing employees maintain their respective work-life balances. The numerous options on offer, particular-
ly at the Bregenz location, are listed in the company’s annual “Health Calendar”. They range from 
medical support to healing massages and yoga courses to organized walks and running groups. 

In today’s world, flexibility and lifelong learning are two basic requirements for successful per-
sonal and professional development. Wolford offers its employees a range of work and development 
opportunities across various departments and in different countries. The job vacancy advertising 
process is transparent for all positions advertised. So long as they are suitably qualified for the 
positions advertised, internal applicants are preferred. The company also offers financial support to 
enable employees to acquire any qualifications they are still lacking. Wolford invested a total of 
€ 0.04 million in training and professional development for its employees in the 2016/17 financial 
year.  

Wolford also aims to respond flexibly to any changes in the personal circumstances of its em-
ployees, going beyond the legal requirements in this respect. The company offers employees 
returning from parental leave the opportunity to work part time, an option taken by 39 employees in 
the past financial year. Individual requests, e.g., for more flexible working hours or a change in 
assignment, are evaluated together with the supervisor and staff council representative and granted 
where operationally possible. Since 2013, Wolford has also offered older employees the possibility 
of steadily reducing their working hours according to a part-time early retirement plan, with 
6 employees taking this option in the 2016/17 financial year. 
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Disclosures pursuant to § 243a (1) of the 
Austrian Commercial Code 

Wolford AG is listed in the Prime Market of the Vienna Stock Exchange. The company has share 
capital totaling € 36,350,000, which is divided into five million zero-par value bearer shares. The 
Management Board is not aware of any restrictions on voting rights or the transfer of shares. There are 
no shares with special control rights.  

According to the information available to the company, the following direct or indirect interests 
in the capital of Wolford AG equaled or exceeded 10%: the WMP family private foundation held 
more than 25% of the shares, while more than 15% were held by the Sesam private foundation. 
These private foundations and their subsidiary, M. Erthal GmbH, are legal entities which act in 
concert and exercise their voting rights by consensus. Ralph Bartel also held more than 25% of the 
shares. Since September 6, 2016, Erste Asset Management GmbH has held more than 4% of the 
shares. Wolford AG still held about 2% of the shares as treasury stock. The remaining shares were in 
free float. Management Board members do not enjoy any authorizations over and above those 
stipulated by law, particularly in respect of the possibility of issuing or buying back shares.  
Wolford AG has no authorized capital. 

The Wolford Group has a stock appreciation rights (SARs) plan. This does not involve the allo-
cation of any shares. The SARs plan is currently only effective for Management Board members. 
Other than that, the company has no stock option plan or employee participation models. There are 
no provisions for members of the Management Board or Supervisory Board that go beyond those 
stipulated by law. The company has not concluded any material agreements that would take effect, 
be amended, or expire upon a change of control resulting from a takeover bid.  

 Bregenz, July 31, 2017 
 

 
 

Ashish Sensarma   Axel Dreher 
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Statement of Comprehensive Income 

1) The items presented under other comprehensive income are shown after tax.  

*) Adjusted (see Section II of the Notes). 

 

 

 

 

 

    

in TEUR Note 2016/17 2015/16*

Revenues (1) 154,277 162,404

Other operating income (2) 956 2,302

Changes in inventories of finished goods and work-in-process   1,584 4,396

Own work capitalized   135 86

Operating output   156,952 169,188

Cost of materials and purchased services (3) -27,634 -27,376

Staff costs (4) -75,209 -73,862

Other operating expenses (5) -57,493 -59,570

Depreciation and amortization (6) -12,331 -11,303

EBIT    -15,715 -2,923

Net interest cost (7) -539 -575

Net investment securities income (8) 4 -61

Interest cost of employee benefit liabilities   -324 -292

Financial result   -859 -928

Earnings before tax   -16,574 -3,851

Income tax (9) -1,304 -6,807

Earnings after tax   -17,878 -10,658

Amounts that will not be recognized through profit and loss in future periods   -87 -203

thereof actuarial gains and losses (21) -87 -203

Amounts that will potentially be recognized through profit and loss in future periods   15 578

thereof currency translation differences (20) 14 567

thereof change from cash flow hedges (20) 1 11

Other comprehensive income1) (10) -72 375

Total comprehensive income   -17,950 -10,283

Attributable to the equity holders of the parent company   -17,950 -10,283

Earnings after tax attributable to equity holders of the parent company   -17,878 -10,658

Earnings per share (diluted = basic) (11) -3.64 -2.17
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Cash Flow Statement 

*) Adjusted (see Section II of the Notes). 

 

    

in TEUR Note 2016/17 2015/16*

Earnings before tax   -16,574 -3,851

Depreciation and amortization / write-backs   12,331 11,303

Gains / losses from disposals of non-current assets   331 -1,011

Other non-cash income and expenses   375 833

Changes in inventories   -1,557 -5,370

Changes in trade receivables   -2,431 1,455

Changes in other receivables and assets   1,850 1,628

Changes in trade payables   -52 432

Changes in other provisions and employee-related provisions   4,478 37

Changes in other liabilities   -446 -957

Cash flow from operating activities   -1,695 4,499

Interest received   43 26

Interest paid   -575 -601

Net balance of income taxes paid / received   -711 -968

Net cash flow from operating activities   -2,938 2,956

Payments for investments in property, plant and equipment and other intangible assets (30) -6,658 -7,667

Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment and other intangible assets (30) 153 1,472

Changes in securities and other financial assets   0 258

Cash flow from investing activities   -6,505 -5,937

Proceeds from current and non-current financial liabilities   23,522 5,673

Repayment of current and non-current financial liabilities   -6,697 -3,150

Dividends paid   -982 -980

Changes in treasury stock   0 250

Cash flow from financing activities   15,843 1,793

Cash-effective change in cash and cash equivalents   6,400 -1,188

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period   3,870 4,785

Effects of exchange rate movements on cash and cash equivalents   42 273

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period   10,312 3,870
    



 

 

  

W O L F O R D   

A N N U A L  R E P OR T  2 0 1 6 / 1 7  

 

Balance Sheet 

 

    

 in TEUR Note 30.04.2017 30.04.2016*

       

Property, plant and equipment (12) 45,553 50,240

Goodwill (13) 188 686

Other Intangible assets (14) 10,681 11,570

Financial assets (15) 1,283 1,305

Non-current receivables and assets (16) 1,891 1,931

Deferred tax assets (17) 1,891 2,898

Non-current assets   61,487 68,630

Inventories (18) 49,392 47,836

Trade receivables (19) 11,190 8,758

Other receivables and assets (20) 3,261 5,111

Prepaid expenses   2,744 3,262

Cash and cash equivalents   10,312 3,870

Current assets   76,899 68,837

Total assets   138,386 137,467

       

Share capital   36,350 36,350

Capital reserves   1,817 1,817

Other reserves   7,375 26,321

Currency translation differences   -660 -674

Equity (21) 44,882 63,814

Financial liabilities (22) 214 974

Other liabilities (24) 924 972

Provisions for long-term employee benefits (23) 17,546 17,896

Other long-term provisions (25) 2,347 2,018

Deferred tax liabilities (16) 53 60

Non-current liabilities   21,084 21,920

Financial liabilities (22) 42,645 25,060

Trade payables   5,035 5,086

Other liabilities (27) 13,076 13,476

Income tax liabilities   520 1,464

Other provisions (26) 11,144 6,647

Current liabilities   72,420 51,733

Total equity and liabilities   138,386 137,467

*) Adjusted (see Section II of the Notes). 
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Statement of Changes in Equity 

*) Adjusted (see Section II of the Notes). 

Segment Reporting  

 

          

  Attributable to equity holders of the parent company   

in TEUR Note 
Share 

capital 
Capital 

reserves 
Hedging 
reserve 

Actuarial 
gain/loss 

Other 
reserves 

Treasury 
stock 

Currency 
translation  

Total 
equity 

01.05.2015   36,350 1,817 -5 -3,867 46,437 -4,663 -1,241 74,828 

Dividends 2014/15 (21) 0 0 0 0 -980 0 0 -980 

Issue of treasury stock   0 0 0 0 0 250 0 250 

Earnings after tax*   0 0 0 0 -10,659 0 0 -10,659 

Other comprehensive income*   0 0 11 -203 0 0 567 375 

30.04.2016*   36,350 1,817 6 -4,070 34,798 -4,413 -674 63,814 

Dividends 2015/16 (21) 0 0 0 0 -982 0 0 -982 

Issue of treasury stock   0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Earnings after tax   0 0 0 0 -17,878 0 0 -17,878 

Other comprehensive income   0 0 1 -87 0 0 14 -72 

30.04.2017   36,350 1,817 7 -4,157 15,938 -4,413 -660 44,882 
          

       

2016/17 in TEUR Austria Rest of Europe North America Asia Consolidations Group 

Revenues 83,840 93,967 30,901 6,426 -60,857 154,277 

thereof intersegment 50,843 10,014 0 0 -60,857 0 

External revenues 32,997 83,953 30,901 6,426 0 154,277 

EBIT -13,327 1,959 -671 -3,345 -331 -15,715 

Segment assets 158,331 47,739 10,732 4,417 -82,833 138,386 

Segment liabilities 77,778 37,476 13,273 6,615 -41,638 93,504 

Investments 3,367 1,693 695 971 -7 6,719 

Depreciation 6,819 3,889 539 1,089 -5 12,331 

Employees on average (FTE) 678 720 108 38 0 1,544 
       

       

2015/16 in TEUR Austria Rest of Europe North America* Asia Consolidations Group 

Revenues 94,331 98,725 31,932 7,435 -70,019 162,404 

thereof intersegment 60,925 9,094 0 0 -70,019 0 

External revenues 33,406 89,631 31,932 7,435 0 162,404 

EBIT 4,360 -340 -4,980 -904 -1,059 -2,923 

Segment assets 156,831 47,999 11,724 3,811 -82,897 137,468 

Segment liabilities 58,482 38,334 13,429 3,319 -39,911 73,653 

Investments 3,762 2,274 937 341 -17 7,297 

Depreciation 5,149 3,114 2,618 439 -17 11,303 

Employees on average (FTE) 714 726 97 34 0 1,571 

*) Adjusted (see Section II of the Notes). 
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Statement of Changes in Fixed Assets  
        

      Costs  

in TEUR 01.05.2016 

Currency 
translation 
differences Additions Disposals 

Reclassi-
fication 30.04.2017

 

Property, plant and equipment             

Land, land rights and buildings, including buildings on 

third-party land 89.278 172 1.691 1.760 58 89.439
 

thereof land 3.095 0 0 0 0 3.095  

Technical equipment and machinery 31.545 0 619 436 648 32.376  

Other equipment, furniture and fixtures 31.772 84 1.788 1.691 344 32.296  

Prepayments made and assets under construction 1.538 0 1.785 79 -1.512 1.732  

  154.133 256 5.883 3.966 -463 155.843  

Goodwill 1.460 28 0 0 0 1.488  

Other Intangible assets             

Concessions, patents and licenses 16.278 4 836 839 463 16.742  

Self-developed intangible assets  471 0 0 0   471  

Security deposits paid for leased real estate 13.384 7 0 0 0 13.391  

Customer relationship 727 0 0 0 0 727  

  30.860 11 836 839 463 31.331  

Total 186.453 295 6.719 4.805 0 188.661  
        

 
        

      Costs  

in TEUR 01.05.2015 

Currency 
translation 
differences Additions Disposals 

Reclassi-
fication 30.04.2016

 

Property, plant and equipment             

Land, land rights and buildings, including buildings on 
third-party land 90,142 -286 831 1,623 214 89,278

 

thereof land 3,075 0 20 0 0 3,095  

Technical equipment and machinery 30,972 0 1,029 449 -7 31,545  

Other equipment, furniture and fixtures 31,335 -167 2,581 2,115 138 31,779  

Prepayments made and assets under construction 365 0 1,537 12 -352 1,538  

  152,814 -453 5,978 4,199 -7 154,133  

Goodwill 1,477 -17 0 0 0 1,460  

Other Intangible assets             

Concessions, patents and licenses 15,924 -10 471 114 7 16,278  

Self-developed intangible assets  0 0 471 0   471  

Security deposits paid for leased real estate 13,106 -92 370 0 0 13,384  

Customer relationship 727 0 0 0 0 727  

  29,757 -102 1,312 114 7 30,860  

Total 184,048 -572 7,297 4,313 0 186,460  
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  Accumulated depreciation and amortization Carrying amounts 

  01.05.2016 

Currency 
translation 
differences Impairment Additions Disposals 30.04.2017 01.05.2016 30.04.2017

                 

 

 50,979 145 993 3,569 1,599 54,087 38,298 35,352

  0 0 0 0 0 0 3,095 3,095

  27,518 0 0 978 395 28,101 4,027 4,275

  25,395 93 263 2,109 1,492 26,369 6,377 5,928

  0 0 0 1,731 0 1,731 1,538 0

  103,892 238 1,257 8,388 3,486 110,289 50,240 45,554

  774 29 497 0 0 1,300 686 188

                 

  12,862 4 0 1,280 835 13,311 3,416 3,431

  0 0 0 51 0 51 471 420

  5,701 1 213 646 0 6,561 7,683 6,830

  727 0 0 0 0 727 0 0

  19,290 5 213 1,977 835 20,649 11,570 10,681

  123,956 272 1,967 10,364 4,321 132,238 62,496 56,423
         

 
         

  Accumulated depreciation and amortization Carrying amounts 

  01.05.2015 

Currency 
translation 
differences Impairment Additions Disposals 30.04.2016* 01.05.2015 30.04.2016* 

                  

 
 48,050 -251 1,139 3,590 1,549 50,979 42,092 38,299 

  0 0 0 0 0 0 3,075 3,095 

  26,871 0 0 1,010 363 27,518 4,101 4,027 

  24,423 -137 355 2,608 1,846 25,403 6,912 6,376 

  0 0 0 0 0 0 365 1,538 

  99,344 -388 1,493 7,208 3,758 103,899 53,470 50,240 

  199 -21 596 0 0 774 1,278 686 

                  

  11,647 -9 0 1,336 112 12,862 4,277 3,416 

  0 0   0 0 0 0 471 

  5,072 -41 0 670 0 5,701 8,034 7,683 

  727 0 0 0 0 727 0 0 

  17,446 -50 0 2,006 112 19,290 12,311 11,570 

  116,989 -459 2,089 9,214 3,870 123,963 67,059 62,496 
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The Wolford Group is an international group specialized in the production and marketing of 
Legwear, Ready-to-wear and Lingerie, Beachwear, Accessories and Trading goods and is positioned 
in the segment of affordable luxury products. The parent company, Wolford AG, is a stock corpora-
tion that is headquartered in Austria, 6900 Bregenz, Wolfordstrasse 1 and registered with the 
provincial court of Feldkirch, Austria, under FN 68605s. 

The business activities of the subsidiaries primarily focus on marketing products purchased from the 
parent company. 

I. Accounting Principles 
1. BASIS OF PREPARATION 
The consolidated financial statements of Wolford AG as of April 30, 2017 were prepared pursuant 
to § 245a of the Austrian Commercial Code in accordance with the International Financial Report-
ing Standards (IFRS) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and adopted by 
the European Union. The 2016/17 financial year covers the period from May 1, 2016 to 
April 30, 2017. 

Application has been made of the current versions of all valid and binding standards issued by the 
IASB and interpretations of the IFRS Interpretations Committee that are applicable in the EU for the 
2016/17 financial year. 

In accordance with § 245a of the Austrian Commercial Code in conjunction with Art.4 of Regula-
tion (EC) No. 1606/2002 of the European Parliament and Council dated July 19,2002, all publicly 
traded companies whose headquarters are located in the EU are required to prepare their consoli-
dated financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 

Notes to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements  
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The following standards and interpretations required application in the EU for the first time in the 
financial year under report: 

 
Overview of standards and interpretations requiring application in subsequent financial years: 

 
Given its lease arrangements, Wolford expects the first-time application of IFRS 16 to have implica-
tions for its consolidated financial statements. These are currently being evaluated.  

Apart from additional or amended note disclosures, the other amendments are not expected to have 
any significant implications for the consolidated financial statements. 

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements is the responsibility of the Management 
Board. The financial reporting of the Wolford Group is based on thousand euros (€ k). Discrepan-
cies may arise due to figures being rounded up or down in line with commercial practice. 

   

Standard/ 

Interpretation Description Effective date

Amendments to IAS 1 Note Disclosures January 1, 2016

Amendments to IAS 16 
and IAS 38 

Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and 
Amortisation January 1, 2016

Amendments to IAS 16 
and IAS 41 Agriculture: Bearer Plants January 1, 2016

Amendments to IAS 27 Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements January 1, 2016

Amendments to IFRS 10, 
IFRS 12 and IAS 28 Applying the Consolidation Exception January 1, 2016

Amendments to IFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations January 1, 2016

Improvements to IFRS 
2012-2014 Amendments to IFRS 5, IFRS 7, IAS 19, and IAS 34 January 1, 2016
   

   

Standard/ 
Interpretation Description Effective date 

IAS 12 Income Taxes: Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised 

Losses 
January 1, 2017 

IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: Disclosure Initiative January 1, 2017 

IFRS 2 Share-based Payment: Clarification of Classification and 

Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions 
January 1, 2018 

IAS 40 Accounting for Investment Properties under Construction January 1, 2018 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments January 1, 2018 

IFRS 4 Applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments with IFRS 4 Insurance 

Contracts 
January 1, 2018 

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (including clarification to 

IFRS 15) 
January 1, 2018 

Sundry Amendments to several IFRSs as a result of the 2014-2016 

Improvement Process 

January 1, 2017 

&  
January 1, 2018 

IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration January 1, 2018 

IFRS 16 Leases January 1, 2019 
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2. SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION AND CONSOLIDATION PRINCIPLES 
The scope of consolidation is determined in accordance with IFRS 10 (Consolidated Financial 
Statements). In addition to the parent company, the following subsidiaries are directly included in 
the consolidated financial statements: 

 
Wolford Beteiligungs GmbH holds all shares in the following companies: 

1) Wolford Boutiques, LLC., New York, is a wholly owned subsidiary of Wolford America, Inc. 

Branch offices are operated in Norway, Finland, and Sweden by Wolford Scandinavia ApS, in 
Ireland by Wolford London Ltd., in Luxembourg by Wolford Belgium N.V., in Macao by Wolford 
Asia Limited, and in Portugal by Wolford España S.L. 

There were no changes in the scope of consolidation compared with the previous year. 

The balance sheet date for the consolidated financial statements of the parent company and all 
companies included in consolidation is April 30, with the exception of Wolford Asia Limited and 
Wolford (Shanghai) Trading Co., Ltd., whose balance sheet date is December 31 in accordance 
with national laws. For consolidation purposes, these two companies prepare interim financial 
statements as of April 30. 

   

Company Registered office Direct interest in %

Wolford Beteiligungs GmbH Bregenz 100

Wolford proizvodnja in trgovina d.o.o. Murska Sobota 100
   

   

Company Registered office 
Direct interest 

in %

Wolford Deutschland GmbH Munich 100

Wolford (Schweiz) AG Glattbrugg 100

Wolford Paris S.A.R.L. Paris 100

Wolford London Ltd. London 100

Wolford Italia S.r.L. Milan 100

Wolford España S.L. Madrid 100

Wolford Scandinavia ApS Copenhagen 100

Wolford America, Inc. New York 100

Wolford Nederland B.V. Amsterdam 100

Wolford Canada Inc. Vancouver 100

Wolford Boutiques, LLC.1) New York 100

Wolford Asia Limited Hong Kong 100

Wolford Belgium N.V. Antwerp 100

Wolford (Shanghai) Trading Co., Ltd. Shanghai 100
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The consolidated financial statements include estimates and discretionary decisions made by the 
management. 

The consolidated financial statements include all assets, liabilities, income, and expenses at Wolford 
AG and its consolidated subsidiaries after the elimination of all intragroup transactions. 

The capital consolidation for fully consolidated companies is based on the requirements of IFRS 3. 
This requires the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities at subsidiaries identifiable upon acquisi-
tion to be measured at fair value as of the acquisition date. Where the acquisition cost for the 
respective company exceeds the fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities, and contingent 
liabilities thereby acquired, the difference is recognized as goodwill. Negative differences are 
recognized immediately through profit or loss. Companies acquired or sold during the financial 
year are included in the consolidated financial statements as of the acquisition date or up to the 
disposal date. 

The functional currency method is used to translate the foreign currency financial statements of 
companies included in consolidation. This is the respective national currency for all companies. The 
assets and liabilities of companies with functional currencies other than the euro are translated using 
the reporting date rate. Income and expenses are translated at annual average rates. Any resultant 
differences are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income. 

The major exchange rates used for financial currency translation developed as follows: 

 

3. ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
Property, plant and equipment are measured at cost pursuant to IAS 16. Depreciation is generally 
recognized on a straight-line basis over the expected useful life of the asset. Borrowing costs are 
capitalized if the asset meets the criteria for recognition as a qualifying asset pursuant to IAS 23. 
No borrowing costs were capitalized in 2016/17 financial year or the previous year.   

     

  
Average rate on the 
 balance sheet date Average rate for the year 

Currency 30.04.2017 30.04.2016 2016/17 2015/16

1 EUR / USD 1.0948 1.1380 1.09374 1.10264

1 EUR / GBP 0.8439 0.7789 0.83783 0.73520

1 EUR / CHF 1.0822 1.0958 1.08269 1.07303

1 EUR / DKK 7.4389 7.4430 7.44003 7.46072

1 EUR / SEK 9.6325 9.1575 9.49777 9.38693

1 EUR / NOK 9.3150 9.2100 9.14873 9.13657

1 EUR / CAD 1.4905 1.4235 1.43233 1.45162

1 EUR / HKD 8.4980 8.8250 8.49583 8.56193

1 EUR / CNY 7.5133 7.3859 7.36493 7.05410
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Straight-line depreciation of property, plant and equipment is based on the following useful lives: 

 
Where necessary, material reductions in value exceeding depreciation are accounted for by 
recognizing impairment losses pursuant to IAS 36 (Impairment of Assets).  

Repair and maintenance costs relating to property, plant and equipment are generally expensed as 
incurred. These costs are only capitalized if the additional expenditures are likely to increase the 
future economic benefits from use of the respective asset. 

Assets that are obtained through lease or rental contracts are attributed to the lessor or landlord and 
accounted for as operating leases if the applicable requirements are met. The related lease and 
rental payments are recognized as expenses.  

Goodwill resulting from business combinations is recognized as an asset. In accordance with 
IAS 36, goodwill is tested for impairment at least once a year and more frequently if there are 
indications of impairment.  

Other amortizable intangible assets are measured at cost and subject to straight-line amortization 
over a useful life of three to ten years, with the additional recognition of impairment losses where 
necessary. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are annually tested for impairment. The 
procedure for impairment testing involves comparing the recoverable amount of the cash-generating 
unit (CGU), i.e. the higher of the fair value less costs to sell and the value in use, with the carrying 
amount as of the balance sheet date. If the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount 
recognized for the respective asset, the carrying amount is reduced to the recoverable amount. The 
management estimates referred to when determining recoverable amounts relate above all to 
expected cash flows, discount rates and growth rates, as well as to expected changes in disposal 
prices and related direct costs.  

The discount factors used for the impairment tests (WACC) range from 7.7% to 12.4% 
(2015/16: 6.8% to 12.5%) and are derived from regional interest rates. The discount factors reflect 
the differences in inflation compared with the risk-free base rate, country risk premiums and different 
tax rates in the respective countries. The changes in disposal prices and related direct costs are 
based on past experience and estimates of possible future changes in the relevant markets. Boutique 
locations are included up to the end of the respective lease Given the limited usage period, no 
perpetual yield is calculated. The Wolford Group prepares cash flow forecasts for the next four 
years based on the latest budget presented to the Supervisory Board.  

   

Site values (based on rental agreements) max. 10 years

Land, land rights and buildings 10 to 50 years

Technical equipment and machinery 4 to 20 years

Other equipment, furniture and fittings 2 to 10 years
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In accordance with IAS 38 (Intangible Assets), research expenses are not eligible for capitalization 
and are therefore expensed in the year in which they are incurred. Development expenses may only 
be capitalized when there is sufficient likelihood that the related activities will generate inflows of 
financial resources that will cover not only the normal costs, but also the associated development 
expenses. Moreover, development projects must cumulatively meet various criteria listed in IAS 38. 
No development expenses were eligible for capitalization in the 2016/17 financial year 
(2015/16: € 471k). Research and development expenses of € 6,931k were recognized as 
expenses in the 2016/17 financial year (2015/16: € 7,384k). 

Financial instruments: Transactions involving financial instruments are recognized as of the settle-
ment date in accordance with IAS 39. The financial assets line item comprises other securities and 
investment funds. These are classified as available for sale and measured at fair value pursuant to 
IAS 39. Fair value corresponds to the market prices of the instruments as of the balance sheet date. 
Measurement gains or losses are recognized under other comprehensive income. Upon the sale of 
these securities, previously accumulated gains and losses are transferred to the income statement 
and recognized under net investment securities income.  

Inventories: Raw materials and supplies are measured at the lower of cost or net realizable value. 
Work in progress und finished goods are measured at the lower of cost or net realizable value. 
Production costs include all expenses that can be directly allocated to the product. Appropriate 
allowances are recognized to reflect inventory risks resulting from stockholding periods and reduced 
marketability.  

Receivables and other assets: In accordance with IAS 39, receivables are capitalized at the fair 
value of the goods or services provided. Other assets are capitalized at cost. Appropriate allow-
ances are recognized to reflect any risks discernible. 

Consistent with IAS 32, treasury stock is recognized in the balance sheet as a deduction to equity.  

Taxes on income: The provisions for current taxes include all tax obligations known of as of the 
balance sheet date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized using the balance sheet 
liability method prescribed by IAS 12. This involves the recognition of deferred taxes for all 
temporary measurement and recognition differences arising between the tax balance sheets and the 
IFRS balance sheets of the individual companies and for consolidation processes. Reference is made 
to the tax rate expected to be valid in the period in which the asset will be realized or the liability 
settled. Furthermore, deferred tax assets are recognized for all loss carryovers that are realistically 
expected to be utilized. For domestic entities, the measurement of deferred taxes is based on a tax 
rate of 25%. For foreign entities, the respective local tax rate is used. 

Liabilities are initially recognized at the fair value of the goods or services provided. Financial 
liabilities are measured at amortized cost as of the balance sheet date.  
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Employee-related provisions: Provisions for severance pay and anniversary bonuses at the Austrian 
parent company are measured in accordance with the requirements of IAS 19 (revised) and the 
projected unit credit method. Application was made of the following parameters: 

 
The calculation of severance pay provisions at subsidiaries is based on local biometric parameters, 
interest rates, wage and salary trends, and suitably adjusted retirement ages. 

The provision for pensions is calculated in accordance with recognized actuarial principles taking 
due account of the requirements of IAS 19 (revised). The calculation of the provision recognized 
using the projected unit credit method was based on the following parameters: 

 
Provisions: Other provisions are recognized in accordance with IAS 37 when the company has a 
current obligation arising from a past event and it is probable that an outflow of resources will be 
required to meet this obligation. Non-current provisions are discounted if the interest component of 
the obligation is material. 

Earnings per share are calculated by dividing earnings after tax by the number of shares issued and 
in circulation.  

The following table shows the basis for the calculation of earnings per share: 

 

   

Biometric parameters   AVÖ 2008 - P

Interest rate   1.64% p.a. (2015/16: 1.90%)

Wage/salary trend   2.29% p.a. (2015/16: 2.43%)

Retirement age   64 – 65/59 – 65 years

Employee turnover (graduated):    

0 – 3 years   19%

3 – 5 years   13%

5 – 10 years   9%

10 – 15 years   5%

15 – 20 years   1%

over 20 years   0%
   

   

Biometric parameters   AVÖ 2008 - P

Interest rate   1.64% p.a. (2015/16: 1.90%)

Wage/salary trend   2.29% p.a. (2015/16: 2.43%)
   

   

  2016/17 2015/16

Total number of shares outstanding 5,000,000 5,000,000

Less average number of treasury shares -88,140 -96,783

  4,911,860 4,903,217
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Revenue recognition: Revenue is regularly recognized when the risks and rewards of ownership 
have been transferred or when the service has been rendered and in accordance with the other 
criteria listed in IAS 18. Interest income and expenses are recognized using the effective interest 
method, while step-up leases are recognized on a time-apportioned basis. 

Foreign currency translation: Foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of monetary 
items resulting from exchange rate movements between the transaction date and the balance sheet 
date are recognized through profit or loss in the respective period. Currency translation differences 
of € 31k were recognized in the 2016/17 financial year (2015/16: € -529k).  

Derivative financial instruments: Wolford concludes hedging transactions in the form of forward 
exchange contracts to hedge the currency risks on existing balance sheet items and on future transac-
tions. When entering into hedging transactions, the individual derivatives are assigned to specified 
hedged items. The IAS 39 requirements governing qualification as hedges are therefore met. 

Assets and liabilities with terms to maturity of up to one year are classified as current, whereas items 
with terms to maturity of more than one year are classified as non-current. The Wolford Group 
received government grants as defined in IAS 20 totaling € 214k in the financial year under report 
(2015/16: € 306k). These grants are recognized as revenue on the basis of binding commitments, 
official notifications, and legal entitlement. They mainly comprise non-repayable subsidies for 
research and development projects and employee qualification measures. 

Discretionary decisions: The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires certain 
estimates and assumptions to be made that influence the recognition and measurement of assets, 
provisions and liabilities, the disclosure of other obligations as of the balance sheet date, and the 
recognition of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. These assumptions and estimates 
mainly relate to the determination of the economic useful lives for property, plant and equipment 
and intangible assets, the forecasts and assumptions used for impairment tests, the recognition of 
impairment losses for receivables and inventories, the recognition of deferred taxes, and the 
measurement of financial liabilities and provisions. The amount of provisions required is estimated 
on the basis of past experience and reflects all information available upon the preparation of the 
consolidated financial statements. Reference is made to actuarial calculations when determining 
long-term employee-related provisions. These calculations are based on assumptions for factors 
including discount rates, future increases in wages and salaries, employee turnover and mortality 
rates, retirement ages and life expectancy, as well as future pension trends. Changes in these 
parameters may significantly impact on the results of the calculations. The calculation of impairments 
of receivables was also significantly based on assumptions and estimates relating, among other 
factors, to customer creditworthiness, and expected future economic developments.  

In the context of a random audit review performed by the Austrian Financial Reporting Enforcement 
Panel (OePR), the Wolford Group’s consolidated financial statements as of April 30, 2016 and its 
half-year financial reports as of October 31, 2015 and October 31, 2016 were selected and 
reviewed pursuant to § 2 (1) No. 2 of the Austrian Accounting Inspection Act (audit without 
particular cause). 

In the consolidated financial statements as of 30 April 2016, the assumptions underlying the cash 
flow forecasts referred to when determining the values in use for IAS 36 impairment test purposes 
were erroneous. Furthermore, the cash flow statement for the period from May 1, 2015 to 
April 30, 2016 included erroneous information in several detailed items (e.g. due to netting).  
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Errors from earlier periods are adjusted retrospectively. These retrospective adjustments did not have 
any implications for the information presented in the opening balance sheet for the previous period 
(May 1, 2015). The implications of these retrospective adjustments for individual line items are 
presented in the tables in Section II, Adjustments pursuant to IAS 8. 

4. SEGMENT REPORTING 
The Wolford Group is organized in regions in order to achieve the maximum possible level of 
market penetration. Each sales company has a market director who is best able to evaluate the 
country-specific circumstances on location and manage business operations accordingly. The 
country companies are responsible for the distribution of all products developed by Wolford: high-
quality Legwear, Ready-to-wear, Lingerie, Swimwear, Accessories, and Trading goods.  

The Wolford Group has four reporting segments: Austria, Other Europe, North America, and Asia. 
The Austria segment includes production and sales activities for Austria and for those countries 
which do not have their own Wolford subsidiaries. Other Europe contains the European sales 
subsidiaries outside Austria, as well as the manufacturing subsidiary in Slovenia. North America 
cover the company’s operations in the U.S. and Canada, while Asia includes the companies in 
Hong Kong and Shanghai. 

The regional sales companies are managed by reference to their operating earnings (EBIT). Monthly 
reports also containing an evaluation of the retail points of sale at boutique level are prepared for 
the sales companies. Reporting for the wholesale segment focuses on the most important key 
accounts. Intersegment pricing is based on standard wholesale prices less country-specific discounts.  

Revenues in the Other Europe segment were generated in the following countries: 20% in Germany 
(2015/16: 23%), 17% in France (2015/16: 16%), 12% in the U.K. (2015/16: 16%), 10% in 
Scandinavia (2015/16: 12%), 5% in Switzerland (2015/16: 6%), and 36% in other European 
countries (2015/16: 27%). Of the revenues in the North America segment, 91% were attributable 
to the USA (2015/16: 92%) and 9% to Canada (2015/16: 8%). Segment information is prepared 
by reference to the same accounting, recognition, and measurement methods as applied in the 
consolidated financial statements. No customers or customer groups account for more than 10% of 
total revenues. The amounts shown in the consolidation column are the result of group consolidation 
procedures. The Legwear product group generated more than half of the Group’s revenues in the 
2016/17 financial year, with a 53% share of revenues (2015/16: 53%). Ready-to-wear, which 
contributed 29% of revenues (2015/16: 29%), was the second-largest product group once again in 
the 2016/17 financial year. Lingerie, Beachwear, Accessories, and Trading goods were responsi-
ble for a combined share of 18% of revenues in the past financial year (2015/16: 18%).  
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II.  Adjustments pursuant to IAS 8 

(1) STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND BALANCE SHEET  
The adjustments made to the 2015/16 statement of comprehensive income and the balance sheet 
as of April 30, 2016 involve the recognition of impairment losses for cash generating units (espe-
cially on goodwill and property, plant and equipment at boutiques), as well as for pending losses in 
the U.S., and can be summarized as follows: 

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
    

in TEUR 
Reported 

2015/2016 Adjustment 
Adjusted 

2015/2016

Revenues 162,404 0 162,404

Other operating income 2,302 0 2,302

Changes in inventories of finished goods and work-in-process 4,396 0 4,396

Own work capitalized 86 0 86

Operating output 169,188 0 169,188

Cost of materials and purchased services -27,376 0 -27,376

Staff costs -73,862 0 -73,862

Other operating expenses -56,940 -2,630 -59,570

Depreciation and amortization -9,464 -1,839 -11,303

EBIT  1,546 -4,469 -2,923

Net interest cost -575 0 -575

Net investment securities income -61 0 -61

Interest cost of employee benefit liabilities -292 0 -292

Financial result -928 0 -928

Earnings before tax 618 -4,469 -3,851

Income tax -6,807 0 -6,807

Earnings after tax -6,189 -4,469 -10,658

Other comprehensive income 236 139 375

Total comprehensive income -5,953 -4,330 -10,283
    



 

 

  

W O L F O R D   

A N N U A L  R E P OR T  2 0 1 6 / 1 7  

 

BALANCE SHEET 

 

 

 

    

 in TEUR 
Reported 

30.04.2016 Adjustment 
Adjusted 

30.04.2016

       

Property, plant and equipment 51,444 -1,204 50,240

Goodwill 1,263 -577 686

Other Intangible assets 11,570 0 11,570

Financial assets 1,305 0 1,305

Non-current receivables and assets 1,931 0 1,931

Deferred tax assets 2,898 0 2,898

Non-current assets 70,411 -1,781 68,630

Inventories 47,836 0 47,836

Trade receivables 8,758 0 8,758

Other receivables and assets 5,111 0 5,111

Prepaid expenses 3,262 0 3,262

Cash and cash equivalents 3,870 0 3,870

Current assets 68,837 0 68,837

Total assets 139,248 -1,781 137,467

       

Share capital 36,350 0 36,350

Capital reserves 1,817 0 1,817

Other reserves 30,790 -4,469 26,321

Currency translation differences -812 138 -674

Equity 68,145 -4,331 63,814

Financial liabilities 974 0 974

Other liabilities 972 0 972

Provisions for long-term employee benefits 17,896 0 17,896

Other long-term provisions 0 2,018 2,018

Deferred tax liabilities 60 0 60

Non-current liabilities 19,902 2,018 21,920

Financial liabilities 25,060 0 25,060

Trade payables 5,086 0 5,086

Other liabilities 13,476 0 13,476

Income tax liabilities 1,464 0 1,464

Other provisions 6,115 532 6,647

Current liabilities 51,201 532 51,733

Total equity and liabilities 139,248 -1,781 137,467
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(2) CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
The adjustments made to the 2015/16 cash flow statement result on the one hand from the 
adjustments made to the 2015/16 statement of comprehensive income and the balance sheet as of 
April 30, 2016 and on the other to corrections made to several detailed items (e.g. due to netting in 
the previous year): 

CASH FLOW STATEMENT 

 

 

 

 

    

in TEUR 
Reported 

2015/2016 Adjustment 
Adjusted 

2015/2016

Earnings before tax 618 -4,469 -3,851

Depreciation and amortization / write-backs 9,464 1,838 11,302

Gains / losses from disposals of non-current assets -824 -187 -1,011

Other non-cash income and expenses 603 231 834

Changes in inventories -5,419 49 -5,370

Changes in trade receivables 1,215 240 1,455

Changes in other receivables and assets 2,403 -775 1,628

Changes in trade payables 502 -70 432

Changes in other provisions and employee-related provisions -2,983 3,020 37

Changes in other liabilities -659 -298 -957

Cash flow from operating activities 4,920 -421 4,499

Interest received 0 26 26

Interest paid -574 -27 -601

Net balance of income taxes paid / received -967 -1 -968

Net cash flow from operating activities 3,379 -423 2,956

Payments for investments in property, plant and equipment and other intangible assets -7,110 -557 -7,667

Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment and other intangible assets 1,117 355 1,472

Changes in securities and other financial assets 258 0 258

Cash flow from investing activities -5,735 -202 -5,937

Proceeds from current and non-current financial liabilities 6,524 -851 5,673

Repayment of current and non-current financial liabilities -4,569 1,419 -3,150

Dividends paid -980 0 -980

Changes in treasury stock 250 0 250

Cash flow from financing activities 1,225 568 1,793

Cash-effective change in cash and cash equivalents -1,131 -57 -1,188

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 4,785 0 4,785

Effects of exchange rate movements on cash and cash equivalents 216 57 273

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 3,870 0 3,870
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III. Notes to the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income 

(1) REVENUES  
Detailed information on revenues can be found in information about operating segments contained 
in the segment report in I. Accounting Principles under 4. Segment Report.  

(2) OTHER OPERATING INCOME 

(3) COST OF MATERIALS 

 
(4) PERSONNEL EXPENSES 

 
 

 

 

   

in TEUR 2016/17 2015/16 

Grants and subsidies 214 306 

Restaurant revenue 215 194 

Insurance benefits 83 124 

Commissions 0 78 

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 34 1,117 

Rental income 0 182 

Other 410 301 

Total 956 2,302 
   

   

in TEUR 2016/17 2015/16

Cost of raw materials 19,505 20,154

Cost of energy 1,409 1,500

Cost of services 6,720 5,722

Total 27,634 27,376
   

   

in TEUR 2016/17 2015/16

Wages 8,906 9,928

Salaries 48,246 47,808

Expenses for statutory social security contributions, payroll-based duties and 

other mandatory contributions 13,005 13,299

Expenses for severance compensation and pensions 3,762 1,471

thereof Management Board 0 0

thereof management 97 84

Other employee benefits 1,290 1,356

Total 75,209 73,862
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Personnel totals 
The Wolford Group had the following average number of employees (full-time equivalents): 

 

(5) OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES 

*) Adjusted (see Section II of the Notes). 

Other non-current and current provisions were increased in the 2015/16 financial year to account 
for the risk of losses on pending transactions in connection with rental agreements in the U.S. This 
adjustment has affected the “Rental and lease payments” and “Other” line items within other 
operating expenses. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

Number of employees, full-time basis 2016/17 2015/16

Average number of employees 1,544 1,571

thereof wage 472 501

thereof salaried 1,042 1,042

thereof apprentices 30 28
   

   

in TEUR 2016/17 2015/16*

Rental and lease payments 22,474 22,536

Marketing expenses 5,836 7,131

Legal and consulting fees 5,425 3,146

Freight costs 2,345 2,668

Online distribution 5,320 3,461

Travel costs 1,368 1,622

Customs duties 2,912 3,050

Credit card fees and bank charges 1,573 1,755

IT expenses 1,926 1,628

Insurance premiums 900 1,172

Other taxes 686 925

Maintenance expenses 627 942

Vehicle fleet 666 647

Other* 5,435 8,886

Total 57,493 59,570
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The expenses for services performed by the group auditor, Deloitte Audit Wirtschaftsprüfung GmbH, 
are structured as follows: 

 

(6) DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION 
Scheduled depreciation and amortization amounted to € 12,331k in the 2016/17 financial year 
(2015/16: € 11,303k). Due to the impairment tests performed, impairment losses of € 1,967k 
were recognized on intangible assets and property, plant and equipment in the 2016/17 financial 
year. These related to property, plant and equipment (€ 1,257k), goodwill (€ 497k), and other 
intangible assets (€ 213k). 

The adjustments to depreciation and amortization recognized in the 2015/16 financial year relate 
to goodwill and property, plant and equipment. Having revised its forecasts for its U.S. business 
performance, Wolford AG deemed it necessary to recognize impairment losses retrospectively as of 
April 30, 2016 already. These adjustments are structured as follows:  

    

in TEUR Reported 2015/2016 Adjustment Adjusted 2015/2016

Depreciation and 

amortization 9,464 1,839 11,303
    

 

(7) NET INTEREST COST 

 

(8) NET INVESTMENT SECURITIES INCOME 

 

 

 

   

in TEUR 2016/17 2015/16

Audit of financial and consolidated financial statements 129 119

Other assurance services 4 5

Other services 51 0

Total 184 124
   

   

in TEUR 2016/17 2015/16

Interest and similar income 49 26

Interest and similar expenses -588 -601

Total -539 -575
   

   

in TEUR 2016/17 2015/16

Income from investments in securities 4 0

Expenses from investments in securities 0 -61

Total 4 -61
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(9) INCOME TAX 
The major components of income tax expenses are structured as follows: 

 

 
The reconciliation of the income tax charge based on the Austrian corporate tax rate of 25% with 
the effective tax rate for the period is as follows: 

 
The “Other” line item also includes corrections for currency differences. The effective tax rate of -8% 
(previous year: due to write-downs of € 6,528k on deferred tax assets and further write-downs of € 
1,188k on deferred tax assets recognized in OCI, the effective tax rate amounted to 1,101%) is 
mainly attributable to the non-recognition of deferred tax assets for current losses. 

   

in TEUR 2016/17 2015/16

Statement of comprehensive income    

Tax expense / income for the reporting year -345 -412

Deferred taxes -959 -6,395

Total -1,304 -6,807
   

   

in TEUR 2016/17 2015/16

Development of net deferred taxes    

Net deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities as of 01.05. 2,838 10,391

Currency translation differences -61 48

Deferred taxes recognized in after tax profit -959 -6,395

Deferred taxes recognized in other comprehensive income 21 -1,206

Net deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities as of 30.04. 1,839 2,838
   

   

in TEUR 2016/17 2015/16

Profit before tax -16,574 618

Tax expense / income at 25% 4,144 -155

Foreign tax rates 107 210

Losses for which no deferred tax assets were recognized -4,749 0

Permanent differences -47 19

Taxes from prior periods 161 88

Reversal of deferred taxes -1,085 -6,528

Other 165 -441

Effective tax expense / income -1,304 -6,807

Effective tax rate -8 % 1,101 %
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(10) NOTES TO OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
A reduction in benchmark interest rates in particular gave rise to an actuarial loss of € 87k. 
Together with a result of € 14k from currency translation of foreign operations and a positive 
change of € 1k in the hedging reserve, other comprehensive income (OCI) came to € -72k (previous 
year: € 375k). Added to the earnings after tax of € -17,878k (previous year: € -10,658k), this 
produced total comprehensive income of € -17,950k (previous year: € -10,283k). 

The adjustments made to the previous year’s figure for depreciation and amortization, other 
operating expenses, and foreign currency measurement led to the following changes in comprehen-
sive income: 

 

(11) EARNINGS PER SHARE/RECOMMENDATION FOR THE USE OF 
EARNINGS 

Earnings per share are calculated by dividing earnings after tax by the weighted average number 
of ordinary shares excluding time-apportioned treasury stock holdings (2016/17: 4,911,860; 
previous year: 4,903,217). Earnings per share for the 2016/17 financial year amounted to 
€ -3.64 (2015/16: € -2.17). In view of this earnings situation, the Management Board will propose 
to the Annual General Meeting due to be held on September 14, 2017 that no dividend should be 
paid for the 2016/17 financial year.  

IV. Notes to the Consolidated Balance Sheet 
(12) PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
The development in this line item is presented in detail in the non-current asset schedule.  

Total obligations for the purchase of property, plant and equipment as of the balance sheet date 
amounted to € 558k (April 30, 2016: € 4,723k). 

The adjustments made to property, plant and equipment reported for the 2015/16 financial year 
related to buildings on third-party land, other equipment, and plant and office equipment. Having 
revised the forecasts for its U.S. business performance, Wolford AG deemed it necessary to 
recognize impairment losses for Wolford Boutiques LLC., New York, retrospectively as of April 30, 
2016, already. These adjustments are structured as follows: 

 

    

in TEUR 
Reported 

2015/2016 Adjustment 
Adjusted 

2015/2016

Earnings after tax -6,189 -4,469 -10,658

Other comprehensive income 236 +139 375

Total comprehensive income -5,953 -4,330 -10,283
    

    

in TEUR 
Reported 

2015/2016 Adjustment 
Adjusted 

2015/2016

Property, Plant and Equipment 51,444 -1,204 50,240
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(13) GOODWILL 
Having revised the forecasts for its U.S. business performance, Wolford AG deemed it necessary to 
recognize impairment losses of € 577k for Wolford Boutiques LLC., New York, and Wolford 
America Inc., New York, retrospectively as of April 30, 2016, already.  

Due to a persistently negative business performance, impairment losses of € 437k and € 60k were 
recognized for Wolford Belgium N.V. and Wolford Deutschland GmbH respectively in the 2016/17 
financial year. 

(14) OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
The development in this line item is presented in detail in the non-current asset schedule. There were 
no commitments to purchase intangible assets in the current or previous financial years. Key money 
(payments for rental rights) totaling € 6,830k was capitalized as of the balance sheet date 
(April 30, 2016: € 7,683k). Of this amount, € 5,293k represented key money with an indefinite 
useful life (April 30, 2016: € 4,172k) and € 1,537k involved key money with a limited useful life 
(April 30, 2016: € 3,510k). An impairment requirement of EUR 213k was recognized for intangi-
ble assets in the 2016/17 financial year in connection with Wolford’s proprietary location in Nice. 
No development expenses were capitalized in the 2016/17 financial year (April 30, 2016: 
€ 471k). 

(15) FINANCIAL ASSETS  
The securities included in this line item are classified as available for sale and recognized at fair 
value in accordance with IAS 39. The fair value of these financial assets corresponds to the 
respective market value as of the balance sheet date. The change in fair value amounted to € -22k 
in the 2016/17 financial year (2015/16: € +32k). 

(16) NON-CURRENT RECEIVABLES AND ASSETS 
The amounts recognized in this line item chiefly involve advance rental and lease payments and 
security deposits. 
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(17) DEFERRED TAXES 
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities result from temporary measurement and recognition 
differences between the carrying amounts recognized in the IFRS financial statements and the 
corresponding tax base of the respective items. 

 
As of the balance sheet date, the company had unutilized tax loss carryovers of € 57,961k 
(April 30, 2016: € 29,379k). Of existing tax loss carryovers, an amount of € 12,237k is forfeitable 
(April 30, 2016: € 12,204k). 

(18) INVENTORIES 
Inventories are structured as follows: 

 
Inventories are measured separately by article. This valuation procedure accounts for the different 
resale characteristics of the Essentials and Trend models, as well as for the age of the respective 
articles. These assessments were updated by reference to sell-through rates and discounting patterns 
in the 2016/17 financial year. Write-downs on inventories amounted to € 3,494k as of the balance 
sheet date (April 30, 2016: € 2,488k).  

     

  30.04.2017 30.04.2016 

in TEUR    Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

Property, plant and equipment, intangible assets 118 0 80 -40

Valuation of inventories 9 -28 0 -36

Accrued rental costs 0 0 0 0

Provisions for employee benefits 127 0 119 0

Other provisions 38 -16 0 0

Treasury shares 0 0 0 0

Untaxed reserves 0 0 0 0

Foreign currency translation 0 0 0 0

Deferred taxes on loss carryforwards and write-

downs to fair value 30 0 892 0

Consolidation entries 1,541 0 1,603 0

Other 37 -18 247 -27

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax 

liabilities 1,900 -62 2,941 -103

Offset within legal tax units and 

jurisdictions -9 9 -43 43

Net deferred tax assets and liabilities 1,891 -53 2,898 -60
     

   

in TEUR 30.04.2017 30.04.2016

Finished goods and trading goods 34,748 33,111

Work-in-process 8,089 8,305

Raw materials and supplies 6,555 6,420

Total 49,392 47,836
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(19) TRADE RECEIVABLES 

 
No trade receivables were secured by bills of exchange either in the 2016/17 financial year or in 
the previous financial year.  

Impairment losses of € 404k were recognized on trade receivables (April 30, 2016: € 538k). The 
development in these items was as follows: 

 
When determining the recoverability of trade receivables, account is taken of all changes in the 
creditworthiness of customers from the initial establishment of payment terms through to the balance 
sheet date. There are no material clusters of credit risks because individual items account for a low 
share of total receivables and are not correlated. 

The payment terms granted vary from customer to customer and reflect standard practices in the 
respective country. Customer creditworthiness is checked in advance before entering into any 
business relationship. Trade receivables are monitored continuously and external service providers 
are used to collect overdue payments. Furthermore, the company reduces its receivable default risk 
with credit insurance policies. 

 
Receivables of € 101k were derecognized due to uncollectibility in the 2016/17 financial year 
(2015/16: € 90k). This amount includes the deduction of compensation received from credit 
insurance. With respect to trade receivables that are neither impaired nor overdue, there were no 
indications at the balance sheet date that customers would be unable to meet their contractual 
obligations.  

   

in TEUR 30.04.2017 30.04.2016

Trade receivables 11,594 9,296

Impairment losses -404 -538

Trade receivables after impairment losses 11,190 8,758
   

   

in TEUR 2016/17 2014/15

01.05. 538 468

Addition (+) / release (-) -16 259

Use -116 -184

Currency translation differences -2 -5

30.04. 404 538
   

   

in TEUR 30.04.2017 30.04.2016

Trade receivables after impairment losses 11,190 8,758

thereof neither impaired nor overdue as of the balance sheet date 6,751 6,698

thereof overdue as of the balance sheet date as follows (net amount):    

less than 30 days 1,791 1,084

30 – 90 days 1,493 500

91 – 180 days 852 399

181 – 365 days 278 61

over 1 year 25 16
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(20) OTHER RECEIVABLES AND ASSETS 

 
Other receivables and assets, prepaid expenses and deferred charges have terms to maturity of less 
than one year.  

(21) EQUITY 
The composition of equity and its development are presented separately in the statement of changes 
in equity. 

Share capital 
Share capital consists of 5,000,000 zero par value shares, each of which represents an equal 
interest in share capital. There are no preferred shares or shares with special control rights. 

Capital reserves 
Appropriated reserves result from the premium (less issue costs) on the stock issue in 1995.  

Other reserves 
Due to the adjustments outlined in the notes to the statement of comprehensive income, other 
reserves as of April 30, 2016 decreased from € 30,790k to € 26,321k. 

A dividend of € 982k was distributed for the 2015/16 financial year.  

Reserve for cash flow hedges 

 

  

   

in TEUR 30.04.2017 30.04.2016

Other receivables and assets 3,261 5,111

thereof cash flow hedge 11 15

Total 3,261 5,111
   

   

in TEUR 2016/17 2015/16

01.05. 6 -5

Fair value measurement of derivatives 55 -42

Realized hedge transactions -58 59

Applicable income taxes 4 -6

30.04. 7 6
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Reserve for actuarial gains/losses 

Currency translation differences 
Due to the adjustments outlined in the notes to the statement of comprehensive income, the net 
balance of currency translation differences as of April 30, 2016 changed from € -812k to € -674k. 

Treasury stock 
Wolford AG holds 88,140 treasury stock shares (April 30, 2016: 88,140). As a result, 2% of share 
capital is held by the company (April 30, 2016: 2%). Within its long-term incentive program, on 
January 22, 2016 Wolford AG sold a total of 11,860 zero par bearer treasury stock shares to 
members of the Management Board at an equivalent value of € 21.08 per share. The shares were 
acquired by Ashish Sensarma, CEO, and Axel Dreher, COO/CFO, on January 22, 2016 and are 
subject to a holding period running until April 30, 2018. The shares thereby disposed of by the 
company had a total value of € 250k. The sale and purchase of these shares was executed over the 
counter. 

Stock appreciation rights 
The Wolford Group has granted a long-term variable bonus (LTI) to its Management Board in the 
form of stock appreciation rights (SARs). Participation is based on a mandatory proprietary 
investment in return for which the company assigns treasury stock shares at a stipulated average 
price. The proprietary investment remains mandatory through to the time at which the SARs are 
exercised. 

The SARs oblige the Wolford Group for each right thereby granted to make a cash payment to settle 
the differential amount between the average closing price of Wolford AG shares on the Vienna 
Stock Exchange in the twelve calendar months preceding the actual exercise date and a defined 
average price, multiplied by a percentage based on average EBIT in the 2015/16, 2016/17, and 
2017/18 financial years.  

The differential amount has an upper limit (cap) in each case. 

The SARs granted are subject to a lockup period running until April 30, 2018. Following expiry of 
the lockup period, the SARs may be exercised by the participants in the plan provided that the 
following conditions are met and no blackout periods apply: 

Performance conditions: 

– Net annual revenues averaging at least € 150.0 million are generated in the financial years from 
2015/16 and 2017/18; 

– EBT averaging at least 5% of annual net sales is generated in the financial years from 2015/16 
and 2017/18. 

Should these conditions not be met, then the respective rights lapse. This is also the case when a 
plan participant leaves the company in circumstances other than due to expiry of the employment 
contract except in cases in which the conclusion of employment is not due to termination or dismissal 

   

in TEUR 2016/17 2015/16

01.05. -4,070 -3,867

Actuarial gains and losses resulting from changes in actuarial parameters -87 898

Revaluation of deferred taxes 0 -1,101

30.04. -4,157 -4,070
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for reasons justified by the employment contract of the respective Management Board member or to 
the legitimate premature departure of the Management Board member. 

The present value of the SARs upon being granted is determined using an option price model. 
Expected volatility is derived by reference to observable historic market prices. Where no historic 
information is available concerning exercise patterns for the SARs, it is assumed that the expected 
term corresponds to the period of time until the SARs lapse. The assessment of the expected number 
of exercisable SARs accounts for performance conditions that do not include any market conditions. 

As of April 30, 2017, this did not result in any relevant obligation for the Wolford Group, as the 
performance conditions mean that the expected number of SARs deemed exercisable amounted to 
zero at this date. 

The assumptions used to calculate the present value of the SARs upon being granted are as follows. 

 
(22) FINANCIAL LIABILITIES   
Financial liabilities are structured as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

    2016/17 

Average share price EUR 22.75 

Average dividend yield % 0.74 

Average interest rate % -0.56 

Expected volatility % 18.24 
   

   

in TEUR 30.04.2017 30.04.2016

Loans from banks, variable interest rates from 0.25% to 1.7%  41,556 20,844

(30.04.2016: 0.25% to 6.2%)    

Loans from banks, fixed interest rates from 1.75%  800 4,600

(30.04.2016: 1,75% to 5.1%)    

Loans from the Austrian Research Promotion Agency, 439 466

fixed interest rates from 0.75%  (30.04.2016: 0.75%)    

Interest-free loan from the Federal Province of Vorarlberg 64 124

Total 42,859 26,034

thereof current 42,646 25,060
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The scheduled repayments for financial liabilities have the following maturity structures: 

 
As of April 30, 2017, the fair value of fixed-interest financial liabilities was € 16k higher than cost 
(April 30, 2016: € 98k). 

The carrying amounts of liabilities to banks are equivalent to their respective cost. Collateral for 
current liabilities is provided by maturity-linked surety commitments issued by the Republic of Austria 
with refinancing commitments by Oesterreichische Kontrollbank Aktiengesellschaft. 

On account of the losses incurred, the company has breached the requirements of existing loan 
agreements and classified the relevant financial liabilities as current. 

To secure its liquidity, in July 2017 the company agreed a financing arrangement with a consortium 
of banks. This is limited until the end of June 2018 and is subject to various terms and conditions, 
the fulfilment of which is dependent on future events. These conditions particularly include the 
initiation of an investor identification process with the objective of obtaining a significant equity 
injection by the end of June 2018. 

Furthermore, upon agreement of the financing arrangement the company was obliged to provide 
extensive security (global assignment of all receivables, pledging of machinery and all properties, 
as well as of intellectual property). 

Although the Management Board currently expects all terms and conditions to be successfully met, 
the fact that fulfilment of such also depends on circumstances outside the company’s control means 
that substantial uncertainties remain. These may also involve a residual risk (especially for the period 
following expiry of the financing arrangement at the end of June 2018) in terms of the Group’s 
ability to uphold its business operations.  

(23) PROVISIONS FOR LONG-TERM EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 
The provisions for pensions, severance pay, and anniversary payments are calculated in accord-
ance with IAS 19 (revised).  

 
  

    

in TEUR Up to 1 year 1 – 5 years Over 5 years

As of 30.04.2017 42,646 214 0

As of 30.04.2016 25,060 974 0
    

   

in TEUR 30.04.2017 30.04.2016

Provisions for pensions 4,922 4,984

Provisions for severance pay 10,416 10,599

Provisions for jubilee payments 2,209 2,313

Total 17,547 17,896
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Provision for pensions 
Wolford AG has direct pension obligations based on individual commitments to three former 
Management Board members. Collective agreements in France require the company to make 
payments to employees upon retirement. The relevant calculation is based on generally accepted 
actuarial rules.  

Provisions for severance pay 
Legal requirements entitle employees who joined the Austrian parent company before 2003 to a 
one-off severance payment if their employment relationship is terminated or when they retire. The 
amount of these payments depends on the length of service and the employee’s wage or salary at 
the end of employment. In Switzerland, the company is required to make certain payments to 
employees on retirement, death, or inability to work. The payments are dependent on the employ-
ee’s age, number of years worked, salary, and individual contributions. This plan is financed jointly 
by the employees and the employer, with the obligation being counter-financed by the insurance 
company Swiss Life by way of qualified insurance policies that serve as plan assets. There are other 
smaller defined benefit severance pay plans in Italy and Slovenia. Provisions for pensions and 
severance pay developed as follows: 

 
Expenses of € 238k were recognized in the year under report for defined contribution obligations 
(2015/16: € 244k). Defined benefit payments of € 465k are planned for provisions for pensions 
and severance pay in the coming 2017/18 financial year (2016/17: € 467k).  

Provision for jubilee payments 
The provision for jubilee payments developed as follows: 

 
Defined benefit payments from jubilee obligations are expected to total € 38k in the 2017/18 
financial year (2016/17: € 146k). 

      

in TEUR 2016/17 2015/16 2014/15 2013/14 2012/13

Present value of obligations as of 01.05. 15,583 16,949 13,730 13,319 12,069

Current service cost 680 508 534 601 561

Past service cost 0 0 0 0 0

Interest expense 282 258 412 466 522

Pension and severance compensation payments -1,294 -1,234 -822 -1,401 -1,443

Actuarial gain / loss 87 -898 3,095 745 1,610

Present value of obligations as of 30.04. 15,338 15,583 16,949 13,730 13,319
      

      

in TEUR 2016/17 2015/16 2014/15 2013/14 2012/13

Present value of obligation as of 01.05. 2,313 2,271 1,967 1,903 1,658

Current service cost 141 126 161 156 141

Interest expense 42 34 59 67 72

Jubilee payments -112 -109 -136 -71 -54

Actuarial gain / loss -175 -9 220 -88 86

Present value of obligation as of 30.04. 2,209 2,313 2,271 1,967 1,903
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Provisions for pensions, severance and jubilee payments 
The actuarial gains and losses result solely from changes in financial assumptions and are reported 
under other comprehensive income for the retirement and severance pay provisions and under 
personnel expenses for the anniversary payment provisions.  

Current and past service cost are reported under expenses for severance pay and pensions, while 
interest expenses are included under interest on employee benefits. 

 
The weighted average term of the defined benefit obligation amounts to 15 years. 

(24) OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 
Other non-current liabilities are structured as follows:  

 
The construction of the production facility in Slovenia was subsidized with a grant that is being 
written back by way of depreciation and amortization and expenses (personnel expenses).  

(25) OTHER NON-CURRENT PROVISIONS 
Provisions for onerous contracts have been recognized as non-current provisions at an amount of 
€ 2,347k for the risk of losses on pending transaction in connection with rental agreements in the 
U.S., Canada, Asia, and Europe (2015/16: € 2,018k). The classification of these items as non-
current provisions has been based on the terms of the respective rental agreements. 

 

      

in TEUR 2016/17 2015/16 2014/15 2013/14 2012/13

Expenses for pensions, severance compensation 

and jubilee payments 821 634 695 757 702

Interest on employee benefits 324 292 471 533 594
      

   

in TEUR 30.04.2017 30.04.2016

Government grant for Slovenia project 850 908

Other 74 64

Total 924 972
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(26) CURRENT PROVISIONS 
Other major provisions recognized in accordance with IAS 37 are structured as follows: 

*) Adjusted (see Section II of the Notes). 

The current provisions reported for the 2015/16 financial year have been increased to account for 
the risk of losses on pending transactions in connection with short-term rental agreements in the US. 
This adjustment affects other provisions and is structured as follows: 

 
The provision for sales bonuses relates to as yet unsettled obligations to customers. The staff 
provisions mainly involve provisions for variable salary components and severance pay. Among 
other items, other provisions include outstanding compensation for the Supervisory Board and 
outstanding commissions on revenues. 

The provisions also recognized under current provisions as of May 1, 2016 to account for the risk 
of losses on pending transactions in connection with short-term rental agreements in the U.S. were 
fully utilized in the financial year under report.  

       

in TEUR  01.05.2016* 

Currency 

translation 
differences Use Reversal Addition 30.04.2017 

Sales bonuses 894 2 -778 -2 709 825 

Staff 1,569 8 -823 -357 2,853 3,250 

Advertising 1,166 1 -462 -703 303 305 

Tax consulting / auditing 524 -1 -417 -31 751 826 

Legal fees 57 1 -47 0 692 703 

Other* 2,437 20 -6,020 -69 8,867 5,235 

Total 6,647 31 -8,547 -1,162 14,175 11,144 
       

    

in TEUR 
Reported 

30.04.2016 Adjustment 
Adjusted 

30.04.2016

Other 1,905 +532 2,437
    



 

 

  

 C O N S O L I D ATE D  F IN A N CI A L  S TATE ME N TS  

PA G E S  9 6  –  9 7  

(27) OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES 
Other current liabilities are structured as follows: 

(28) CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 
The company has issued rental guarantees totaling € 3,023k (2015/16: € 3,008k) and other 
guarantees of € 1,042k (2015/16: € 1,657k).  

(29) OTHER FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS 
The company has concluded a substantial volume of rental agreements that qualify as operating 
lease arrangements in terms of their economic content, as a result of which the leased items are 
attributed to the lessor. Lease arrangements will result in the following payments in subsequent 
periods:  

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

in TEUR 30.04.2017 30.04.2016

Outstanding vacation entitlement 2,701 2,982

Liabilities to taxation authorities 2,494 2,420

Special payments 1,767 1,821

Accrued rental and lease payments 2,334 1,803

Liabilities for credit vouchers 1,310 1,296

Liabilities for social security 1,237 1,231

Liabilities to staff 37 783

Overtime 198 219

Other 997 921

of which cash flow hedges 4 4

Total 13,075 13,476
   

   

in TEUR 30.04.2017 30.04.2016

Minimum lease and rental payments due in    

up to 1 year 16,264 14,495

1 to 5 years 33,183 31,819

over 5 years 12,395 7,782
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The rental agreements relate to office space used by group companies and to the worldwide retail 
activities of the Wolford Group. Most of the related leases are based on minimum lease payments. 
The Wolford Group has also concluded rental agreements that call for contingent, in particular 
revenue-based, payments. Rental and leasing expenses totaled € 22,474k in the 2016/17 financial 
year (2015/16: € 22,536k). This total includes contingent payments due to revenue-based rents 
(rents and ancillary costs) of € 9,637k (2015/16: € 9,877k). As of April 30, 2017, the Wolford 
Group expects future payments of € 46k from sub-leases (April 30, 2016: € 42k). These are due 
within one year. 

V. Notes to the Cash Flow Statement 
The cash flow statement of the Wolford Group shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents 
resulting from inflows and outflows of cash during the financial year. Within the cash flow statement, 
a distinction is made between cash flows from operating, investing, and financing activities. The 
cash flow from operating activities is calculated using the indirect method. This calculation is based 
on earnings before tax, which are adjusted to exclude non-cash income and expenses. The cash 
flow from operating activities is then determined by including the impact of changes in net working 
capital. Inflows and outflows of cash from interest income and interest expenses are recognized in 
the cash flow from operating activities.  

(30) INVESTMENTS IN PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND OTHER 
INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

In the period under report, the Wolford Group invested a total amount of € 6,719k in property, 
plant and equipment and other intangible assets (2015/16: € 7,297k), of which an amount of 
€ 6,658k was cash-effective (2015/16: € 7,667k). In the same period, the Group received 
proceeds of € 153k from disposals of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 
(2015/16: € 1,472k). 
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VI. Financial Instruments 
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

Objectives and methods of financial and capital management 
The objective of financial risk management is to record and assess uncertain factors that could 
impact negatively on the company’s business performance. Financial risk management serves to 
protect liquidity, ensure efficient liquidity management throughout the Group, increase the Group’s 
financial strength, and reduce financial risk, also by deploying financial instruments. The most 
important objective of Wolford’s financial and capital management is to ensure sufficient liquidity at 
all times to enable the Group to offset seasonal fluctuations customary to its sector and finance its 
further strategic growth.  

The main risks to which the Group is exposed in connection with financial instruments are interest-
related cash flow risks, as well as liquidity, creditworthiness, currency, and credit risks. The Man-
agement Board has implemented strategies and processes to manage individual types of risk. 

Major primary financial liabilities include bank loans, overdrafts, and trade payables. The main 
purpose of these financial liabilities is to finance the Wolford Group’s business activities. Wolford 
has a variety of financial assets, such as trade receivables, credit balances at banks, cash on hand, 
and short-term investments directly relating to its business activities. 

The Wolford Group also deploys derivative financial instruments, especially forward exchange 
contracts. Derivative financial instruments are financial instruments whose value changes in response 
to a change in a hedged item (e.g. interest rate), that require little or no initial net investment and 
that are settled at a future date. At the Wolford Group, derivative financial instruments are used 
exclusively to hedge risks resulting from exchange rate movements and interest rate changes. The 
purpose of exchange rate hedging is to create a sufficiently secure calculation basis for a budgeting 
horizon of a minimum of three months and a maximum of six months. 
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Capital risk management  
The primary objective of capital risk management is to minimize the company’s cost of capital by 
maintaining a high equity ratio and a sound credit rating and thereby limit any negative effects on 
earnings. Wolford AG manages the Group’s capital structure and makes adjustments where 
necessary to account for changes in the underlying economic climate. The strategy of the Wolford 
Group has remained largely unchanged since the previous year.  

The key indicator used in the Group’s capital risk management is the gearing ratio, which presents 
the ratio of net debt to equity. Net debt is defined as non-current and current financial liabilities less 
financial assets and cash and cash equivalents. Based on medium-term forecasts, the Management 
Board expects a long-term capital structure with gearing of around 20%. The development in this 
key figure in recent years is presented in the following table: 

*) Adjusted (original gearing in 2015/16: 30.6%). 

Credit and default risk management 
The Wolford Group only concludes business transactions with creditworthy partners and checks the 
creditworthiness of new customers. Furthermore, trade receivables are continuously monitored and 
default risk is limited by credit insurance. There is no significant concentration of default risk at the 
Group. 

The default risk associated with other financial assets held by the Wolford Group, such as cash and 
cash equivalents, available-for-sale financial assets and certain derivative instruments, is deemed 
low as the company works exclusively with banks with strong credit ratings.  

Interest rate risk management 
The Wolford Group manages its interest charge by ensuring a combination of fixed and floating 
interest rates on its borrowings. The following table shows the sensitivity of earnings before tax to 
changes in the interest rates on floating-rate financial liabilities. The sensitivity refers to an interest 
rate change of +/- 0.5 percentage points: 

 
The following table shows the sensitivity of other comprehensive income before tax to changes of 
+/- 1.0 percentage points in the interest rates for employee-related provisions: 

 

     

in % 30.04.2017 30.04.2016 30.04.2015 30.04.2014

Gearing 69.7% 32.7%* 22.9% 22.9%
     

   

in TEUR 2016/17 2015/16

Interest rate risk +/- 235 +/- 117
   

   

in TEUR 2016/17 2015/16 

Interest rate risk +/- 332 +/- 150
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Foreign exchange risk management 
Exchange rate risks arising from existing foreign currency receivables and planned revenues are 
partly hedged by the group treasury department using forward ex-change contracts and options.  

The following table shows the sensitivity of earnings before tax to exchange rate movements of +/- 
10 percent based on the cash flows of the Wolford Group: 

 
The carrying amounts of the Group’s assets and liabilities held in foreign currencies as of the 
balance sheet date were as follows: 

 
The following table shows the sensitivity of other comprehensive income before tax to exchange rate 
movements of +/- 10 percent based on the carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities held by the 
Wolford Group: 

 
For derivative financial instruments, exchange rate movements of +/- 10 percent would lead to 
currency sensitivities of € +/- 79k (April 30, 2016: €+/- 159k). 

   

in TEUR for currency 2016/17 2015/16 

USD +/- 669 +/- 688

GBP +/- 383 +/- 483

CHF +/-   46 +/- 130

DKK +/- 283 +/- 375

SEK +/-   70 +/-   73

NOK +/-   82 +/-   50

CAD +/-   46 +/-   44

HKD +/-   16 +/- 178
   

     

  Assets Assets Liabilities Liabilities

in TEUR for currency 30.04.2017 30.04.2016 30.04.2017 30.04.2016

USD in USA 10,313 8,839 380 1,802

GBP in Great Britain 2,449 3,613 386 1,341

CHF in Switzerland 1,251 1,807 29 599

DKK in Denmark 0 2,895 168 442

Other 5,148 4,330 282 666

Total 19,161 21,484 1,245 4,850
     

   

in TEUR for currency 2016/17 2015/16

USD +/- 1,104 +/- 782

GBP +/-   229 +/- 252

CHF +/-   136 +/- 134

Other +/-   522 +/- 680
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Liquidity risk management 
At the Wolford Group, liquidity risks are managed and financial risks monitored by a central 
treasury department. This department compiles monthly liquidity forecasts for the overall Group and 
reports to the Management Board on the current financial status. 

The aim is to ensure sufficient liquidity at all times by concluding appropriate credit lines with banks, 
continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows, and coordinating the maturity profiles of 
financial assets and liabilities.  

The following table shows the contractual terms of the financial liabilities held by the Wolford 
Group. The figures are based on the undiscounted cash flows (interest and principal) of the financial 
liabilities. 

 

 
As of April 30, 2017, 99% of existing credit lines had been drawn down (April 30, 2016: 49%). 
Of total credit lines, 61% are committed.  

Primary financial instruments 
The primary financial instruments held by the Wolford Group are reported in the balance sheet. On 
the asset side, these include securities, cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, and other 
receivables. On the liabilities side, they involve trade payables, other liabilities, and interest-bearing 
financial liabilities. The carrying amounts of the primary financial instruments reported in the 
balance sheet are largely equivalent to their fair values. The amounts recognized also represent the 
maximum creditworthiness and default risks as no offsetting agreements are in place. 

  

     

  
Carrying 

amount Cash flows Cash flows Cash flows

in TEUR 30.04.2017 2017/18 
2018/19 to 

2021/22 2022/23 ff

Financial liabilities - interest-

bearing 42,795 41,896 977 0

Financial liabilities - non-

interest-bearing 64 19 46 0

Total 42,859 41,914 1,023 0
     

     

  
Carrying 

amount Cash flows Cash flows Cash flows

in TEUR 30.04.2016 2016/17 
2017/18 to 

2020/21 2021/22 ff

Financial liabilities - interest-

bearing 25,910 25,101 946 0

Financial liabilities - non-

interest-bearing 124 71 52 0

Total 26,034 25,172 998 0
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Derivative financial instruments 
Forward exchange contracts are used to hedge the risks resulting from exchange rate movements. 
The derivative positions open as of April 30, 2017, had terms of less than twelve months. 

  

 
Forward exchange contracts are measured at fair value in accordance with IAS 39. In cash flow 
hedge accounting, the effective portion of the change in fair value is recognized in other compre-
hensive income, while the ineffective portion is recognized in earnings before tax. If a cash flow 
hedge results in an asset or a liability, the amounts recognized in equity are transferred to the 
income statement at the time when the hedged item influences earnings. All hedges were effective in 
the 2016/17 and 2015/16 financial years. 

  

     

  Nominal amount Fair value 

  Foreign currency   Positive Negative
30.04.2017 in 1,000 TEUR TEUR TEUR

Currency forwards        

USD 400 374 8 0

GBP 200 233 0 -4

CHF 200 187 3 0

DKK 0 0 0 0

SEK 0 0 0 0

NOK 0 0 0 0

CAD 0 0 0 0

HKD 0 0 0 0
     

     

  Nominal amount Fair value 

  Foreign currency   Positive Negative
30.04.2016 in 1,000 TEUR TEUR TEUR

Currency forwards        

USD 500 450 12 0

GBP 600 765 1 -4

CHF 300 275 2 0

DKK 0 0 0 0

SEK 0 0 0 0

NOK 0 0 0 0

CAD 0 0 0 0

HKD 1,000 113 0 0
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Fair value 
Due to the short-term nature of the assets and liabilities involved, the carrying amounts of cash 
holdings, current financial funds, receivables and other assets, trade payables, current liabilities, 
and provisions can be regarded as reasonable estimates of their respective fair values. 

 

 

    

30.04.2017      

in TEUR Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Non-current assets      

Financial investments 1,283 0 0

Current assets      

Other receivables 0 11 0

Securities and financial investments 0 0 0

Current liabilities      

Other liabilities 0 -4 0

Total 1,283 7 0
    

    

30.04.2016      

in TEUR Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Non-current assets      

Financial investments 1,305 0 0

Current assets      

Other receivables 0 15 0

Securities and financial investments 0 0 0

Current liabilities      

Other liabilities 0 -4 0

Total 1,305 11 0
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The following hierarchy is used to determine and report the fair values of financial instruments in line 
with the respective valuation method: 

Level 1: Listed prices for identical assets or liabilities on active markets; 

Level 2: Input factors other than listed prices that are observable for assets and liabilities either 
directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); 

Level 3: Input factors for assets and liabilities that are not based on observable market data.  

The financial assets reported in Level 1 include publicly listed investment fund shares, while the 
securities and financial assets presented in current assets involve securities used to hedge rental and 
lease obligations. The other receivables and other liabilities reported in Level 2 result from the 
valuation of outstanding foreign currency derivative transactions.  

The cost, fair values, and carrying amounts of non-current securities are as follows: 

 

 

     

30.04.2017 

in TEUR Cost 

Market value  

              = 
carrying amount 

Recognized 

gains/losses 

thereof 

recognized in 
profit or loss

Non-current securities        

Investment fund shares 1,398 1,283 -115 -115

Total 1,398 1,283 -115 -115
     

     

30.04.2016 
in TEUR Cost 

Market value  
              = 

carrying amount 
Recognized 

gains/losses 

thereof 
recognized in 
profit or loss

Non-current securities        

Investment fund shares 1,668 1,555 -113 -113

Disposal 270 250 -20 -20

Total 1,398 1,305 -93 -93
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Carrying amounts, valuation base and fair values of financial instruments 
according to measurement criteria, maturities and classes 
The following table shows the reconciliation of the carrying amounts of financial instruments with 
IAS 39 measurement categories: 

 
The financial instruments are classified into the following IAS 39 categories: 

 

        

30.04.2017 

in TEUR 

IAS 39 

valuation 
category 

Carrying 

amount 

Amortized 

cost 

Fair value 

not through 
profit / loss 

Fair value 

through 
profit / loss Current 

Non-

current

Cash and cash equivalents L&R 10,312 10,312 0 0 10,312 0

Securities and financial investments Afs 0 0 0 0 0 0

Trade receivables L&R 11,190 11,190 0 0 11,190 0

Prepaid expenses and deferred charges L&R 2,744 2,744 0 0 2,744 0

Other receivables and assets L&R 5,152 5,152 0 0 3,261 1,891

Derivatives CFH 11 0 11 0 11 0

Financial assets Afs 1,283 0 1,283 0 0 1,283

Total financial assets   30,692 29,398 1,294 0 27,518 3,174

Trade payables FL 5,035 5,035 0 0 5,035 0

Bank loans and overdrafts FL 41,846 41,846 0 0 41,846 0

Financial liabilities, non-current FL 1,014 1,014 0 0 0 1,014

Financial liabilities, current FL 0 0 0 0 0 0

Derivatives CFH 4 0 4 0 4 0

Other financial liabilities FL 14,000 14,000 0 0 13,076 924

Total  financial liabilities   61,899 61,895 4 0 59,961 1,938
        

    

Loans and receivables L&R TEUR 29,398

Cash flow hedge CFH TEUR 7

Available-for-sale assets Afs TEUR 1,283

Other financial obligations FL TEUR 61,895
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The financial instruments are classified into the following IAS 39 categories: 

 

  

        

30.04.2016 

in TEUR 

IAS 39 

valuation 
category 

Carrying 

amount 

Amortized 

cost 

Fair value 

not through 
profit / loss 

Fair value 

through 
profit / loss Current 

Non-

current

Cash and cash equivalents L&R 3,870 3,870 0 0 3,870 0

Securities and financial investments Afs 0 0 0 0 0 0

Trade receivables L&R 8,758 8,758 0 0 8,758 0

Prepaid expenses and deferred charges L&R 3,262 3,262 0 0 3,262 0

Other receivables and assets L&R 7,027 7,027 0 0 5,096 1,931

Derivatives CFH 15 0 15 0 15 0

Financial assets Afs 1,303 0 1,305 0 0 1,305

Total financial assets   24,235 22,917 1,320 0 21,001 3,236

Trade payables FL 5,086 5,086 0 0 5,086 0

Bank loans and overdrafts FL 24,867 24,867 0 0 24,867 0

Financial liabilities, non-current FL 974 974 0 0 0 974

Financial liabilities, current FL 193 193 0 0 193 0

Derivatives CFH 4 0 4 0 4 0

Other financial liabilities FL 14,442 14,442 0 0 13,390 1,052

Total  financial liabilities   45,566 45,562 4 0 43,540 2,026
        

    

Loans and receivables L&R TEUR 22,917

Cash flow hedge CFH TEUR 11

Available-for-sale assets Afs TEUR 1,305

Other financial obligations FL TEUR 45,562
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Net results by class  

1) “From other”: fees and other premiums that cannot be directly classified as interest income. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

       

2016/17 
in TEUR From interest From other 1) 

From 
subsequent 

measurement at 
fair value From disposal 

Total through 
profit or loss 

Total not through 
profit or loss

Loans and receivables (L&R) 49 0 0 0 49 0

Derivatives (CFH) 0 0 4 -58 -58 4

Available-for-sale assets (AfS) 4 0 0 0 4 0

Other financial liabilities (FL) -463 -125 0 0 -588 0

Net results -410 -125 4 -58 -593 4

             

2015/16 

in TEUR From interest From other 1) 

From 

subsequent 
measurement at 

fair value From disposal 
Total through 

profit or loss 

Total not through 

profit or loss

Loans and receivables (L&R) 26 0 0 0 26 0

Derivatives (CFH) 0 0 -42 59 59 -42

Available-for-sale assets (AfS) -61 0 0 0 -61 0

Other financial liabilities (FL) -263 -337 0 0 -600 0

Net results -298 -337 -42 59 -576 -42
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VII. Other Disclosures 
EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE 
On June 9, 2017, Wolford’s principal shareholder group, comprising the WMP private family 
foundation, the Sesam private foundation, their joint subsidiary M. Erthal & Co. Beteiligungsgesell-
schaft m.b.H., and closely related natural persons announced their intention to sell their majority 
interest in Wolford AG. To this end, the shareholders have initiated an investor selection process that 
is being supported by the management of Wolford AG. The acquisition of an equity package by a 
future core shareholder should be linked to an equity measure that sustainably boosts the company’s 
liquidity.  

On July 5, 2017, Wolford announced that Ashish Sensarma, CEO of Wolford AG since January 
2015, would be standing down from the company’s Management Board as of July 31, 2017. Axel 
Dreher, previously Deputy CEO, has been appointed as CEO as of August 1, 2017, and now has 
additional Board responsibility for strategy, marketing, and sales. The Supervisory Board of Wolford 
AG has also appointed Brigitte Kurz, previously head of the finance department, to the Manage-
ment Board, in this case also as of August 1, 2017. She will take over the function of Chief 
Financial Officer (CFO) from Axel Dreher and will also assume Board responsibility for human 
resources, IT, legal affairs, and investor relations. The tasks of COO, with responsibility for devel-
opment, production, and logistics, will continue to be performed by Axel Dreher. 

On July 11, 2017, Wolford AG communicated by ad-hoc announcement that it had agreed with its 
Austrian banking partners to extend its credit lines through to June 30, 2018, as well as a bridge 
financing facility of up to € 10 million to cover peak seasonal liquidity requirements. The company 
has therefore secured its financing for the current financial year. 

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

The company maintains business relationships with individual members of the Supervisory Board. 
These are immaterial in scope and are all invoiced at customary market rates. 
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INFORMATION ON THE MANAGEMENT AND SUPERVISORY BOARDS 

 

 
A provision of € 196k was recognized for Supervisory Board compensation in the 2016/17 
financial year (2015/16: € 194k).  

 

The members of the Management Board in 2016/17 were: 
Ashish Sensarma, Chief Executive Officer 
Axel Dreher, Deputy Chief Executive Officer 
 

The members of the Supervisory Board in 2016/17 were: 
Antonella Mei-Pochtler, Chairwoman 
Claudia Beermann, Deputy Chairwoman 
Lothar Reiff, Member 
Birgit G. Wilhelm, Member 
 

The Staff Council’s representatives on the Supervisory Board were: 
Anton Mathis 
Peter Glanzer 

The terms of office of the Supervisory Board members and the composition of the Supervisory Board 
committees are presented in the Corporate Governance Report.  

The Management Board approved the consolidated financial statements for submission to the 
Supervisory Board on July 31, 2017. The Supervisory Board is required to perform its own review 
of the consolidated financial statements and to declare whether it has approved them.  

     

2016/17 in TEUR Remuneration 
Severance 

compensation Pensions Total 

Expenses for members of the 

Management Board 1,075 0 0 1,075 

thereof variable 0 0 0 0 

Former members of the 

Management Board 0 0 200 200 

Total 1,075 0 200 1,275 
     

     

2015/16 in TEUR Remuneration 
Severance 

compensation Pensions Total 

Expenses for members of the 

Management Board 1,115 0 0 1,115 

thereof variable 66 0 0 66 

Former members of the 

Management Board 0 0 241 241 

Total 1,115 0 241 1,356 
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We hereby confirm to the best of our knowledge that the consolidated financial statements as of 
April 30, 2017 give a true and fair view of the asset, liabilities, financial position, and profit or loss 
of the Group as required by the applicable accounting standards and that the group management 
report gives a true and fair view of the development and performance of the business and the 
position of the Group, together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties the Group 
faces.  

We confirm to the best of our knowledge that the separate financial statements as of April 30, 2017 
give a true and fair picture of the assets, liabilities, financial position, and profit or loss of the parent 
company as required by the applicable accounting standards and that the management report gives 
a true and fair view of the development and performance of the business and the position of the 
company, together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties the company faces.  

Bregenz, July 31, 2017 

 

   

Ashish Sensarma 
CEO 
 

Responsible for Marketing and, 

Sales, Information Technology, and 

Coordination of Corporate Strategy 

 Axel Dreher 
Deputy CEO 
 

Responsible for Product Development, Production 

and Technology, Procurement, Distribution 

Logistics, Quality Management,  

Finance, Internal Audit, Investor Relations, Legal 

Affairs and Human Resources 

 

Declaration by the 
Management Board of 
Wolford AG pursuant to 
§ 82 (4) Z 3 BörseG 
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Report on consolidated financial statements  

AUDIT OPINION 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Wolford AG, Bregenz, and its subsidiaries 
(the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as of April 30, 2017, the consoli-
dated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity, and the 
consolidated cash flow statement for the financial year ending on that date, as well as the notes to 
the consolidated financial statements. 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements comply with legal requirements 
and provide a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group as of April 30, 2017, as well 
as of its financial performance and its cash flows for the financial year ending on that date in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU (IFRS) and 
additional requirements of § 245a UGB. 

BASIS FOR AUDIT OPINION 
We conducted our audit in accordance with the Austrian Standards on Auditing. These standards 
require application of International Standards on Auditing (ISA). Our responsibilities pursuant to 
these requirements and standards are set out in greater detail in the “Responsibilities of the Auditor 
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our audit opinion. Consistent with 
the requirements of Austrian corporate law and our own professional standards, we are independ-
ent of the Group and performed our other professional obligations in accordance with the afore-
mentioned requirements and standards. We believe that the audit evidence we obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Material uncertainties in respect of the company’s continuation 

We refer to the disclosures made in  Sections III (22) and VII of the consolidated financial statements 
and the “Financial Review” section of the group management report, which set out the disadvanta-
geous changes that have arisen in the company’s asset, financial, and earnings position, as well as 
the conditions governing the financing arrangement intended to safeguard its liquidity. As stated in 
these sections, circumstances would indicate the existence of material uncertainties which give rise 
to significant doubts concerning the Group’s ability to continue its business activities. We have not 
modified our audit opinion to account for this circumstance. 

PARTICULARLY IMPORTANT AUDIT MATTERS 
Particularly important audit matters designate those matters which, based on our professional 
assessment, are of the greatest significance for our audit of the consolidated financial statements for 
the financial year under report. These matters were accounted for in our audit of the consolidated 
financial statements as a whole and in the forming of our audit opinion in respect of the consolidat-
ed financial statements. We have not issued any separate audit opinion on these matters. In 
addition to the circumstance referred to in “Material uncertainties in respect of the company’s 
continuation”, we have identified the matters referred to below as particularly important audit 
matters requiring communication in our audit opinion.  

Audit Opinion 
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ADJUSTMENTS PURSUANT TO IAS 8 (IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS AND 
CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT)  

Description of matter  
It was ascertained in the 2016/17 financial year that the cash flow forecasts used to determine the 
values in use for the impairment tests performed on cash-generating units in the past financial year 
and to measure provisions for onerous contracts in the United States of America were not appropri-
ate. 
Furthermore, the presentation of individual items in the consolidated cash flow statement included in 
the previous year’s consolidated financial statements was erroneous (e.g. due to netting). 

The Management Board adjusted these items retrospectively in accordance with IAS 8 “Accounting 
Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors”. 

The scope of retrospective adjustments to the impairments and provisions for onerous contracts is 
highly dependent on the assessment made by the company’s legal representatives in respect of the 
cash flow forecasts. 

Reference is made to the relevant disclosures in Section II of the notes to the consolidated financial 
statement. 

Audit approach 
We assessed the appropriateness of the retrospective adjustments to the impairments of assets and 
provisions for onerous contracts in the United States of America by reference to the planning 
documents used by the Management Board (including cash flow forecasts). We reviewed the 
adjustments made to the comparative figures in the consolidated cash flow statement by reference to 
the detailed analyses compiled by the company. 

 

IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS 

Description of matter  
The disadvantageous changes arising in the company’s financial performance in the 2016/17 
financial year and the associated reduction in expected earnings constitute an indication for 
impairment of assets and cash-generating units. Based on the impairment tests performed, impair-
ments of EUR 2.0 million were recognized on intangible assets and property, plant and equipment 
in the 2016/17 financial year. 
The scope of impairment is highly dependent on the assessment made by the company’s legal 
representatives with regard to future developments, as well as on other parameters relevant to 
valuation. 

Reference is made to the relevant disclosures in Section III (6) of the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements. 

Audit approach 
We assessed the recoverability of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment, as well as 
the scope of impairments recognized, also by reference to the budgets compiled by the Manage-
ment Board and approved by the Supervisory Board, and appraised the appropriateness of the 
assumptions on which the budgets were based. In checking the plausibility of the assumptions 
thereby used in individual aspects of the budgeting we also drew on advice from internal experts. 
Furthermore, we evaluated the consistency and arithmetic accuracy of the valuation model thereby 
used. 
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OTHER INFORMATION 
The company’s legal representatives are responsible for the other information. This information 
involves all information included in the annual report apart from the consolidated financial state-
ments, group management report, and audit opinion. We assume that the annual report will be 
published after the date of the audit opinion. 

Our audit opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and 
we can offer no assurances as to that information. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, it is our responsibility to read 
the other information referred to above and to consider whether, in view of the understanding we 
have gained from our audit, such information materially contradicts the information included in the 
consolidated financial statements or otherwise appears to constitute a materially misstatement. 

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE COMPANY’S LEGAL REPRESENTATIVES AND OF 
THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
The company’s legal representatives are responsible for preparing the consolidated financial 
statements and ensuring that these provide a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position, its 
financial performance and its cash flows in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU and the 
additional requirements of § 245a UGB. Furthermore, the company’s legal representatives are 
responsible for the internal control measures they deem necessary to ensure that the consolidated 
financial statements as prepared are free of material misstatements, whether intended or unintend-
ed.  

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the company’s legal representatives are respon-
sible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue its business activities, to disclose any matters 
pertaining to the continuation of its business activities, where relevant, and to apply the going 
concern accounting principle unless they intend to wind up the Group or discontinue its business 
activities, or have no realistic alternative to doing so. 

The Audit Committee is responsible for monitoring the Group’s financial reporting processes. 
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE AUDITOR FOR AUDITING THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Our aim is to gain reasonable assurance that the consolidated financial statements as a whole are 
free of any material misstatements, whether intended or unintended, and to issue an audit opinion 
that contains our audit findings. Reasonable assurance is a high degree of assurance, but does not 
constitute any guarantee that the audit of the financial statements conducted in accordance with the 
Austrian Standards on Auditing, which require application of ISA, will always detect any material 
misstatement, should such be the case. Misstatements may result from acts of intent or errors and are 
deemed material when they, individually or aggregately, can be expected to influence the financial 
decisions taken by users on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 

The audit of the financial statements does not entail any assurance concerning the future existence of 
the Group thereby audited or of the economic expedience or effectiveness of its present or future 
management. 

One component of our audit of the financial statements in accordance with Austrian Standards on 
Auditing, which require application of ISA, involves exercising professional discretionary judgement 
throughout the audit process and maintaining a critical basic approach. 

The following aspects also apply: 

– We identify and assess the risks of material misstatements, whether intended or unintended, in the 
financial statements, plan audit actions in response to these risks, perform these actions, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to serve as a basis for our audit opinion. 
The risk that material misstatements resulting from acts of intent will not be detected is higher than 
the risk of non-detection of misstatements resulting from error. This is because acts of intent may 
also involve fraudulent cooperation, falsified documents, intentional incompleteness, misleading 
statements, or the bypassing of internal control measures. 

– We gain an understanding of the internal control system relevant to the audit of the financial 
statements to enable us to plan audit actions that are appropriate in the given circumstances, but 
not with the aim of issuing an audit opinion concerning the effectiveness of the Group’s internal 
control system. 

– We assess the appropriateness of the accounting policies applied by the company’s legal 
representatives and the reasonableness of the values presented by the representatives in the 
accounts and associated disclosures. 

– We draw conclusions as to how appropriately the company’s legal representatives have applied 
the going concern accounting principle and, based on the audit evidence thereby obtained, 
whether there is material uncertainty in connection with events or circumstances which may give 
rise to significant doubts concerning the Group’s ability to continue its business activities. Should 
we conclude that there is material uncertainty in this respect, we are obliged to refer in our audit 
opinion to the relevant disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, should these disclo-
sures be inappropriate, to modify our audit opinion. We draw our conclusions on the basis of the 
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our audit opinion. Future events or circumstances may 
nevertheless result in the Group discontinuing its business activities. 

– We assess the overall presentation, structure, and contents of the consolidated financial state-
ments, including the note disclosures, and evaluate whether the consolidated financial statements 
provide a true and fair view of the underlying business transactions and events. 

– We obtain adequate and suitable audit evidence concerning the financial information provided 
for units or business activities within the Group to enable us to issue an audit opinion on the 
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for initiating, monitoring, and executing 
the audit of the consolidated financial statements. We bear sole responsibility for our audit opini-
on. 
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We exchange information with the Audit Committee on matters including the planned scope and 
schedule for the audit of the financial statements, as well as on material audit findings, including 
any material deficiencies in the internal control system that we identify during our audit of the 
financial statements. 

We also submit a declaration to the Audit Committee in which we confirm that we have complied 
with the relevant professional code of conduct with respect to our independence and exchange 
information with the Audit Committee on all relationships and other matters that can reasonably be 
assumed to influence our independence and, where relevant, any related precautionary measures. 

Based on the matters discussed with the Audit Committee, we determine which matters were of 
greatest significance for the audit of the consolidated financial statements for the financial year 
under report and which matters therefore constitute particularly important audit matters. We set out 
these matters in our audit opinion, unless laws or other legal requirements preclude the public 
disclosure of such or we ourselves determine in exceptional cases that such matters should not be 
disclosed in our audit opinion because the negative effects of such disclosure could reasonably be 
expected to exceed the benefits of such in terms of the public interest. 

REPORT ON GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT 
Pursuant to the requirements of Austrian corporate law, the group management report is to be 
audited to ascertain whether it is consistent with the consolidated financial statements and whether it 
was prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements. 

The company’s legal representatives are responsible for preparing the group management report in 
accordance with the requirements of Austrian corporate law.  

We conducted our audit in accordance with the professional standards applicable to audits of 
group management reports. 

OPINION 
In our opinion, the group management report has been prepared in accordance with the applicable 
legal requirements, includes accurate disclosures pursuant to § 243a UGB, and is consistent with 
the consolidated financial statements. 

DECLARATION 
Based on the insights gained from the audit of the consolidated financial statements and the 
understanding gained of the Group and its environment, we did not identify any material misstate-
ments in the group management report. 

SUPPLEMENT 
With regard to the material uncertainties in respect of the continuation of business activities, 
reference is made to the “Financial Review” section of the group management report, which 
provides an analysis of the Group’s situation. Furthermore, reference is made to the “Outlook and 
Targets” section of the group management report, which addresses the Group’s expected develop-
ment. 

 

 

AUDITOR RESPONSIBLE FOR ASSIGNMENT 
The auditor responsible for the auditor of the financial statements is Walter Müller. 
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Vienna, August 1, 2017 

Deloitte Audit Wirtschaftsprüfungs GmbH 

Mag. Walter Müller 

Certified Public Auditor 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

These consolidated financial statements may only be published or transmitted together with our audit opinion based on 

the above audited version. This audit opinion refers exclusively to the complete German version of the consolidated 

financial statements and the group management report. The requirements of § 281 (2) of the Austrian Commercial Code 

(UGB) apply to all different versions. 
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The Wolford Group at a glance

WOLFORD AG
BREGENZ (AT), 1950

Wolford Beteiligungs GmbH
Bregenz (AT), 2007

Wolford (Schweiz) AG
Glattbrugg (CH), 1971

Wolford Deutschland GmbH
Munich (DE), 1975

Wolford Paris S.A.R.L.
Paris (FR), 1987

Wolford London Ltd.
London (UK), 1988

Wolford London Ltd.
Ireland (IE), 2007

Wolford (Shanghai)  
Trading Co., Ltd.
Shanghai (CN), 2011

Wolford proizvodnja in
trgovina d.o.o.
Murska Sobota (SI), 2008

Wholly-owned subsidiary Branch office

Wolford Nederland B.V.
Amsterdam (NL), 1998

Wolford Canada Inc. 
Vancouver (CA), 2000

Wolford Asia Limited
Hong Kong (HK), 2006

Wolford Asia Limited
Macao (MO), 2008

Wolford Belgium N.V.
Antwerp (BE), 2007

Wolford Belgium N.V.
Luxembourg (LU), 2008

Wolford Italia S.r.L.
Milan (IT), 1992

Wolford Scandinavia ApS
Copenhagen (DK), 1995

Wolford America, Inc.
New York (US), 1996

Wolford Boutiques, LLC.
New York (US), 1998

Wolford Scandinavia ApS
Norway (NO), 1999

Wolford Scandinavia ApS
Finland (FI), 1999

Wolford Scandinavia ApS
Sweden (SE), 1999

Wolford Espana S.L. 
Portugal (PT), 2011

~Wolford Espana S.L.
Madrid (ES), 1993

~

Service
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Points of Sale

WORLDWIDE

Monobrand points of sale 

April 30, 2017: 267

Thereof Wolford-owned points of sale: 

109 boutiques

51 concession shop-in-shops

22 factory outlets 

Thereof partner-operated points of sale: 

85 boutiques and about 

3,000 other distribution partners

ASIA: 321)

Thereof Wolford-owned points of sale:

5 boutiques

2 concession shop-in-shops

1 factory outlet

Thereof partner-operated points of sale:

24 boutiques

1) including Russia and Ukraine

22

3

322

2

3
7

2

2

8
2

3

3

3
3

1

NORTH AMERICA: 36

Thereof Wolford-owned points of sale

23 boutiques

7 concession shop-in-shops

3 factory outlets 

Thereof partner-operated points of sale:

3 boutiques

2

2

2
2

3

2

3

2

2

5

4

4

4
1

4
4

22

4

3

7

8
9

8
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EUROPE: 1932)

Thereof Wolford-owned points of sale:

81 boutiques

42 concession shop-in-shops

18 factory outlets 

Thereof partner-operated points of sale:

52 boutiques

2) excluding Russia and Ukraine
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Glossary

NON-FINANCIAL TERMS

Accessories Textile and non-textile items that seasonally complete and complement 
the fashion collection

AFREP Austrian financial reporting enforcement panel (Österreichische 
Prüfstelle für Rechnungslegung, OePR)

Beachwear Bikinis and swimbodies that can also be worn as lingerie or outerwear, 
as well as pareos

Bodywear  Classic bodysuits and all close-fitting knitwear such as tops and shirts 

B2B Business to Business; sales of goods to other companies, such as 
wholesalers or department stores

B2C Business to Customer; sales of goods directly to end consumers

Capsule collection Limited collection produced on a one-off basis with a small number of 
articles relating to a specific topic

Commission affiliation A distribution concept for partner boutiques, offering far-reaching
(COAFF) support in merchandise planning, storage, logistics, and marketing,  

as well as sales and product training

Compliance Adherence and measures to monitor adherence to laws, directives,  
and voluntarily recognized codices

Concession shop-in-shops Sales areas operated by Wolford within department stores

Controlled distribution Proprietary and partner-operated boutiques, concession shop-in-shops, 
online business and factory outlets where Wolford products are 
presented in a uniform corporate design

Corporate governance Rules of conduct and legal framework for responsible corporate 
management and supervision 

Cradle to Cradle® Designates the secure and potentially unlimited circulation of materials 
or nutrients in closed cycles. Once a product has been worn or 
consumed, the commodities used to manufacture the product can be  
reinput into a biological or technical cycle and then reprocessed into 
new commodities. (Source: EPEA.) 

Denier Abbreviation: den or D; measure used to designate yarn density.  
The lower the denier value, the finer the yarn (1 den means that  
9,000 m of a given yarn weigh 1 gramme)
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Essentials Includes all Wolford products which – unlike Trend products – form  
part of the assortment over several seasons and years

Factory outlets  Sales locations at which Wolford collections from previous seasons and 
reduced goods are sold

Franchise As independent companies, franchisees draw on their own capital to 
offer the goods of a given manufacturer in line with the manufacturer’s 
own uniform marketing concept

FTE Full-time equivalents

ISO 50001 Systematic energy management standard

Legwear Product group comprising hosiery products: pantyhose, tights, leggings, 
stay-ups, knee-highs, and socks

Lingerie Product group comprising bras, briefs, garter belts and slips 

Master franchise Master franchisees receive a license from the manufacturer permitting 
them to build up a franchise network in a given region or country

Microsites Small websites operating independently of the company website with 
low navigational depth and mostly dealing with just one topic

Monobrand distribution Boutiques which only sell Wolford products (including online business)

Multi-channel distribution Parallel deployment of several distribution channels, e.g., boutiques, 
online shops, and concession shop-in-shop areas

NOOS collection Never-out-of-stock collection; articles that are permanently available

Omni-channel distribution Integration of all available distribution channels and customer 
touchpoints

Partner boutiques Wolford boutiques that are operated by trading partners – in contrast 
to boutiques operated directly by Wolford itself

POS Point of sale; sales location where Wolford products are offered

Private label Products manufactured for other brands or sold under third-party labels

Ready-to-wear Product group comprising the established bodywear line as well as 
knitted and fabric items such as pullovers, dresses, skirts and trousers 

Retail Proprietary points of sale; direct sales to end consumers

Season  The spring/summer collection is largely available for sale starting in 
January, the autumn/winter collection in July
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Shape & Control  Body-shaping products in the Legwear, Lingerie and Beachwear 
segments

Shop-in-shop Separate sales areas at a department store or multi-brand retailer 
specially dedicated to Wolford products

Stock-keeping unit  Abbreviation “SKU”, product option (color, size) 

Time-to-market The timespan from the creation and development through to the final 
placement of products on the market 

Travel retail Points of sale mainly frequented by travelers, e.g., at airports or 
railroad stations

Trend products  All designs that (unlike Essentials) are only seasonal, i.e., offered only 
in the spring/summer or autumn/winter collections; after the end of the 
season these designs are only available in factory outlets 

USP Unique selling proposition

Visual merchandising Optic sales promotion relating to the visual regulation of sales directly 
at the points of sale (POS) 

Wholesale Direct sales to trading partners, including partner-operated boutiques, 
department stores, multi-brand retailers, and private labels
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FINANCIAL TERMS

ADR American Depositary Receipt; an ADR securitizes part of foreign  
shares and is traded like shares on a U.S. or other stock exchange.  
U.S. banks buy shares and issue ADRs to give foreign companies  
access to the U.S. capital market.

AFRAC Austrian Financial Reporting and Auditing Committee

AfS  Available for Sale; financial assets available for disposal

ATX Austrian Traded Index; the leading stock index of the Vienna Stock 
Exchange

Capital employed Shareholders’ equity plus net debt 

CFH Cash flow hedging; to hedge against fluctuations in cash flows

CGU  Cash-generating unit; smallest identifiable group of assets generating 
cash inflows largely independent of cash inflows from other assets 

Deferred taxes Line item to present temporary differences between tax items 
recognized in the IFRS and tax balance sheets

D&O insurance Directors and Officers insurance; financial loss liability insurance for 
executive employees

EBIT  Earnings before interest and taxes 

EBIT adjusted Earnings before interest and taxes, adjusted to eliminate one-off income 
and expenses resulting from strategic realignment

EBITDA  Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization

EBITDA adjusted Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization,  
adjusted to eliminate one-off income and expenses resulting from 
strategic realignment 

EBT Earnings before taxes 

EPS Earnings per share; net profit for the year divided by the number of 
shares with dividend entitlement 

Equity ratio  Shareholders’ equity as percentage of total assets

FL  Financial liabilities

Free cash flow Cash flow from operating activities less cash flow from investing 
activities; the free cash flow is the amount available for acquisitions, 
dividend payments, and share buybacks
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FTE Full-time equivalent

GDP  Gross domestic product

Gearing Net debt-to-equity ratio

HfT Held for Trading; assets held for trading purposes 

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards

Like-for-like development Development in revenues excluding points of sale newly opened or 
closed 

L&R Loans and Receivables; credit lines and customer receivables

LTI Long-Term Incentive; long-term variable compensation

Market capitalization Number of shares outstanding multiplied by the market price  
(as of the balance sheet date) 

Net debt  Current and non-current financial liabilities less financial assets and 
cash and cash equivalents

Revenues  Net revenues less sales tax and any sales deductions 

SAR Stock Appreciation Rights; compensation model based on hypothetical 
stock options

STI Short-Term Incentive; short-term variable compensation

Working capital  Sum of inventories, trade receivables and other current receivables and 
assets less trade payables and other current liabilities



PA G E S  1 2 6  –  1 2 7

Financial Calendar

Date Event

August 24, 2017 Press conference in Vienna

September 4, 2017 AGM record date

September 8, 2017 Q1 Report 2017/18

September 14, 2017 30th Annual General Meeting (AGM)

September 19, 2017 Deduction of dividends (ex-day)

September 20, 2017 Dividend record date

September 21, 2017 First day of dividend payment

December 15, 2017 Half-Year Report 2017/18

March 16, 2018 Q3 Report 2017/18

July 13, 2018 Press conference in Vienna

Investor Relations Contact

Investor Relations Maresa Hoffmann

Telephone +43 5574 690 1258

Email investor@wolford.com

Internet company.wolford.com

Vienna Stock Exchange WOL

Reuters WLFD.VI

Bloomberg WOL:AV, WLFDY:US, WOF:GR

S E R V I C E
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Earnings Data  2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 * 2016/17

Revenues in € mill. 156.47 155.87 157.35 162.40 154.28

EBITDA in € mill. 7.89 3.36 10.94 8.38 -3.39

EBITDA margin in % 5.04  2.16 6.95 5.16 -2.20

EBIT in € mill. -0.91  -4.72 2.17 -2.92 -15.72

EBIT margin in % -0.58  -3.03 1.38  -1.80 -10.19

Earnings before tax in € mill. -2.25  -5.89  1.21  -3.85 -16.57

Earnings after tax in € mill. -2.76  -2.81  1.03  -10.66 -17.88

Capital expenditure in € mill. 6.03  7.87  10.97  7.30 6.72

Free cash flow in € mill. 0.48  -0.96  -0.54  -2.98 -9.45

Employees on average FTE 1,606 1,562 1,574 1,571 1,544

Stock Exchange Data  2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 * 2016/17

Earnings per share in € -0.56 -0.57 0.21 -2.17 -3.64

Dividend per Share in € 0.00 0.00 0.20 0.20 0.20

Dividend in € mill. 0.00 0.00 0.98 0.98 0.98

Equity per share in € 15.95 15.18 15.27 12.99 9.14

Share price high in € 28.90 22.77 24.12 25.48 26.01

Share price low in € 20.53 16.81 18.75 21.35 19.01

Share price at end of period in € 20.62 19.10 24.00 24.67 19.28

Shares outstanding (weighted) in 1,000 4,900 4,900 4,900 4,912 4,912

Market capitalization (ultimo) in € mill. 103.08 95.48 120.00 123.35 96.38

Balance Sheet Data (at April 30)  2013 2014 2015 2016 * 2017

Equity in € mill. 78.15 74.38 74.83 63.81 44.88

Net debt in € mill. 15.96 17.04 17.12 20.86 31.27

Working capital in € mill. 38.49 33.72 38.14 43.15 45.73

Balance sheet total in € mill. 142.32 138.12 147.44 137.47 138.39

Equity ratio in % 55 54 51 46 32

Gearing in % 20 23 23 33 70

*Adjusted (see Section II of the Notes).  

The indicators and the method of calculation are outlined in the Glossary on pages 122 to 126.

Overview of Key Indicators (5 Years)
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Publisher: Wolford AG, Wolfordstraße 1, 6900 Bregenz, Austria 
Overall Responsibility:
The Management Board of the Wolford AG
Investor Relations: Maresa Hoffmann, +43 5574 690 1258, investor@wolford.com, company.wolford.com
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To ensure readability, statements referring to he or she are intended to be gender neutral 
and are equally valid for both women and men.

The annual report (in German or English) can be ordered by phone at +43 5574 690 1258. 
It is also available on the Internet at company.wolford.com.

Disclaimer
The consolidated annual report of the Wolford Group has been drafted with the greatest possible care. All data have 
been carefully checked. Nevertheless, rounding, typesetting or printing errors cannot be excluded. This English version 
of the annual report has been prepared for information purposes only. Please note that only the German version of the 
report is official and legally binding. This annual report contains forward-looking statements which reflect the opinions 
and expectations of the Management Board and include risks and uncertainties that could have a significant impact on 
actual circumstances and thus actual results. For this reason, readers are cautioned against placing undue reliance on 
any forward-looking statements. Wolford AG is not obliged to publish any update of or revision to the forward-looking 
statements contained in this report unless otherwise specifically required to do so by law.
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